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Towards Outstanding

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare
NHS Trust 1s a leading provider of mental
health, social care, learning disability and
substance misuse services in the West
Midlands.

We are on an ambitious journey to deliver
our vision to be outstanding - in all we
do and how we do it.

We were delighted to have all of our
services rated this year by the CQC as
‘Good’ or ‘Outstanding’ - making us the
best rated mental health trust across
the whole of the Midlands and East of
England and third highest in the whole
country - only 1 of 3 with every service
rated at least Good and at least two
Outstanding.

This Annual Report explains what

we do and how we work, the major
improvements we've made this year, the
people who've delivered them, and our
ambitions and partnerships for the future.
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Towards Outstanding - at a glance

Our ambitious journey continues - to be outstanding in all we do and
how we do it. Here are some of the highlights of how we're doing.

Officially the best CQC rated
mental health trust across the
whole of the Midlands and East
of England, 1 of only 3 with every
service rated at least Good and at
least 2 Outstanding :

19th consecutive year of
achieving financial surplus
- making us one of the top
financial performers in the
region,

Every one of our
services rated as
either ‘Good’ or
‘Outsanding’

Al of our services have
heen rated as

“Good” or "Outstanding”

COC ireasthon Mapan 2010

4

Praised by our service users

for our commitment to .
partnership in involving them
in deciding our priorities and
making our appointments,

. Chosen by the CQC as a national
- mental health exemplar, with
. our Community CAMHS services
: highlighted in regional Report

NHS Staff Survey shows 91%

of staff believe the organisation
provides equal opportunities for
career progression or promotion

Fantastic record of winning
awards, nominations and
accolades throughout the year
from health, care and research
publications and organisations.

| Helping drive a new

: alliance of health and

i care providers to lead and

: transform NHS and council-
: led care services.
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Driving transformation
of services across
Staffordshire and Stoke-
on-Trent in leadership roles
. in the ‘Together We're
" @ Better” Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership

CAMHS Community
and Crisis Teams
transformed from
Requires Improvement
to every CQC domain
rated Good in just 2
years

New ‘Integrated Long Term
Condition Service' for people
with a long term physical health
condition launched by Healthy
Minds Stoke-on-Trent Improving
Access to Psychological
Therapies team

Proud to be the first Eree Tisow B
mental health trust in R AT i

the country to sign up to
the TUC Dying to Work
Charter s mEE B o

£ : Dementia diagnostic rate for
. people aged over 65 living in
" i Stoke-on-Trent is highest in the
& | West Midlands during the year
i covered by this Annual Report.

Rapid Assessment,
Interface and Discharge
(RAID) Team expanded
to provide a 24/7 service
¥ to meet mental health
= needs at Royal Stoke
Hospital

New mental health

and wellbeing strategy
launched in partnership
with schools across Stoke-
on-Trent.

. Launched the Tony Scott

. New Beginnings Garden -
: a pleasant and calm place
: for patients, visitors and

: staff to sit, contemplate,

. meet and enjoy peaceful
 surroundings.
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Among the very best

(PLACE) results

Launched the Combined
Nursing Badge to recognise
those Leading Change,
Adding Value through nurse
leadership and compassionate
care

Proud 1o be called a Keele
University Teaching Trust -

Keele

UNIVERSITY
TEACHING TRUST

to psychiatry training of any
medical school in England

Launched BAME staff network to
support staff and service users,
empowered to champion and deliver
change, supported by Yvonne
Coghill, NHS England Director of
Workforce Race Equality Standard at
NHS England.

performers in the country
in Patient Led Assessment :
of the Care Environment

Part of the award-winning
- Meir Partnership Care Hub
~ i - bringing together and co-

MR

with highest conversion rates

- Average length of stay
- for new learning

- disability admissions

- cut by 60%.

Biggest ever REACH staff awards,
recognising staff achievements
and contribution, with over 300

nominations from

_ fellow staff and
R E AC H service users.

*wwf'm e
= e

 ; &3 g

% ! locating health, social careand % N ,c””

¢ i community practitioners. %.d.?‘ A ﬂ;‘? .
5‘0‘ ,?

Accreditation secured

from the RCP Memory

Services National
Accreditation Programme - the

MSNAP

AL CREDTATION PROGRAMNE

premier and highly prestigious kite mark for quality
. of care in memory clinics
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Chair and Chief Executive’s statement

Welcome to our Annual Report for the year 2017-18.
And what a year it has been,

A year that saw our journey towards outstanding continue
and pick up pace significantly.

For the first time in the Trust's history - the CQC rated every
Combined Service as “"Good” or “Qutstanding”.

The results mean that Combined Healthcare is the best rated
mental health trust across the whole of the Midlands and
East of England and third highest in the whole country - 1

of only 3 with every core service rated at least Good and at
least two Outstanding.

To be able to continue to improve upon last year's fantastic
results - described by CQC at the time as the fastest
improving mental health trust in the country - has been
something quite remarkable. It is a tribute to the continuing
sheer determination, talent, dedication and ability of our
fantastic staff.

We are also delighted that the CQC rated our Community
CAMHS services as good and and our Adult Rehab services
as "Outstanding”.

But we are not complacent and we want our journey of
improvement to continue. We will be continuing our
quality strategy to deliver Safe, Personalised, Accessible
and Recovery focused services based on integrated locality
working across North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

These latest inspection results come on top of our
Community CAMHS Teamn being spotlighted in the latest
edition of the CQC regional publication highlighting great
practice and innovation. We are also proud that we have
been chosen by the CQC as a mental health exemplar and
will be delighted to share our journey of improvement with
other organisations.

A year that saw us further develop our leadership role
within the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent “Together
We're Better” sustainability and transformation partnership
(STP) - leading workstreams on System Leadership, Mental
Health and Digital, chairing the North Staffordshire and
leading the CQC Stoke-on-Trent system improvement plan.
Qur Director of Finance (DOF) is also the DOF for the STP
and our communications team have provided a manager to
support the STP,

A year when our staff and our teams won unprecedented
numbers of national, regional and professional awards and
accolades for their talent, delivery and service.

A year when we were proud to welcome national leaders
from across the healthcare, political and voluntary sectors
to our Trust - including becoming the first mental health
trust in England to host the regional meeting of the NHS
Executive, chaired by its Chief Executive Simon Stevens and
including the Nursing Director for England, Jane Cummings
and Medical Director for England, Sir Bruce Keogh.

Toward: oo
Outstl a » 9
We're on'\ * ¥
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A year when our vision for integrated health and care
transformation and innovation - based on Alliance Boards
like the North Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Alliance - was
adopted as the model to follow across Staffordshire and
Stoke-on-Trent. And when we began the transformation

of our own operations, directorates and teams, based upon
locality-based working.

A year when we delivered national and regional leading
results and outcomes, including during the year the best
IAPT recovery rates in England, the highest dementia
diagnosis rates in the West Midlands, a national leading
mental health and wellbeing strategy in partnership with
local schools, some of the best results in the country for
PLACE scores, and the highest conversion rates to psychiatry
training of any medical school in England.

A year when we developed new services and new facilities,
induding expanding our RAID service to become 24x7, a
new Integrated Long Term Condition Service for people with
long term physical health conditions - and completing the
build of a multi-million pound, state of the art Psychiatric
Intensive Care Unit.

All of this delivered against the backdrop of our 19th
consecutive year of achieving financial surplus - making us
one of the top financial performers in the region.

Caroline Donovan
Chief Executive

Partnerships are at the heart of what we do and how we do
it. Almost everything we deliver is done in partnership with
other health and care colleagues, with local government

or with the voluntary sector. We don’t just talk about
partnership, we make it happen.

At the heart of Combined Healthcare is its wonderful staff.
We are proud to employ the very best health and social care
staff A large part of our year has been spent developing
our programmes and strucutures for attracting, retaining,
developing and rewarding those who choose to spend their
working life with us. This has included recruiting some first
rate new appointments to our Executive Team.

We hope you enjoy reading this Annual Report. It really has
been a remarkable continuing journey towards outstanding.
But we're not stopping here. Our vision is to become
outstanding in all we do and how we do it.

David Rogers
Chair
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Towards Outstanding
The journey continues...

Combined Healthcare CQC Service Ratings
2015 2017

Adult Inpatient s Improveme

CAMHS Community

CAMHS Wards

Adult Community

Crisis

Community LD

LD Inpatient
Rehab

OP Community
OP Inpatient
Substance Misuse

Overall

The best CQC rated mental health

trust across the whole of the
Midlands and East of England
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About us

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust was established
in 1294 and provides mental health and learning disability care to
people predominantly living in the city of Stoke-on-Trent and in North
Staffordshire. The Trust is one of the main providers of mental health,
social care and learning disability services in the West Midlands.

We currently work from both hospital and community based premises,
operating from approximately 30 sites to approximately 464,000
people of all ages and diverse backgrounds in Stoke-on-Trent and
across North Staffordshire. Our main site is Harplands Hospital, which
opened in 2001 and provides the setting for mast of our inpatient
units.

We provide services to people with a wide range of mental health and
learning disability needs. Sometimes our service users need to spend
time in hospital, but much more often we are able to provide care in
community settings and in people’s own homes.

We also provide specialist mental health services such as child and
adolescent mental health services (CAMHS), substance misuse services
and psychological therapies, plus a range of clinical and non-clinical
services to support University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust
(UHNM),

The Trust has a range of formal and informal mechanisms in place to
facilitate effective working with key partners across the local economy.
These include participation in partnership boards which bring together
health, social care, independent and voluntary sector organisations in
the City of Stoke on Trent and the County of Staffordshire.

We wark with local doctors and other health and care professionals,
including the North Staffordshire GP Federation to help develop and
support exciting new initiatives like the North Staffordshire and Stoke-
on-Trent Alliance, as part of an overall strategy to transform the quality
and delivery of local care. The partners in the Alliance are:

e North Staffordshire GP Federation

» Staffordshire and Stoke-on -Trent Partnership NHS Trust

e North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust

* Stoke-on-Trent Healthwatch

e Stoke-on-Trent City Council

+ University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust

* North Staffordshire & Stoke-on-Trent ClinicalCommissioning Groups

* Vocare/SDUC

« Elected Voluntary Sector Representatives from Stoke-on-Trent,
Newcastle-under-Lyme and Staffordshire Moorlands

o \VVAST

* Keele University

We help drive improvements across the wider health and care
economy, through our leadership roles in the Staffordshire and Stoke-
on-Trent Sustainability and Transformation Plan - Together We're Better,

We work dosely with agencies that support people with mental
health problems, such as North Staffs Voice for Mental Health,
ADS, Approach, ASIST, Brighter Futures, Changes, EngAGE, North
Staffordshire Huntington’s Disease Association, North Staffs Mind,
North Staffs Carers Association, Reach and the Beth Johnson
Association.

The Trust has a team of around 1,277 average whole time equivalents
{WTE) staff.

In 2017718, for the 19th consecutive year, we achieved a financial
surplus - of £3.68m against an income of £85.1m.

In February 2018, we were delighed that the CQC rated every
Combined Service as “Good” or “"Outstanding”. The Trust's overall
rating is “Good, with a "Good” rating for the domains of Effective,
Caring, Responsive and Well-Led and "Requires Improvement” for
Safe.

The results mean that Combined Healthcare is the best rated mental
health trust across the whole of the Midlands and East of England and
third highest in the whole country - one of only three with every service
rated at least Good and at least two Qutstanding.

We look to involve our service users in everything we do, from
providing feedback about the services we provide, to helping shape our
priorities, 1o helping us find the right people to work for and with us.
This work is co-ordinated
by our Service User and
Carer Council.

Staffordshire
Moortands

Newcastle
‘under-
Lyme

Towards Outstanding - Our journey continues - Anhual Report 2017/18 11



Our vision, values, strategy and objectives

The Trust’s core purpose is to improve the mental health and wellbeing of our local population, some 464,000 people living across North
Staffardshire and Stoke-on-Trent. OQur strategic aim, as one of the main praviders of care, is to deliver an evidence-based model of care, which
is appropriate to our service user needs and focuses on wellbeing and on-going recavery. We strive to be recognised as a centre of excellence in
both integrated and specialist care, bringing innovative solutions to the services we deliver and the strategies we develop, embedding a culture
of continuous learning across our arganisation, and supporting and inspiring others.

This is reflected in our vision, values and objectives. These guide not only how we deliver our services on a day-to-day basis, but alse how we
support and develop our people and our own organisation, how we manage and develop our partnerships and relationships with our service
users, carers and families, as well as our external stakeholders across the local health and care economy.

Qur vision and values

Qur vision is “To be Outstanding” - in all we do and how we do it. We are on a continuing journey towards that vision that we call “Towards
Qutstanding”.

Our vision is underpinned by our SPAR guality priorities - to provide services that are safe, personalised, accessible and ' o, These
guide all we do and are the benchmark against which we judge how we perform.

In delivering those services - as well as in all of our working relationships with service users, carers, families, stakeholders and each other, we are
guided by our Proud to CARE values - to be compassionate, approachable, responsible and ¢

Our strategy

We plan for the next five years (longer-term direction of travel), two years (medium term priorities) and one
year (key activities within any given financial year).

Our five-year strategy informs and is informed by the pan-Staffordshire Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP).

We support the STP' objectives of:
e Focussed prevention
e Enhanced primary and community care
* Effective and efficient planned care
» Simplified urgent and emergency care
® Reduced cost of services.
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Our seven key objectives

We have developed seven key objectives that set an ambition for what
we want to achieve:

Enhance service user and carer involvement.

Provide the highest quality services

Create a learning culture to continually improve

Encourage, inspire and implement research and innovation

at all levels

Attract and inspire the best people to work here

Maximise and use our resources intelligently and efficiently

. Continually improve our partnership working

Ll e

~N oW

Key challenges and risks

The Trust has three risks with a residual score of 16 (impact 4 x
likelihood 4) as follows:

* There is a risk that the CIP scheme will under deliver for 2017/18
due to a shortfall in worked up CIP schemes compared to the
target of £3.2m. This could result in significant pressure on the
Trusts ability to deliver the 2017/18 control total, access to STF
funding and operating within the CRL/EFL,

e There is a risk that there is insufficient staff to
deliver appropriate care to patients because of
staffing vacancies and increased referrals. This
has a conseguence of potential failure to achieve
performance targets, inability to deliver service
user expectations and increased pressure upon
existing staff.

e There is & risk to the sustainability of New Care
Models due to insufficient capacity and capability
for change, particularly within the clinical and
operational teams with a consequence of not
fully contributing to the new care models and
therefore not realising the full potential of e
integration. i ot AN

iin @@
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Towards Outstanding
The journey continues...

Clinical nurse leadership -
Leading change, adding value
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How we provide care

Over the period covered by this Annual Report - April 2017 to March
2018 - six clinical directorates ensured the effective running of our
services.

Each directorate was led by a Clinical Director
who provides clinical leadership and a Head of

Directorate responsible for its management. “m:“'
Inpatient
These six directorates are: Directorate
* Adult Mental Health Inpatient Clinleal Diractor
» Adult Mental Health Community &
‘ Head of
* Substance Misuse e
* Neuro and Old Age Psychiatry
* Learning Disabilities Acute In-patiam
» Children and Young People P
Place of Safety
Over the next few pages, we set out details
of each of these directorates, its leadership, e
the services it provided and where and who is Florence Housa
eligible for each service. S

This Annual Report also sets out our plans to
move to a new locality-based structure during
2018-19.

The Annual Report for the financial year 2018-
19 will contain full details of the new structure.
In the meantime, information on the new
structures and services can be found via our
website a www.combined.nhs.uk.
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Adult Mental Health Inpatient
Clinical Director - Carol Sylvester
Head of Directorate - Natalie Larvin

The service provides care for adults aged between 18 and 65 who have
had an assessment which determines they need inpatient psychiatric
care. Patients are admitted on a voluntary basis or on a Section of the
Mental Health Act (1983) where this is deemed necessary.

The directorate covers Wards 1, 2 and 3 at Harplands Hospital and two
rehabilitation wards — Summers View and Florence House.

Ward 1 is a mixed sex ward that has 14 beds, Ward 2 is a male ward
with 22 beds and Ward 3 is a female ward with 22 beds. We have
completed construction on a hew purpose built Psychiatric Intensive
Care Unit (PICU) . The wards link into community-based services in the
Integrated Community Mental Health Resource Centres based across
Stoke-on-Trent and North Staffordshire.

Florence House is an eight-bed mixed gender rehabilitation unit for
those needing support to self-manage. Similarly to Summers View,

we measure progress but support is focussed more on accessing
community resources. Florence House works in close partnership with a
number of supported housing projects enabling people to leave within
12 months and has close links with our employment service, helping
people return to work.

Summers View is a 10-bed mixed gender unit offering intense
rehabilitation for people who have complex needs. The service offers
help for up to two years and is generally designed for people who have
needed low secure accommodation or specialised services in the past
and are seeking a less supported environment.

The team offers a multi-disciplinary approach, monitoring progress,
identifying change and setting goals. Service users have access to
occupational therapy and a psychologist who are integrated members
of the team. Both services enable people to move to less supportive
care, where appropriate, or increased support if their mental health
deteriorates.

Our staff work closely with the Access Team and the Acute Home
Treatment Team, as well as with other therapy teams based within the
hospital to support people in their recovery.

The Acute Home Treatment Team and staff from the community-
based teams visit the wards on a regular basis to assist people in their
discharge from hospital.

Home treatment is considered prior to inpatient care. With our
community teams, we ensure that patients who are admitted to
Harplands Hospital are returned home as soon as possible, supporting
the Trust’s recovery-focussed approach.

We also provide electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) treatment from our
ECT Clinic,

Our philosophy is to provide compassionate recovery-focussed care.,
We work closely with the Adult Mental Health Community Directorate
to ensure that patients are treated in the least restrictive environment
possible,
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Adult Mental Health Community
Clinical Director - Dr Dennis Okolo
Head of Directorate - Sam Mortimer

Our integrated health and social care Access Crisis and Home
Treatment Teamn operates 24/7 providing advice, assessment and
short-term support. It provides crisis support including an cut-of-
hours service to CAMHS, Community Mental Health Teams, Learning
Disability service and Older Peoples services and gatekeeps adult acute
inpatient beds. The Access Team is the Trust’ first point of contact and
offers an open referral system.

Our in-reach workers link inpatient care and community care,
supporting early facilitated discharge for service users by intensively
supporting them in their own environments, Four integrated
Community Mental Health Teams, two in Stoke-on-Trent and iwo in
North Staffordshire provide interventions for people with complex
health and social care needs and carers to promote recovery and social
inclusion in line with the requirements of the Care Act.

Our Criminal Justice Mental Health Team works with frontline police
officers to provide support to courts involving people with a mental
health issue. It promotes service user engagement with health,

social care and third sector services, assisting offending reduction.
The Growthpoint and Kniveden Partnership service offers training

in horticulture and practical skills, supporting people back into
employment by building confidence and self-esteem and promotes a
recovery-focussed approachthrough pottery and other craft work.

Our Stoke-on-Trent community day services provide a range of social
support groups, including women only and men-only groups, delivered
in partnership with Brighter Futures. The Mental Health Carers Team
delivers specialist assessments to carers with complex needs, and
support packages in partnership with Making Space, a weekly carers’
support group and Carers’ Hub. The Resettlement and Review Team
monitors and reviews people in funded-care placements in residential
and nursing homes. It provides supported accommodation on site in
collaboration with Brighter Futures in community settings.

We are network lead for partners in improving access to psychological
therapies in Stoke-on-Trent and North Staffordshire. Healthy Minds
provides evidenced-based treatments for people over 18 with mild to
moderate common mental health difficulties including anxiety and
depression. The service is provided in partnership with North Staffs
Mind and Changes. The North Staffordshire Wellbeing Service provides

psychological therapies for common mental health problems for people

living in North Staffs aged 16 and over,

The Parent and Baby Day Service specialises in early detection,
assessment and treatment of mental health issues associated with
pregnancy and up to the first year of childbirth. It also assists in the
management of pre-existing mental health difficulties through the
antenatal and postnatal period. It is open to mothers aged 16 and over
from 20 weeks before hirth and up to 12 months after birth,

The Early Intervention in Psychosis service offers assessment and
support for peaple who have been identified as developing a first
episode of psychosis, aiming to improve the life chances of those
affected. The Approved Mental Health Professionals and Best Interest
Assessor team carry out assessments under the Mental Health and
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards Acts on behalf of the City Council.

The Hillcrest service provides a drop in facility in collaboration with
Brighter Futures and a night service for those requiring support

and advice. The Hillcrest step down beds enable service users to be
discharged for an acute hospital bed, supported by health and social
care in a safe supported community setting.

Our High Volume Users Service assertively supports service users who
have such intensive and complex problems that they find themselves
as high users of the emergency services; our aim is o reduce the
dependency upon these services through support and education.

The Community Triage team works closely with the police to support
people who are in mental distress in a public place. The service
operates between the hours of 23.00hrs and 04.00hrs Qur Step On
service provides assistance and enablement to people on their journey
back into employment.
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Substance Misuse
Clinical Director - Dr Derrett Watts
Head of Directorate - Darren Bowyer

The directorate provides services in the local community and in hospital
for people wishing to recover from the misuse of alcohol and drugs.

The 14-bed Edward Myers inpatient unit provides specialist Tier 4
inpatient services for clients across the whole of Staffordshire and
Stoke-on-Trent, but also extends beyond aur traditional boundaries and
includes work for other areas including the Wirral, Wolverhampton,
Manchester and Telford. The Unit offers 24-hour residential
detoxification and stabilisation facilities for clients who are too complex
for treatment within the community setting. The service provided is
consultant-led with qualified medical and nursing staff specialising in
substance misuse.

The inpatient service continues to evolve the Furlong Court provision

in partnership with Brighter Futures to increase the number of direct
referrals, To improve efficiency service users commence their admission
at the Edward Myers Unit and are then transported to Furlong Court to
complete their detoxification. The service has continual support which
is provided by the Edward Myers medical and nursing team and has
24/7 on site support from the Brighter Futures Furlong team.

The unit also provides two further beds on the Edward Myers Unit
which provide the Intoxicated Observation Unit (IOU) facility. The IQU
was set up initially to accept intoxicated patients from A&E who are
not in need of their services but are too intoxicated to go home — 65%
of patients are now brought to 10U directly by the ambulance without
the need for patients to go to A&E. The service is offered 24/7.

The Directorate in Partnership with Addiction Dependency Solutions
(ADS), under the umbrella of One Recovery Staffordshire continues
to deliver Staffordshire-wide integrated community substance misuse
service. As a result of the 58% Better care funding cuts the service
has been significantly reduced with the loss of the partners Changes,
Brighter Futures and Arch from the original consortia delivery

model. The Directorate continues to deliver the clinical and specialist
prescribing element of the model with ADS delivering the case
management and psychosocial provision.

Substance misuse setvices continue to operate out of four access hubs
in Burton, Stafford, Leek and Newcastle-under-Lyme. In addition there
are outreach clinics in Tamworth, Cannock, Biddulph and Cheadle.

The clinical services offered are medically-assisted recovery, substitute
prescribing and stabilisation liaison clinics (e.g. for pregnant drug

use and liver disease), a hospital alcohol liaison team, detoxification
and relapse prevention, low-dose detoxification clinics, medication to
support recovery and abstinence and specialist Blood Barne Virus work
(BBV).

The Stoke Heath Prison Substance Misuse Team was formed when

we took over the clinical element of substance misuse services in

April 2014, We work in partnership with the Forward Trust (Formerly
Rehabilitation for Addicted Prisoners Trust) (RAPt), a leading provider
of intensive, abstinence-based drug and alcchol rehabilitation
programmes in UK prisons. Our tearn of five nurses, supported by the
medical team, provides the clinical element of the integrated service
and treats around 100 service users. The service has been instrumental
in the development of the ‘F Wing’ of the prison, which provides a
dedicated substance misuse treatment and recovery service.

From 1 June 2017 the Directorate alongside the Burton Addiction
Centre and Addaction took over the previously failed Lifeline Stoke-on-
Trent Community Drug and Alcohol Service contract. The initial transfer
took place in a remarkable four weeks from the initial point of contact
from the Stoke-on-Trent Commissioners to implementation.
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Learning Disability
Clinical Director - Matthew Johnson
Head of Directorate - Alastair Forrester

The directorate provides a range of services to adults and children
with a learning disability and complex needs. People with learning
disabilities have the same rights as all members of society and should
have the same hopes and expectations of a fulfilled, happy and
integrated life.

We create personalised care programmes for over-18s with a learning
disability or challenging needs which require specialist help. The

term ‘learning disability’ can be applied to a diverse range of mental
disabilities, some of which are accompanied by physical problems.
Typically, a person with learning disabilities finds it harder to
understand information and learn new skills, and may find it difficult to
cope independently.

We provide care and support to help each person live in their own
home, to be in control of their lives and engaged in their community.
Where this is not possible we offer excellent assessment and 24-hour
treatment support in the six-bedded Assessment and Treatment Unit,
where we design individual packages of care leading to discharge and
successful placements close to their homes.

Our community teams bring together community learning disability
nurses, psychiatrists, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, speech
and language therapists, clinical psychologists and other applied
psychelogical therapists. These teams work in partnership with local
authorities and other organisations to provide a range of care services
and therapies.

Our Primary Healthcare Facilitation and Acute Liaison Service work
closely with our local mainstream and specialist health services to
reduce the overall health inequalities experienced by people with
learning disabilities.

We provide learning disability Acute Liaison Services to the Royal Stoke
University Hospital. Our team supports the development of appropriate
admission and discharge pathways within the acute care setting to
improve quality and access for all individuals with a learning disability

Our inpatient settings offer services for people whose behaviour may
be too challenging for other residential and community services. Qur
specialist teams deliver exceptional care and we aim to discharge
people as early as possible, following thorough assessments which give
us all the information we need to create individual care packages.

Our Community Learning Disability Health Team is a multi-professional
community-based team supporting people with complex learning
disabilities, physical and mental health needs in their local community,
reducing the need for specialist placements or hospital admissions.
The Intensive Support Team provides service users, families and carers
with access 1o rapid response, intensive assessment, treatment and
support at times of ¢risis to reduce the need for admission to hospital.
The team also supports timely discharge from inpatient services.

The Assessment & Treatment Unit, located on the Harplands Hospital
site, provides short-term assessment and treatment of adults with a
learning disability and additional acute health needs such as a mental
health need, autism and epilepsy. All our services work collaboratively
with patients, family members, carers and other agencies to deliver
person-centred, recovery-focussed care.

The Specialist Children's Short Break Service at Dragon Square offers
residential short breaks, including day care, to children and young
people with a severe learning disability. The service is registered with
Ofsted as a children’s home that can support children with learning
disabilities, physical disabilities and sensory impairments. We are
also registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to provide
accommodation for people requiring nursing or personal care.

Covering North Staffordshire including Newcastle-under-Lyme,
Staffordshire Mcorlands and Stoke-on-Trent, the multidisciplinary
Children’s Community Learning Disability Heaith Team provides
specialist assessment and treatment interventions to children with a
diagnosed learning disability with associated complex health needs.
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Neuro and Cld Age Psychiatry (NOAP)
Clinical Director - Dr Darren Carr
Head of Directorate - Jane Munton-Davies

The services provided by the directorate are broad and varied, from
inpatient to community services, psychology to physictherapy and a
Rapid Assessment Interface and Discharge (RAID) team that is located
at Royal Stoke University Hospital.

We provide inpatient services at Harplands Hospital on Ward 4 (shared
care}, Ward 5 (Neuropsychiatry), Ward 6 (complex assessment} and
Ward 7 (functional assessment).

Our community services include Older Peoples’ Community Mental
Health Teams (City and County), Memory Clinics, the Dementia Primary
Care Liaison Team, Mental Health and Vascular Wellbeing Team,
Neuropsychiatry Community and Day Service, Neuropsychclogy and
Clinical Health Psychology Services, and Physiotherapy and Care Home
Physiotherapy.

The directorate continues to move through a pericd of significant
change and works closely with partner agencies across the local health
economy to support system wide transformation. Our recent Care
Quality Commission (CQC) inspection was a testarnent to the hard
work and dedication of our staff, with the inpatient and RAID services
achieving overall ratings of ‘Good” and our Community Older Pegples’
Services excelling to achieve the only 'Outstanding’ rating in the Trust.

The inpatient and RAID services have strong ambitions “Towards
Outstanding” with clear plans in place to achieve this within the next
12 months. For Community Clder Peoples” Services our ambitions
are "beyond outstanding” as we continue to develop innovative and
ground-breaking options for our service users.

Qver Winter 2017/18 the RAID service extended its hours to cover
24/7 and in January 2018 the service began to move forward towards
offering an "all-age” service. This transformation has been supported
through additional funding and new ways of working.

Across our inpatient wards we are proud 1o be the first mental health
trust to implement the SAFER patient flow bundle through the national
'red to green’ programme. This puts the patient at the centre of the
discharge planning process and aims to ensure every day on the ward
is a day of value to the patient. We report our red to green status an a
daily basis and have a strong escalation plan t¢ support the programme
delivery.

Ward 4 continues now operates as a shared care service utilising

a unique mix of physical and mental health staff to enable holistic
assessments of older patients from the Royal Stoke. In partnership with
an enhanced offer from the Older Person’s Outreach Team the ward
has played a significant role in managing winter pressures across the
health economy.

Our successful pilot of the Dementia Primary Care Liaison role paved
the way for this to be rolled out across Northern Staffordshire. Being
cognisant of the embryonic Care Hub development, our Dementia
Primary Care staff are being aligned to localities and, where possible
are looking to locate themselves within GP surgeries. This will
support the development of locality working as we embark on a
transformational development of our services, offering ageless and
response support on a geographical footprint. This work will require
cross-directorate collaboration, which is well under way.

Qur Care Home Physiotherapy pilot has also proved a success and has
been rolled out across North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent. This
initiative supports the falls reduction and admission avoidance agenda
whilst also enabling early discharges to local care homes.

Digital delivery is already well embedded within our Mental Health
and Vascular Wellbeing service, with NHS telehealth initiative Florence
('Flo") being well evaluated and utilised across the Trust as a whole.
Innovation through Combined’s new Raising our Service Excellence
(ROSE) electronic patient record system will support the delivery of our
cost improvement programme (CIP) target and lead to more efficient
and patient focussed clinic management.
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Children and Young People (CYP)
Clinical Director - Carol Sylvester
Head of Directorate - Helen MacMahon

The child and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) vision is for
all children and young people in North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-
Trent to enjoy good mental health and emotional wellbeing and be
able to achieve their ambitions and goals through being resilient and
confident.

We achieve this through partnership working with families,
professionals and services to promote good mental health through
a model of care based on prevention of poor mental health, early
detection, help when issues first arise and by having a range of
evidence based interventions for children and young people with
established or complex mental health problems.

We want our service users and families to be able to access the right
intervention, in the right place at the right time and with the right
outcome based on the best available practice.

The directorate’s Community CAMHS teams operate from three bases,
comprising of North Stoke, South Stoke and North Staffordshire
multi-disciplinary team. The directorate also provides specialist services
including a, specialist Eating disorder Service, a Looked after Children
team, Paediatric Psychology, Autistic Spectrum Disorder assessment,
Youth Offending, Central Referral Hub and Priority service.

The community services provide person-centred clinical assessment,
formulation, consultation and a range of therapeutic interventions in
collaboration with children and young people up to the age of 18 to
help them with a range of mental health problems, varying in severity
and complexity. The range of therapies include talking therapies, play
and art-based therapies, family therapy and medication. Interventions
are guided by evidence-based practice and the recommendations of
the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). There is
also a robust evidence-based group therapy programme across the
service, improving access to evidence-based group therapies.

The service offers support to parents and carers as part of the
collaborative care planning with children and young people and
through regular consultation and positive parenting groups. Staff
work with other agencies such as education and social care to ensure
the care offered is tailored to the individual needs of children, young
people and their families.

The service has an inpatient unit, the Darwin Centre, for children
and young people presenting with acute mental health problems
that cannot be managed within the community setting and require
inpatient specialist mental health services. The inpatient service
offers a comprehensive assessment and a range of person-centred
psychological therapies and approaches in line with NICE guidance.

Our staff are skilled multi-professional practitioners from many
different disciplines — psychiatrists, nurses, psychologists, occupational
therapists, mental health practitioners, play and parenting
practitioners, art therapists, social workers and trainees. These staff are
supported by a dedicated group of administrators.
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How we measure performance

Qur approach

The Trust’s performance management arrangements are underpinned
by comprehensive Trust Performance & Quality Monitoring Framework
(PQMF} which is a key driver towards providing outstanding

services. It provides the means to report, monitor, review and

imprave organisational performance and quality outcomes from

‘board to floor'. The PQMF includes national metrics set out in NHS
Improvement’s Single Oversight Frarework, contractual reporting
requirements for commissioners and internal Trust measures that align
with Trust goals and objectives. It enables granular reporting of weekly
and monthly dashboard reports to clinical teams and Trust committees,
with an overview maintained by the Trust Board. Each target is
overseen by a nominated Executive Director. Where performance or
quality metrics are not on target, clinical directorates and corporate
areas provide rectification plans, including trajectories for impravement
and action planning, for performance review by our Board Sub-
Committees.

Assurance

The PQMF is reported on a monthly basis to the Trust Board with
each of our three sub committees taking a lead on different aspects
of our performance; Finance and Performance Committee, Quality
Committee, People and Culture Development. These arrangements
provide robust assurance across the Trust and to commissioners and
regulators.

Clinical dashboards

Monthly clinical dashboards have been enhanced to provide better
visualisation of the most important performance measures and quality
indicators, thereby enabling trends to be more easily identified. Key
priorities are reviewed to ensure the most pressing indicators of
performance and guality are in focus. The review of individual clinical
teams’ compliance with CQC and Mental Health Act standards

also continued during the year, with results being used to drive
improvements in the quality of the services provided to patients.

Benchmarking

Local and national benchmarking information adds intelligence

and insight to performance management processes, enabling
directorate and corporate performance to be analysed and identifying
improvements in quality, productivity and efficiency. We are a key
member of the NHS Mental Health Benchmarking Reference Group.

Raising Qur Service Excellence (ROSE): Delivering an Electronic Patient
Record (EPR)

The Trust successfully delivered our new Electronic Patient Record,
described by NHS Digital as the best implementation of an EPR they
had ever seen. Following the implementation of Lorenzo in May 2017,
the Trust has delivered a high level of reporting and achievement of
performance standards.

Looking ahead

There are a number of opportunities to support the development
of the Trust’s performance strategy and performance management
framework in 2018/19:
1, Develop a new Board and committee teport measuring
improvement in our quality priorities
2. Realise the benefits from the implementation of our electronic
patient record through our Raising Qur Service Excellence (ROSE)
programme
3. Further enhance processes to improve data completeness and
achieve a measurahble improvement in our data quality score by
year end
4. Continue the development of a Business Intelligence approach,
using technologies to support dinicians in clinical decision making
and to drive quality improvement
5.Improve demand and capacity planning and management in the
clinical services
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How we performed

2017/18 was another positive year for the Trust financially, in spite of a
challenging NHS climate both regionally and nationally. The Trust was
successful in improving the quality of services and operational delivery
whilst ensuring financial sustainability.

We have achieved the following financial highlights in 2017/18;

19th consecutive year of financial balance

* Spent 96% of our allocated budget for Capital

Cash balance of £6.6m at the end of the financial year, which is in
excess of plan.

33% reduction in agency expenditure compared to 2016/17

The Trust achieved an overall surplus (Control Total) of £3.68m
against income of £85.1m, which includes £2.37m of Sustainability
and Transformation Funding (STF). STF funding is earned by Trusts
who meet their financial and performance requirements which for
us resulted in this additional cash payment which will help with our
capital investments in future years,

The strong financial performance is a testament to the dedication

of all of our employees, who work tirelessly to deliver outstanding
quality of care to our patients and service users, whilst continuing to
drive cost improvements, reducing reliance on temporary staffing and
successfully operating within budgetary responsibility.

The Finance Team have a strong clinical focus and are enthusiastic

to engage with the Trust’s services; nat only supporting the Trust to
deliver on its statutory duties, but continuously striving to innovate
and engage with the wider organisation. This was demonstrated with
the introduction of the Combined Valuemakers, which encourages
employees across the Trust to consider efficiency, eliminating waste
and adding value.

The scheme has been a huge success and we were delighted that
this was acknowledged by the Healthcare Financial Management
Association (HFMA) awards in December 2017 through the Havelock
Training award that recognises best practise in raising financial
awareness and training of non-finance professionals.

Raising financial awareness was a key theme for the team this financial
year and we look to build on the suite of animations that present

our sometimes complex financial information in a clear, transparent
and simple way. This has helped staff and service users to better
understand how we spend our money.

Qur commitment to developing high quality costing information
continued in 2017/18 and we remain one of only three mental
health trusts in England to develop and implement a full Patient Level
Information Costing Systern (PLICS). This has raised the profile of the
Trust as one of the leading innovators in Mental Health costing.

Through innovation, engagement with dinicians, hard work and
commitment, 2017/18 has been a really successful year for the Finance
Team. This has been recognised in a regional and national award, the
Great Place to Work Award and Havelock Training awards (see Awards
section)

Suzanne Robinson
Executive Director of Finance, Performance & Digital

Morth Stafforeshica

Cambined Heallheans
NH'- -I‘ .

I'm a Valuemaker!
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Quality

We are committed to providing the highest quality services. Qur aim
is for a continuous learning and improvement culture to ensure the
highest standards are at the heart of everything we do.

Quality Account

Details of how we deliver our quality objectives are contained in our
Quality Account, which is a report to the public we produce each year
about the quality of services we provide and demonstrates we have
processes in place to reqularly scrutinise all of our services.

Patients, carers, key partners and the general public use our Quality
Account to understand:
» What our organisation is doing well
* Where improvements in the quality of services we provide are
required
s What our priorities for improvement are for the coming year
* How we have involved service users, staff and others with an
interest in our organisation in determining these priorities for
improvement.

Our Quality Account for 2017/18 is available for download at
www.combined.nhs.uk.

Partnerships

We continue to be committed to providing high quality care for our
service users and carers. We feel this is only achievable by maintaining
our partnerships across the communities we serve.

During the year we have set out our plans to continue our journey

of improvement towards outstanding by moving to more integrated
services based on locality working across North Staffordshire and Stoke
on Trent.

We have been proud to support a the North Staffordshire and Stoke on

Trent Alliance — bringing together health and care providers including
mental health, primary care, community services, acute services, social
care and the voluntary sector.

We are also proud to play a leading role in the Together We're Better
Sustainability and Transtformation Parthership.

Involving service users’ views and experience in driving quality

Our clinical services deliver models of care and reflect the needs of our
service users and their experience of care. We achieve this by having
an on-going conversation with our service users and carers through a
variety of both formal and informal feedback mechanisms.

For example, our Open Space Event brought together over 50 of our
service users and carers to give us their views on how we prioritise the
specific approaches we take under our core quality SPAR priorities and
how we can expand the ways in which service users and carers can get
involved with the Trust, building on the excellent work to date of the
Service User and Carer Councils.
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CQUIN performance

The CQUIN payment framework is a national framework for
agreeing local quality improvement schemes and makes a proportion
of our total potential income from CCGs (2.5%) conditional on

the achievement of ambitious quality
improvernent goals and innovations agreed
between commissioner and provider with

active clinical engagement. The CQUIN EOULares FT:,":;‘I
framework is intended to reward genuine &)

ambition and stretch trusts, encouraging a
culture of continuous quality improvement

) ) Staff Health and Well-being;

in all providers. (Initiatives 1a, b & c) Improvernent of health and wellbeing of NHS ‘/ J
staff, healthy food and drink for NHS staff, visitors and patlents, and ——

The following table identifies the CQUIN improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for frontline clinical staff. s

dareas.

Physical health 3a & b; Cardiometabolic assessment and

treatmant for patients with psychoses / Collaboration with primary J J J
care cliniclans
R168,604

improving Services for People who Present at ALE: Supporting

paople with a mental health need to reduce A&E attendances J 7 /

£188,803

Transitions from CYPMHS to AMHS: Supporting young service users

as they move from children's to adult services, or back into primary J J J

care
J £188.803

Preventing Il Health by Risky behaviours: {Initiatives 9a, 9b, Oc, &d
and 9e)lmproving the identification of inpatients who smoke or who
drink above safe levels and ensuring that they receive appropriate /

interventions £183, 004

Towards Qutstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18 25



Care Quality Commission "Good’ rating

Summary Rating Table:
w
e (D

In February 2018 the CQC published their
findings from their unannounced and well led
inspections which took place within the Trust
throughout October 2017. We were delighted

“uli - to have received an improved rating from the
e ([ CCQ with every one of our services rated as
woer  (EEED ‘good’ or ‘outstanding. ’

The CQC confirmed that the Trust is the best
rated mental health trust across the whole of the Midlands and East of
England and the third highest in the whole country - one of only 3 with
every core service rated at least "good’ and at least two core service
rated as ‘outstanding.’

Our Community CAMHS team made a significant improvement with
every CQC domain now rated as ‘good.” Our Inpatient Rehabilitation
services have also obtained a significant achievement with both
Florence House and Summers View obtaining an overall rating of
‘outstanding.” They joined the Older Peoples’ Community Services who
also have an ‘outstanding’ rating.

The CQC results confirmed that the Trust’s journey of improvement -
labelled last year by the CQC as the fastest improving mental health
trust in the country - has continued. Amongst many compliments, the
CQC found:

« "The overall culture of the trust was very patient-centred. Staff
treated patients with dignity, respect and compassion and maost
experienced high morale and motivation for their work.”

s "There had been significant improvement in the reduction of
waiting lists in the child and adolescent mental health services
and the adult community mental health services since the last
CQC inspection. All teams were meeting the national waiting time
standards.”

 "We found staff to be dedicated, kind, caring and patient focused.
The local management and leadership of services were both
knowledgeable and visible. Staff we talked to during inspection
spoke highly of their managers and told us that a more positive and
open culture had continued to develop since our last inspection.”

* "We were particularly impressed by the level of care offered
to patients in the long stay and rehabilitation wards and the
community based mental health services for older people, bath of
which were rated Outstanding overall.”

To be able to cantinue to improve upon last year's results is something
quite remarkable and the Trust recognises that this is due to the
determination, talent, dedication and ability of all our staff,

Combined Healthcare CQC Service Ratings
2015

2017
Adult Inpatient

CAMHS Community
CAMHS Wards
Adult Community
Crisis

Community LD

LD Inpatient

Rehab

OP Community

OP Inpatient
Substance Misuse

Overall

Detailed Rating Table:
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The CQC highlighted several areas of 'Outstanding’ practice including:

* The Acute Inpatient wards’ cohesive and knowledgeable
multidisciplinary team and the instigation of the acute care pathway
ensured that a wide range of activities, therapies and interventions
were available to actively engage patients and carers, which
reduced the amount of time patients needed to stay in hospital.

* Rehabilitation Inpatient wards' introduction of a support time and
recovery worker who normally worked within a community team
to the wards has enhanced the community programme offered to
patients, This support started before admission and continued for a
short time after a patient was discharged.

* Adult Community Mental Health Services - The Early Intervention
Teamn had worked with patients to develop a specific dual diagnosis
pathway for patients who used drugs and alcohol and experienced
psychasis. They had developed a set of ‘change cards’ to assess
where patients were in the cycle of change so that they could
assess the most suitable interventions for patients.

* Spedialist CAMHS Community Services - the service recently
launched a new mental health and wellbeing strategy in schools
across Stoke on Trent.

* Inpatient Wards for Older People - The service manager had led on
a project to identify causes of delayed transfers of care from the
service alongside commissioners, local authority and NHS partners.
An action plan had been in put in place that had reduced the
numbers of patients delayed in their discharge. They had also linked
local actions into a broader local health and social care effort to
improve the care experience of alder adults throughout Stoke and
North Staffordshire.

The journey of improvement is to continue and is aligned with the
quality strategy to deliver Safe, Personalised, Accessible and Recovery
focused services based on integrated locality working across North
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

CQC Organisational Rating - Good

“The overalf culture of the trust was very patient-centred. Staff treated patients with dignity, respect and
compassion and most experienced high morale and motivation for their work”

CQC Inspection Report 2018

One of the areas of improvement that we have focused our intention
oh is the approach to medicines management for which the CQC
previously identified some issues under the Safe domain, in particular
the management of topical medicines and fridge temperature
maonitoring.

In addition to the Inspection results the Community CAMHS Team have
been spotlighted in the latest edition of the CQC regional publication,
highlighting great practice and innovation.

The Trust is also proud to have been chosen by the CQC as a national
mental health exemplar and is delighted to have the opportunity to
share our journey of improvement with other organisations.

All core setvices have improvement plans in place to address the
areas noted in the CQC reports and to improve even further. To date
significant progress has been made with many of the ‘must’ and
‘should’ do requirements being addressed and rated as ‘complete’
following a robust assurance process through our performance
management arrangements.
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Performance against our key performance indicators (KP1s)
Details of performance against our national and local KPls are outlined

below:

Infeclion control: cases of MRSA o 0

Qccurmance of any Never Evants 0 0

Admissions to adult faciites of patients under 16 0 0
yoars old

Care Programme Approach (CPAY. proportion of
discha from hespital followad up within 7

% of people with a firat episode of psychosis who
bagan treatment with a NICE recommended care
package within two waeks of referral

Improving Access o Peychological Therapies
(IAPT Ytalking therapies

a Proportion of people completing treatment
whp move to recovery (from IAPT minimum
data eat)

b. Waiting time to begin treatment from JAPT
minimum dataset
i) Within & weeks 75.0%
i)  Within 18 weeks

ICare Programma Approach (CFA). % of raviews
undertaken within 12 months
Acosss to healthcare for people with a learning
idisability

margancy readmigsions within 28 deys

of inpatients that Nave been gate kept by the crnisis
reeciution and home trestment taame

95.0% 96.1%

50.0% 57.1%

50.0% 70.8%

895%
100%

75%
100%

Number of paople saen for crisie acsesemente within 4
hours of refermsal

100%

ey

Performance against mental health national and local access and
waiting time standards

The Trust has performed well in many areas in 2017/18, improving
access to services:

e Children and Young People with an Eating Disorder - in 2017/18,
96.9% of patients received treatment within a maximum of four
weeks from first contact with a designated healthcare professional
for routine cases.

* 18 Week Referral to Treatment or Intervention - Service users have
the right to access treatment within a maximum of 18 weeks from
referral. During 2017/18 we have achieved 92.5% against the
target set of 32%.

» Memory Assessment - 100% of our patients have been assessed
within 12 weeks of referral to the Memory Assessment Service
against a target of 95%.

Areas for improvement on our journey towards outstanding
Delayed Transfers of Care

These relate to delays for patients who are ready to be discharged to
more appropriate accommodation when they no longer require acute
inpatient care. The national standard requires that no less than 7.5%
of the Trust’s bed utilisation should be due to delayed transfers of care.
Overall, for 2017/18 the Trust's rate for delayed transfers of care is
9.6% for the year, against a target of less than 7.5%.

The Trust has been an early adopter of the RED to GREEN approach in
mental Health. Developed by the Emergency Care Programme (ECIP), it
focuses on eliminating patient time wasted in the pathway (Red days)
and focussing on days which are of value to the patient (Green days.
The Trust reported performance under the target level in February and
March 2018 and will continue to focus on this as a priority area in
201819,
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Our awards

We enjoyed unprecedented success throughout 2017/18, winning a

number of top awards and being shortlisted for many others

2017 Positive Practice in
Mental Health Awards

Meir Partnership Care
Hub
WINNER - Menta! Health
and Social Care Award

In recognition of our excellent partnership work with
Stoke-on-Trent City Council in developing the Meir
Partnership Care Hub. The Hub has brought together and
co-located health, social care and community practitioners
10 provide support to the patients of five GP practices

in Meir, Both the Trust and local authority have brought

in existing partners to develop and focus third sector
provision around the locality, which is already making a
difference to peoples’ lives.

~

2017 Health Education
West Midlands Regional
Leadership Recognition
Awards

— Team
Outstanding Achievement:
Clinical Award

Healthy Minds Stoke-on-Trent is a consortium made up of
specialist mental healthcare providers - North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust, Changes and North
Staffs Mind.

The Healthy Minds Stoke-on-Trent improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT) service provides talking
therapies and self-help courses.

2017 Health Education West
Midlands Regional Leadership
Recognition Awards
Stephanie Woodall
WINNER - Leading for Service
Improvement & Innovation Award

For her work in leading the Healthy
Minds Stoke-on-Trent - a consortium
made up of speaalist mental healthcare providers - North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust, Changes

and North Staffs Mind.

The Healthy Minds Stoke-on-Trent improving access to
psychological therapies (JAPT) service provides talking
therapies and self-help courses.

»

2017 Healthcare People
Management Assoc.
Awards
Leading With Compassion
WINNER — Academi Wales

Award for Excellence in Organisational Development

5 (F1.2017

EAZELLENCT v 1R
t?.,,l‘.vsi F 1B x'll\\l

A scheme where staff, patients and carers are able to
recognise someone who they believe has demonstrated
compassion. The scheme was launched at Combined and
has been rolled cut across 11 NHS organisations in the
West Midlands. To date, more than 450 Trust staff have
been recognised in this way and received a personalised
badge and card.

-

~
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Our 2017/18 awards continued.

2017 Healthcare Financial Management
Association West Midlands Branch
Awards
Finance Team
WINNER - Great Place to Work

Awarded to trusts which
demonstrate best practice in team
and individual development, act on
feedback from service users and customers to enhance
team processes, as well as embracing change and
continuously looking to innovate through diffferent ways
of working

~\

2017 Festival of Learning
- Regional Tutor Award

For her exceptional achieverments

in adult education. The award
recognises those who have supported
tearners to go on and lead successful
and rewarding lives.

To become a support worker, Christine needed to re-train
and completed a Level 3 Community Mental Health Care
certificate. She also began to give advice and support to
fellow learners who had low confidence levels, helping
them achieve success.

2017 HSJ Awards
Julia Ford
FINALIST - Clinical Leader of the
Year

Julia was nominated for her
leadership of a new model of
care that improves mental health
and wellbeing, building resilience
and early interventions directly
within schools. By locating both herself and her CAMHS
colleagues in eight schools, Julia has helped to facilitate
collaborative working — engaging the whole school and
local community in change.

2017 HSJ Value in Healthcare
Awards
Learning Disabilities
Directorate
FINALIST — Community
Healthcare Service Redesign
Award
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Our 2017/18 awards continued...

d B 4 R
MRAINOLIASE F 2017 HSJ Value in Healthcare Com 2017 Kate Granger Awards for
HSJ @) Awards 2, Compassionate Care
Healthy Minds Leading with Compassion Scheme
jﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁmm FINALIST — Improving the value FINALIST — Organisation Award
h of Primary Care Service Award
FINALIST D A scheme where staff, patients and
Comb‘\“ carers are able to recognise someone
who they believe has demonstrated
compassion. The scheme was
launched at Combined and has been rolled out across 11
NHS organisations in the West Midlands. To date, more
than 450 Trust staff have been recognised in this way and
received a personalised badge and card.
\, y, \, w
é L
2017 Healthcare People 2017 Royal College
Management Association ,RCM An“ual of Midwifery Annual
Awards MIdWIfely Awards Midwifery Awards
One-stop specialist service
— Social Partnership 20'] 7 for women with substance
Forum Award and alcohol misuse

FINALIST - Lansinoh Award for Team of the Year

Feel Good Friday was set up

in October 2016 to enable
staff to receive information and advice on a range of
things airmed at enhancing health and wellbeing. As well
as getting cholesterol checks, for instance, attendees can
also speak to our Staff Support and Counselling Service,
staff side union reps and the diversity and inclusion tearn.

\. J
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Qur 2017/18 awards continued...

2017 Healthcare
Finance Management
Association
Finance Team
WINNER — Havelock

Training Award

The Havelock Award recognises a contribution to finance
skills development, best practice in the training of finance
staff or the raising of financial awareness among non-
finance staff. The judges said "The team’s engagement
outside the finance team with clinical colleagues, service
users and other stakeholders was impressive. Its approach
was holistic and dynamic and used multiple examples

of best practice from around the system, including
Future-Focused Finance and Finance Skills Development
networks.’
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Key achievements by directorate

Adult Mental Health Inpatient

Impravements in care within our acute inpatient wards

The directorate has been working to develop a new six-bed psychiatric
intensive care unit (PICU). This state of the art facility will be ready to
open once the staff team have been recruited.

A psychiatric intensive care unit will care for people at their most
unwell, it offers a higher ratio of staff to patients as well as enhanced
observations and therapeutic interventions.

Not having a local PICU has meant that when patients have required
this level of care they have been admitted to other parts of the country,
often several miles away from their friends and family.

Ward 1 has also had improvement work carried out as part of the
PICU development creating a shared gym for Ward 1 and PICU and an
additional garden that will be developed during the summer of 2018;
this will give service users improved access to outside areas with a new
patio area and garden space.

The place of safety has been moved to Ward 2 where the new facility
provides an improved room, shower are and office. There are plans to
eventually create a two-bed place of safety as part of a new urgent
care centre. This will ensure that there is bed available locally for
patients that are brought into hospital on a Section 136 of the Mental
Health Act.

Our Adult Rehab team were rated as Qutstanding by the CQC, having
been rated as Requires Improvement only 2 years previously.

Substance Misuse

On 1 June 2017 the Directorate alongside the Burton Addiction Centre
and Addaction took over the previously failed Lifeline Stoke-on-Trent
Community Drug and Alcohol Service contract. The initial transfer took
place in a remarkable four weeks from the initial point of contact from
the Stoke-on-Trent Commissioners to implementation.

Stoke Heath HMP continues 1o deliver an outstanding service working
alongside our partners the Forward Trust. The ongoing development
of the service and the high level of Substance Misuse expertise have
been rewarded by NHS England who have extended the Stoke Heath
Prison contract to the end of March 2019. The team in HM Prison
Stoke Heath successfully moved the substance misuse service to ‘F
wing’ within the prison. The implementation of the new concept

has provided a recovery wing for around 150 prisoners with a
substance misuse treatment and recovery focus that has impressed the
commissioners of the service,

Following a successful tender, the Edward Myers Unit is now a part of
the Manchester Inpatient framework which has resulted in admissions
from the Manchester area and surrounding Boroughs.

Additionally, through the focused business planning strategy of the
Ditectorate out of area clinical work has continued to flow into the unit
from East Cheshire, Wolverhampton, the Wirral and Shropshire.

One Recovery Staffordshire was hit with a devastating cut of 58% of
its total budget linked tc the Better Care initiative which commenced
on 1 April 2017. Despite the backdrop of these cuts, the Directorate
has delivered a service model that continues to provide a safe clinical
service with a strong overarching gavernance structure. The clinical
team continue to go above and beyond to ensure that the service users
across Staffordshire still receive a quality service.
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Adult Mental Health Community

Long Term Conditions in IAPT services

Both the wellbeing and healthy minds IAPT services are pilot sites for
the introduction of a long term conditions service supporting those
people within primary care with complex physical health needs.

Improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT) — Healthy Minds
The team have exceeded their key performance indicator (KPI) targets
for the last year and during the year were recognised as the best
performing IAPT service in the Country.

Meir Care Hub

The Access Team have and continue to work collaboratively with Stoke-
on-Trent Coty Council, health, social care and community practitioners
in the provision of a local care hub, redirecting referrals at an early
stage to promote resilience and prevent admission into mental health
services. The service was the winner of the 2017 Paositive Practice in
Mental Health Awards as well as finalist in the HSJ Value in Healthcare
Awards.

High Volume User pilot

The High Volume User pilot was set up to reduce the impact upon
attendances within Emergency Departments for a defined cohort of
people. The target of 30% was exceeded, with the team reducing
attendance by 47 %. The team was a finalist in the Health Service
Journal Awards.

The Step On service has been successful in achieving increased national
funding to deliver the employment service across Staffordshire.

Hillcrest Step down Beds

Four step down beds have been developed to reduce the impact upon
acute hospital beds by facilitating early discharge for service users by
providing supported accommodation for a time limited period. This
was originally a pilot however due to the success 1s now a fully funded
service,

Repatriation Team

The team has been further developed to provide intensive support and
coordination of care for those service users with complex needs who
are placed outside of the local area. The team have had some early
successes in bringing care closer to home.

Neuro and Old Age Psychiatry (NOAP)

We are proud to have achieved a rating of 'Outstanding” for our
community older peoples’ service following the Care Quality
Commission’s (CQC) mast recent inspection.

We are strengthening the interface between mental and physical
health as we have been commissioned to provide 15 beds on a ‘shared
care’ basis on Ward 4 at Harplands Hospital. This is an inclusive service
that is responsive to the holistic needs of our older population, working
in harmony with partner agencies.

Two of our wards for older people have been awarded with the
prestigious AIMS accreditation which indicates the high quality of
standards across our inpatient wards.

Qur responsive approach to the needs of the wider health economy is
demonstrated by the rapid implementation of a number of inftiatives
over the winter period.

Ward 4 extended its capacity to offer 4 beds as “surge capacity”
working hand in hand with an enhanced offer from the Older Person’s
Qutreach service who reduced the number of older patients with
mental health needs waiting for a service at the acute trust to over 20
in September 2017 te 5 in April 2018.

Our great strength in NOAP is a skilled, valued and resilient workforce.
We prided ourselves on achieving a overall engagement score of 3.9
(out of 5) in the 2017 NHS Staff Survey which reflects the value that
we place on our staff and their contribution.

Dementia diagnosis rates continue to he excellent across Northern
Staffordshire.. As of March 2018, the rate for people aged over 65
living in Stoke-on-Trent was 83.6%, while in North Staffordshire it
was 73.9%. Much of this was achieved because of the excellent
team working within our memory services. These services provide
assessment, diagnosis and treatment for peaple with a number of
conditions, induding dementia. We also have a team that works
closely with GPs to treat people living with dementia closer to home
and another team that supports people at high risk of developing the
condition.
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Learning Disabilities

During the past year, the Learning Disabilities Directorate have con-
tinued to support the delivery of the Staffordshire wide Transforming
Care Programme (TCP) in line with 'Building the Right Support’ (NHSE
2015), the national plan for the development of community provision
and the reduction of inpatient services for people with a learning disa-
bility.

Our Community Learning Disability Health Team, Intensive Support
Team and Assessment and Treatment Service have continued to sup-
port people to live with their local community and have successfully
reduced the reliance on hospital admissions. When people do require
a period of time away from home our average length of stay continues
to remain well below the national average for learning disability inpa-
tient services; this is testarment to the excellent collaboration between
our specialist health services, the local authority, the private sector and
the Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Groups.

During the past 12 months we have seen significant developments in
our Community Learning Disability Services, Our Primary Healthcare
Facilitation and Acute Liaison services are now well established within
Stoke-on-Trent, providing support with access to services and pathway
development acrass our local GP providers and into the Royal Stoke
University Hospital.

We have continued to develop our workforce to reflect our changing
care pathway. During 2017 we successfully recruited a Consultant
Nurse to support people whose behaviour presents the most significant
challenges. Furthermore, all of our clinically facing staff have undertak-
en specialist, British Institute of Learning Disabilities (BILD} accredited
positive behaviour support (PBS) training; delivered in-house by our
own accredited trainers.

We have continued to strengthen our community pathways through
the development of a dedicated Nurse Prescriber role; providing sen-
ior nursing support to our community team and providing additional
capacity for our outpatient clinics.

More recently we have recruited a Lead Forensic Liaison Nurse to
support the development of our community forensic services and the
repatriation of people from specialist commissioned placements.

Once again our learning disability services received a CQC rating of
good across all key lines of enquiry and towards the end of last year
we were pleased to have successfully registered of Children’s Specialist
Short Breaks Service with Ofsted.

Finally, we are again extremely proud that our Learning Disability Ser-
vices have been shortlisted for two National Awards from the Health
Service Journal, the ‘Patient Safety Award’ and the ‘Value Award" for
our work in successfully reducing the overreliance of medication within
an inpatient setting.
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Children and Young People

Key achievements for 2017- 2018 include:
« Achievement of good across all CQC domains
* CQC highlighted Combined CAMHS as exemplar of good practice.

“The improvements made in the twelve months between Inspections
is impressive. The service is proud to have implemented change while
improving staff morale and without an increase in complaints fram
children, young people and their families. This required strong and
effective leadership at all levels which was clearly demonstrated during
the Inspection.” {Care Quality Commissioners CQC, 2018)

With commissioning investment, the service has fully mobilised

the specialist community eating disorder teams. As result of this
development, 100% of children and young people are receiving
evidence based treatment within four weeks of referral for routine
cases; and one week for urgent cases, with the aim of young people
accessing effective treatment closer to home and reducing admission
to tier 4 services.

Schools developments:

The CAMHS in Schools team works with a range of schools to provide
mental health services and support and this wark has been nationally
recognised. The School’s team have been working closely with a
number of primary, special and independent schools in the city to
develop individual strategies to best suit their pupils. A new mental
health wellbeing strategy has been launched as part of an exciting
partnership between CAMHS and schools across Stoke-on-Trent. Julia
Ford, our CAMHS in Schools Team Leader was shortlisted as a finalist
in the Clinical Leader of the Year Award at this year's HS) Awards in
recognition of the preventative service model in schools.
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Financial review

2017/18 was another strong year for the Trust financial achieving
a control total surplus of £3.683m against income of £85.079m.
This was the 19th year the Trust has consecutively achieved

a surplus position and exceeding the legal requirements to
breakeven by delivering a surplus of 4.77%.

Of the surplus, £2.371m (65%) was earned through the

allocation of the Sustainability and Transformation Fund (STF),
which is given to providers who deliver or exceed their control

total. This can be used to support the purchase of buildings,

equipment and IT in future years.

This reflects the hard work and dedication from all of our staff
to ensure we deliver quality services in an efficient and effective

way. Good financial management is vital for the success of

the organisation and to deliver high quality care for our patients and

Service users.

201718 2016/17
£'000 £'000

Income 82,708 80,729
gll.:i:’ainabillty Transformation 2,371 1104
Income 85.079 81.683
Expenditure (79,372) | (79,398)
Operating Surplus 5,707 2,485
Net Finance Costs (1,842) (1,734)
Surplus for the Year 3,885 751
IFRIC 12 127
Impairment (190} 1,173
Pension Adjustment 8

Adjusted Retained Surplus 3,683 2,081

We are pleased to report that our financial results for the 2017/18
were better than our £1.4m plan by £2.283m (including £1.871m
Sustainability & Transformation Funding (STF) not included in the plan).
This is against the backdrop of a tightening of the public purse.

2017718 Incoma

@ Local Aulhorities

@ Edcucation and Training
Nan-pathart can paryitad to other Badies

& Chnkcal Commissioning Groups

@ Sustainabity and T fion Fund {STF)
@ Other
@ NH2 England

We received further investment during 2017/18 of £1.2m from NHS
Digital for the implementation of a new Electronic Patient Record,
which went live during May 2017.

In 2017/18 the Trust spent £2.995m on capital schemes across 4 main
areas;
* Maintaining the estate (back log maintenance)
* Improving and enhancing the environment for our staff and service
users
® Development of new facilities,
* Investment in Digital (Information Technology)

2018 will see the completion of the Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit
{PICU) build as the key strategic capital development for this financial
year and a huge asset for the population of North Staffordshire and
Stoke-on-Trent allowing patients to receive their care closer to home.

The Trust acknowledges that the coming years will be financially
challenging with further efficiency demands required. This is driven
by the need to improve quality and accessibility of our services whilst
maintaining financial balance. New efficiency programmes are being
developed to support this challenge.

Based on current performance and assessment of the external NHS
environment, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that

the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operation for the
fareseeable future. For this reason, we caontinue to adopt the gaing
concern basis in preparing the accounts.

The financial statements and accounts can be found in Section 3.
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Use of Resources

The Use of Resources framework is a series of metrics used to assess
NHS Trust and Foundation Trusts financial performance. The rating
represents the efficient use of resources and level of financial risk and
contributes to the overall governance rating of the organisation and
the level of autanomy the with which business is conducted. Trusts
with a level 4 are those with greatest financial risk requiring mandatory
intervention from regulators; compared with level 1 organisations
being of lowest financial risk and therefore given maximum autonomy.

Capital Service Cover Rating 2 2 1
Liguidity Ratio Rating 1 | 1
I&E Margin Raling 1 1 1
Variance From Control Total Rating 1 1 1
4 1 3

R _—__ = =7 -"‘if.— B _’z;‘ E; II—_’. ‘j'_'—'-_l

The Trust achieved a Use of Resources rating of 1 in March 2018,
which is the maximum score possible under this framework,

NHS Trusts are required to operate within a maximum ceiling for
Agency expenditure. In 2017/18, the Trust spent £2.65m against

the ceiling of £2.07m. Of the £0.58m overspend against the ceiling,
£0.79m related to the implementation of the new Electronic Patient
Record (EPR). The project required specialist expertise to be contracted
to ensure the safe deployment of this new system.
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Our digital strategy - Digital by Choice

We have continued the excellent work on our Digital by Choice
strategy. Our ambition is to become a Digital by Choice organisation
with a national reputation as a leader in the use of digital technology
1o improve setvices for the people who use them.

We believe being at the forefront of digital transformation within
the NHS will support us to deliver our vision to be an outstanding
organisation providing safe, personalised, accessible and recovery
focussed support and services every time.

It will enable us to deliver excellent care services, support people to
recover, aid colleagues across the organisation to work effectively and
lead to innovation in our healthcare services. Fundamentally, it will
change the way we design and deliver our services.

During the year we've progressed the strategy further, bringing in
expertise to support the delivery of our digital ambitions. The Digital by
Choice strategy is led by David Hewitt as our Chief Information Officer
and Dr Suvanthi Subbarayan as Chief Clinical Information Officer,

Raising our Service Excellence (ROSE)

2017/18 was a significant year in our ambition to be a Digital by
Choice arganisation. In May 2017 we successfully moved to a new
single clinical information system for our services enabling clinicians

to view patients’ medical records when and wherever they need them.
Our aim is to go much further than replicating paper records in an
electronic system. We want to use digital technology to transform the
way our organisation delivers services and the way service users receive
information.

The ROSE Project (Raising our Service Excellence) to support the
implementation is so called because we recognise this is more than just
a change of IT systems, but an opportunity to modernise the data we
collect and improve the feedback we gain from the frontline of clinical
services, this will result in improvements for safety, effectiveness and
efficiency and deliver a comprehensive review of reporting data from
clinical services.

Providing one electronic record, the system gives shared access to
clinicians across the organisation — enabling our professionals to be
completely informed, leading to better decisions and consistent higher
quality care as well as a better experience for patients with no need to
repeat information.

Lorenzo Digital Exemplar

The Trust has been successful in an expression of interest to become a
Lorenzo Digital Exemplar delivering a digital transformation programme
with the Children and Young People’s Directorate. We are currently
working with Lorenzo suppliers DXC and NHS Digital to develop a
business case and mobilisation plan to move towards implementation.

STP Integrated Care Record

Key to the delivery of our ambition of integrating mental health
services with physical health and social care is to ensure the digital
systems across providers are able to support this. Alongside the
upgrade to our internal EPR, we took a lead role in developing a digital
road map for Staffordshire. This is a key step towards achieving a
comprehensive care record for our staff, patients and service users to
ensure they receive the best care each time across the county.
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Our people

Building Capacity and Capability.

Buring the year our Board membership has been refreshed and further
enhanced with the appointment of a new Director of Workforce,
Organisational Development and Cornmunications, a Director of
Operations and a Non-Executive Director. A GP Associate Board member
continues to give strength and support to the Board from a primary care
perspective. The Chair of the Service User and Carer Council is also a full
member of the Board to help influence decisions made and ensure they
are service user focussed.

The Board has a wide range of experience and skills to provide effective
leadership. As part of our Board Development Programme we have
undertaken an independent well-led review in line with the NHSI Wel! Led
Framework, completed by the Advancing Quality Alliance {AQuA), whilst
the review alongside the CQC well Jed review gave confidence on the
quality of our leadership. We are also focussing on areas for development
and confinued improvement.

Qur continuous ¢ycle of board development acts as an opportunity

for ongoing organisational development. A core component of the
developrment programme is to ensure that all board members have a
focus of continual improvement in order to deliver the highest quality,
safe services for our community, within resources available. During
2017/18, the Trust strengthened its approach to Board Development,
participating in the Advancing Quality Alliance programme (AQuA) and
linking this through to leadership and quality development across the
wider Trust through the Leadership Academy. As part of a review of its
effectiveness, the Board undertook a full review of effectiveness alongside
AQUA against the NHSI well-led framework and CQC Key Lines of Enquiry
{KLOEs) in preparation for a full well-led review undertaken by the CQC in
October 2017.

Workforce

We employ 1,277 average whole time equivalents (WTE) substantive
staff, with the majority providing professional healthcare directly to our
service users. We also have an active staff bank which supports our
substantive workforce. We have recently strengthened cur Temporary
Staffing function to allow a greater provision and flexible model which is
more adaptive to service needs and removes wherever possible the need
for agency provision. This has resulted in our use of agency staff to fulfil
‘core’ operations as being one of the lowest rates of any NHS Trust.

We recognise that our workforce are our greatest asset and continue to
develop our staff and the culture within which they work, to enhance

our service user’s experience, improve performance and increase

staff engagement and morale.Our People and Culture Development
Committee meets six times a year and has a transformational approach to
the workforce agenda.

We focus on:
Cultural Development
Towards Qutstanding Engagement

We have been on a journey of staff engagement for 4 years, starting with
the introduction of Listening into Action (LiA) which was a Trust wide
approach to engagement, creating fantastic demonstrable results, LIA
was really successful at creating change through the engagement and
involvement of staff, service users and carers and helping to influence
staff engagement culture at an organisational level.

This saw the Trust improve its staff survey engagement scores from
being one of the lowest scoring Mental Health Trusts, to being in the top
guartile in 2017/18 and also recording average or above average in over
80% of the findings.

The introduction of Towards Cutstanding Engagement in April 2017
has enabled the Trust to take our next step in our engagement journey.
The approach is evidence-based, and has won multiple awards for its
implementation and success in numerous NHS organisations. It provides
us with the ability to measure and use diagnostics io gauge trends,
hotspots, carry out appreciative enquiry and target engagement activity
where it is going to have maost impact. It helps to influence and change
engagement culture at a team level.

By developing both organisational and team engagement cultures
through LiA and the recent introduction of Towards Outstanding
Engagement, we are priming the organisation for the next stage in our
journey, which will see the development and introduction of a Trust
approach to service improvement.

Improving team engagement, results in better performing teams,

which ultimately improves quality of care we provide to our service

users. Cohort 1 has been a major success in helping to improve staff
engagement with 12 of the 16 teams who took part increasing their
engagement scores. We have already seen changes to ways of working
and the start of culture change within teams, with most teams seeing
significant change at a time whereby the Trust average engagement score
and seen a slight dip.
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For those teams that have seen a slight decrease, despite lots of work
and effort to improve their team engagement, we will continue to
provide close support during this transition to seeing a positive impact on
team engagement. Cohort 2 of Towards Qutstanding Engagement will
commence later in the vear.

Health and Wellbeing

Fostering a positive culture that supports the health and wellbeing of our
waorkforce is of great importance. Significant progress has been made this
year by focusing on a variety of Health and Wellbeing initiatives for our
staff including the initiation of a Health and Wellbeing Steering Group
which has led to the development of a number of health and wellbeing
initiatives including healthy eating education, our winter flu fighter
campaign, the introduction of a Physio fast track setvice sessions and
Pilates sessions which staff are invited to attend.

Our Wellbeing Wednesday and Feel Good Friday initiative has continued
to be a great success and encompassed a wide variety of Health and
Wellbeing topics including Staff Counselling services, Occupational Health
surveillance checks, Staff Side advice and HR workshops. This initiative
has been extremely well received with many staff reporting taking
positive actions to improve their health and wellbeing. Such initiatives
demonstrate our continued commitment to supporting a healthy
workforce.

Leading with Compassion

This is a simple scheme whereby there is a central point (both electronic
and paper version) where staff, patients and carers are able to recognise
someone who they believe has demonstrated leading with compassion.
Every nominated person receives a Trust designed personalised badge and
card. We gather nominations and sort them into themes according to

the different ways in which compassion was shown. We have created an
NHS compassion website www.nhscompassion.org incorporating a video
which gives an overview of the scheme and some of the evidence behind
why it Is important,

Staff and patients have nominated staff across all clinical and non-clinical
areas resulting in 774 nominations from across the Trust.

Proactive stress management and resilience approach

Through our Staff Counselling and Support service, we provide a vast
range of services including preventative and responsive mechanisms

of support. In supporting increased resilience, the setvice works to
identify stress flash points and provide debrief sessions for staff following
incidents.

The continued roll out of the Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM)
Training supports our staff 1o recognise adverse reactions to traumatic
events and assess the need for defusing skills enable delegates to respond
effectively to staff/colleagues experiencing a traumatising incident.

Leadership and management development

Our People Management Programme is a modular scheme that develops
our managers and aspiring managers in multiple aspects of their
management competency. This programme has been extended to include
new subject areas to support our managers and aspiring managers

and now includes: Recruitment, Management of Change, Stress in

the Workplace, the power of Resilience, Introduction to Inclusion and
Unconscious Bias, Sickness and Managing Attendance, Disciplinary &
Grievance, Dignity at Work, Improving Performance, Annual Leave, PDR &
Talent Management, Towards Outstanding Engagement.

We have continued to work with our leaders through our Leadership
Academy with the programme of events focussing on key strategic
topics that are aligned to our Board Development Programme. Areas

of focus have been on Locality Working, Talent Management, Service
Improvement, Personal style and leading teams through change. We will
continue to strengthen this programme in the coming year.

Recruitment and Retention

Recruitment and retention continues to be a major focus for the Trust.
Along with many NHS Trusts due to a national workforce shortage,
Nursing and Medical recruitment remains an ongoing challenge. A
number of strategies have been adopted to support attracting potential
candidates including Apprenticeships, Return to Practice schemes, the
development of new roles, enhanced media campaigns and one stop
shop recruitment campaigns.

To further support the timely recruitment of our workforce the Trust
recently introduced an enhanced electronic appeointment system called
TRAC. Although in its early stages significant progress continues to made
to reduce the time taken to recruit new staff.
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To develop and retain our valuable workforce, we run a person centred
Performance Development Review (PDR) right across the Trust, whereby
every member of staff has a PDR conversation and plan for the coming
year. This commences its cycle in April and cascades through all the
directorates, to all staff members; these are regularly reviewed to
ensure encouragement and maotivation ¢ achieve the set goals and to
identify new goals that may arise during the year. Through this process
we identify the development needs of each of our staff aligned to the
business needs of our services going forward. The information gained
through these conversations identifies our education and development
needs, and enables us to be responsive in delivering the education and
opportunities we need to enhance our workforce and delivery capabilities.

Mentoring / Coaching / 360 Degree Appraisal

The Trust has introduced and begun to embed the Healthcare Leadership
Model into leadership training programmes and is using the associated
360 degree feedback tool to help managers and leaders to receive
feedback on their leadership strengths and development areas.

We are further developing our internal mentor resources to help grow
leadership capacity and capability and to support leaders at all stages

of their development. We are committed to encouraging our leaders at
all levels to participate in coaching conversations, utilising internal and
external coaches as appropriate to their role. This approach engages

our leaders in finding their own solutions to the issues they address and
offers a supportive hut challenging environment for them to think and
explore options available to them. There is currently a cohort of staft
undertaking a Level 5 coaching qualification to enable us to provide
internal coaching opportunities to our workforce to ensure that they
are supported in achieving their goals internally. We have also provided
educational opportunities for our managers and leaders to develop their
coaching skills through a Coach as Manager development programme.
Subsequently a coaching register will be developed as a trustwide
resource.

Learning Management

We have recently launched our new Learning Management System (LMS)
where every staff member has their own account. This enables our staff
to easily access and complete e learning and to book onto classes. The
LMS reminds people when they are due to complete regular education
sessions, advertises new opportunities directly to staff and delivers real
time reporting to all managers across the Trust. This has proved to be an
efficient and responsive system, driving up standards whilst allowing us to
launch a raft of education opportunities enhancing our preventative and
proactive capabilities. As a consequence we have seen month on month
improvements in mandatory education and staff accessing e -earning
development opportunites,

Apprenticeships and New Roles

We offer a range of apprenticeships and apprentice qualifications

at different levels to enhance skills with the Trust, support talent
management and draw maximum henefit from the funding available.

We understand our current staff qualification levels to further enhance
the skills of the workforce through apprentice qualifications and are
developing new roles and pathways to enable staff to progress their
career examples include the development of Assistant Practitioner,
Associate Nurse Roles and Apprentice Nurses. We are daing this by
working with partner organisations to maximise our buying potential with
Approved Training Providers.

Apprentice targets will be met by both recruiting new apprentices into
the organisation and developing our current workforce through CPD of
existing staff and discussions with our contractors. This is expected to be
in the region of 37 apprentices for 2017/18 and we are expecting the levy
payment to be circa £270,000 in the same period. Figures for 2018/19
will similarly be hased on headcount (2.3% of the workforce) and our pay
hill (levy calculation at 0.5% of cur pay bill).

Through the development of core role based competencies we will
enhance non-medical roles tailored to local need with appropriate local
supervision.

We acknowledge and reward staff through our annual Recognising
Excellence and Achievement in Combined Healthcare (REACH) Awards
and 'spotlight’ the efforts of an individual and a team at our public Trust
Board meetings.
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Our feel good Friday health and wellbeing initiative was shortlisted as
a finalist last year and further work has resulted in another shortlist this
year for the Social Partnership Forum Award for partnership working.
This initiative enables staff to receive information and advice on a
range of health and wellbeing aspects.

We won the National HPMA award sponsored by Academi Wales

for Excellence in Organisational Development for the Leading with
Compassion scheme whereby staff, patients and carets are able to
recognise someane who they believe has demonstrated compassion.
Our CEO's blog is read widely and strengthens openness and honesty
as part of our drive for authentic leadership. We have well-established
means of listening and responding to staff, including the appointment
of our Freedom 10 Speak up Guardian, and the Dear Caroline
initiative which provides all staff with access to our Chief Executive

to anonymously raise any issues, concerns, service suggestions and
compliments,

The National NHS Staff Survey provides us with an annual opportunity

both to monitor changes in what it feels like to work for the Trust over
time and to benchmark against other mental health trusts.

Research shows that trusts with stronger staff recommendation scores

are also found to have stronger outcomes in terms of quality of patient
care and experience.

Members of the Executive Team also visit teams on a monthly basis for
informal Q8A sessions, giving staff an opportunity to share in successes
in their services as well as discussing challenges with an executive. This
has proven to be a great way of developing two-way conversations
and empowering staff to raise issues of concern.

Professional Leadership

Building on the previous year’s work, the Director of Nursing and
Quality has led on strengthening the professional portfolio and raising
the profile for Nursing, AHPs and Social Work.

Each professional group has a professional network chaired by the
Director of Nursing and Quality which is Instrumental in developing the
professional strategy and underpinning work programmes.

During 2017/18, professional conferences were held for Nursing and
Social Workers and both had contributions from national speakers with
presentations from Trust staff and areas of best practice.

The AHP Network is in the process of organising a follow up
conference early in the financial year.
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Workforce, diversity and inclusion

2017718 has been an extremely important year for the Trust in terms
of advancing equality, diversity and inclusion within the organisation
and beyond with lots more work planned for the coming year with
a specific focus on improving the experience of working here for our
BAME staff and embedding the EQIA process.

Some of our key achievements for 2017- 2018 are listed below:

o April 2017: Trust appointed as an NHS Employers Diversity and
In¢lusion Partners Programme Diversity Champion

» May 2017: We held our first Trust LGBT (Lesbian, Gay, Bi and
Trans) Facus Groups for service users and staff facilitated by Abby
Crawford from Stonewall and were also presented with an award
from Deafvibe for the work of the Trust’s Deaf Awareness Group
in raising awareness, and developing access and experience for
service users who are deaf or hearing impaired

e May 2017: the Trust established links with the local Stoke Sikh
Gurdwara and was presented with an award at the Vaisakhi
celebrations. This has led to continued collaboration and
partnership working throughout the year

e June 2017: We held our highly acclaimed Staffordshire Symphony

of Hidden Voices inclusion conference that aimed to ‘show not tell

people what inclusion is through the power of personal stories

e July 2017: The Trust's Diversity and Inclusion Group were runners
up in the Trust REACH Awards for the Team of the Year Award

» August 2017: We held our first Trust BAME (Black, Asian and
Minority Ethnic) Focus Groups for service users and staff with
Yvonne Coghill, Programme Director from the NHS England
Workforce Race Equality Scheme (WRES)

* September 2017: Trust spirituality garden opened with daily access
for service users, carers, other visitors and staff — thanks to a
generaus grant of £12,000 from the Tesco Bags of Help fund.

e October 2017: We launched our Trust BAME Staff Network, led by
Cherelle Laryea, Trainee Clinical Psychologist and ‘Afternoon Tea
with the Director of Nursing’ sessions held for BAME staff

» November 2017: Trust Person-Centredness Framework
Development and Engagement Day held to co-produce the Trust’s
approach to person-centred care

o December 2017: Trust awarded £50,000 funding to deliver a
Staffordshire NHS BAME Leadership Programme {prograrmme will
be delivered in 2018-19)

e January 2018: Trust commended by the CQC for progress on
developing our approach to Diversity and Inclusion

e February 2018: Trust established links with Stoke Central Mosque
and agreement ta work in collaboration going forwards and
praised by the local Commissioning Support Unit (CSU} for the
work the Trust has done in developing diversity and inclusion

e March 2018: Trust awarded with an NHS Employers Diversity
and Inclusion Partners Programme Diversity Champion Award for
progress made on advancing equality through 2017-18 and Trust
shortlisted for the HMPA Social Partnership Award for its work on
advancing inclusion

A key development in 2017/18 has heen the continuing progress of
our Deaf Awareness project group in their ambition to greatly improve
the service and experience we offer to deaf and hearing impaired
service users and carers. The group has arranged for and supported

a number of Trust staff to undertake British Sign Language (BSL}
training, ranging from introductory level through to BSL level 3. All
staff attending the Trust induction are trained to say ‘Hello my name
is (name)’ using BSL and learn the finger spelling alphabet. In January
2017 we celebrated the signing of the British Deaf Association’s Deaf
Charter, backed by local organisations supporting the deaf community.
In signing the charter, we have committed to five pledges to better
support people in the local deaf community.

We are delighted to have also been nominated for an award by the
charity DEAFVibe for our work in this area. Additionally, we signed up
to the Pledge Stage of Disability Confident and will be developing our
performance in this area through 2018/19.

44 Towards Qutstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18



We have progressed our plans to recruit more apprentices, both

new to the Trust and from within our established workforce and will
substantially build on these foundations during 2017/18. Qur Service
Users into Employment Group has also supported a number of service
users into employment.

We have significantly developed the role of service user and carer
representatives throughout 2016/17 since introducing our Service
User and Carer Council. We committed to having a service user
representative in our recruitment pracesses and interviews as standard
practice and have also developed the number and diversity of service
users and carers on the council.

In 2017/18, we will take our work on diversity and inclusion to the next
level to:

* Deliver on our pledge to be a Disability Confident employer and
improve our standards of practice in employing and supporting
people with disabilities

s Deliver on our commitment to improve access and experience for
deaf service users, through the Deaf Charter

* Hold a focus group for service users, carers and staff on LGBT
expertence

* Hold a focus group for service users, carers and staff on black,
Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) experience

e Deliver training on a monthly basis to staff on LGB and trans
awareness

* Hold our first Inclusion Conference raising awareness addressing
issues from across the diversity and inclusion spectrum

* Work with other trusts on the NHS Employers Diversity and
Inclusion Partners Programme to push the boundaries of our work
in the Trust and to help shape national developments.
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Towards Outstanding
The journey continues...

Highest conversion rates to
psychiatry training of any
medical school in England
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Our partnerships

We could not achieve what we do without the active contribution and
support of a wide range of partners.

Partnership with service users has always been at the heart of our
philosophy of care; and partnership with other organisations is critical
to the delivery of our aims and objectives.

During 2017/18, we have been active members of Together We're
Better, the pan-Staffordshire Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP). We have participated in all of the workstreams and

have led three - mental health, digital, and organisational development

and system leadership. We have partners with whom we provide
services, including:

+ Addiction Dependency Solutions (ADS) and Brighter Futures for our

substance misuse services across Staffordshire

» Staffordshire Police for our criminal justice mental health services

* Brighter Futures for our rehabilitation and resettiement services

* Changes and North Staffs Mind for our Healthy Minds Stoke-on-
Trent psychological service

* Changes YP for our children and young people’s improving access
to psychological therapies (JAPT) services

* Staffordshire County Council and Stoke-on-Trent City Council for
Section 75 adult community mental health services

e The city council for the Meir Care Hub

* University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust for our Rapid
Assessment, Interface and Discharge (RAID) service.

We have partners with whom we co-produce and design setvices,
including our Service User and Carer Council and Youth Council. We
have partners upon whom we rely for facilities from which we provide
our services. We share facilities with a number of public and third
sector organisations within North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

We have partners with whom we do business. A major partner among
these is the North Staffordshire GP Federation. We have a Clinical
Partnership Board, which both monitors delivery of existing contracts
and explores further business opportunities.

Our partnership approach is demonstrated with the post of our Joint
Director of Strategy and Development.

We have partners with whom we ensure best practice through
teaching, training research and education. We are a Keele University
Teaching Hospital and have close ties with Staffordshire University,
Health Education West Midlands and the local Academic Health
Sciences Network. We expect to grow and develop our partnerships
in the coming years, particularly as we work with local providers to
establish the North Staffordshire & Stoke-on-Trent multispeciality
community provider (MCP).
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Our service users and carers

Our Service User and Carer Councll

The Service User and Carer Council (SUCC) have engaged with the
development of the Person Centredness Framework and we have
representation from service user and carer’s across a range of trust
business and activity; including interviewing new recruits, co-facilitating
a wide range of events, attending various committees including
People, Culture and Development, Quality, Finance and Performance
and Business Development. Additionally:

e The service user and engagement strategy has been refreshed in
partnership with the SUCC.

* We have ensured that there is a service user and carer
representative at the mental health sustainability and
transformation plans (STP) board.

e There is service user and carer representation on our trust
committees facilitated through the SUCC,

* Work has commenced in developing a network of peer support
workers and peer support worker strategy is being developed.

To support personal and social recovery we have progressed the
development of a well-being academy (recovery college) with plans
in place for a virtual and physical resource.

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)

We recognise the importance of our PALS service in being a key
source of information and feedback for the Trust and an early warning
system for emerging issues and concerns. We are pleased to report the
further strengthening of our approach to patient experience with the
appointment of a whole time PALS officer.

During 2017/18 there have been 344 contacts compared with the
previous year, when a total of 400 contacts were received. Themes
identified on analysis relate to access and waiting times, concerns
about customer care and signposting to other services, To ensure
that concerns raised are addressed and actioned by the right person
in a timely way, the Head of Directorate and Team Manager initially
respond to outline the action taken and to the satisfaction of the
individual concerned.

Compliments

Each year our staff receive compliments, thank you’s and much praise
from people they have cared for. Many patients want to write to
thank staff personally or to praise the service that they have received.
It gives staff a great boost when people take the trouble to pass on
their positive feedback We are pleased to report that compliments
received directly by the PALS service and via the Friends and Family Test
have increased from 244 in 2016/17 to 2,063 in 2017/18.

Complaints

The Trust is committed to providing service users, families or members
of the public with the opportunity to make a compliment, seek

advice, raise concerns or make a complaint about any of the services

it provides. We view all feedback, as valuable information about

how trust services and facilities are received and perceived. We will
continue to develop a culture that sees feedback and the learning from
complaints as opportunities to improve and develop services.

Our focus this year has been on strengthening our complaints
procedure to enhance the experience of those using the service
alongside ensuring timely and quality investigation and responses. An
improvement action plan shared with our external commissioners set
out our improvement journey. We have worked in partnership with
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Healthwatches and our Service User
and Carer Council to implement improvements through investigation
training, revised processes and improved oversight.

Overall, the Trust receives a very low number of complaints when
compared to NHS benchmarking data. This is because the Trust
focuses on atternpting to resolve concerns at a local informal level

1o enable prompt resolution. We have continued to implement a
number of initiatives to encourage and strengthen feedback. We

have refreshed our Listening Responding and Complaints materials,
maintained attendance at Service User and Carer Forums and provided
bespoke training on the importance of feedback to ensure continuous
improvement within our
clinical teams.
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Friends and Family Test

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is an important feedback tool that
supports the fundamental principle that people who use NHS services
should have the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience.

We are pleased to report a significant increase in FFT returns across
the Trust. In 2015 we were averaging 50 FFT returns per month. Qur
latest return, in March 2018 rate, was 436 returns. This is a result of
the positive impact of our efforts and importantly, a sense check of the
service user experiences of our services. The Q4 FFT report reflected
that 91% of people using our services would recommend us as a place
to receive care

Learning Lessons

The Trust's Learning Lessons framework has continued to be extremnely
well received by staff over the past year. Staff feedback from
participants in the monthly Learning Lessons session has continued to
be 100% positive with staff, generating ideas for future sessions, We
have welcomed partner agencies to speak at the sessions which has
given us opportunities to share learning across the health and public
sector economy,.

Safeguarding

The protection of our most vulnerable children and adults is a
fundamental responsibility of all public agencies, whether statutory,
non-statutory or from the third sector. We are committed to ensuring
that people who come into contact with our services are safeguarded
from abuse in line with local and national policy. In support of this, the
Safeguarding team work with staff to make the best possible decisions
around safeguarding. Staff are supported through access to training,
supervision and individual case guidance. The Trust also has a suite of
policies that cover all areas of safeguarding.

Safeguarding training is a mandatory requirement for all our staff.
We operate a rolling program that ensures access to the appropriate
level of safeguarding training as defined by the Royal College of

Paediatrics and Child Health Intercollegiate Document. Staff also access

multi-agency training which is coordinated by the local Safeguarding
Boards. Members of the Safeguarding team also deliver training

for the Safeguarding Boards. The Trust continues to participate in
Safeguarding Boards for adults and children in Stoke-on-Trent and
Staffordshire.

Prevent

Vulnerable people can be exploited and groomed into terrorism

which means it can be a safeguarding issue for our service users. As
healthcare staff we have a part to play in responding to terrorism and
keeping people safe. Members of the Safeguarding team sit at both
Channel Panels for local authorities and also attend the Stoke-on-Trent
Prevent Board.

The Department of Health is a key strategic partner in Prevent — part of
the government’s counter-terrorism strategy, CONTEST — as healthcare
prafessionals may meet and treat people who are vulnerable to being
drawn into terrorism. All Trust staff are required to complete WRAP
training and also receive annual updates.

1. Challenge the ideclogy that supports terrorism and those who
promote it.

2. Prevent vulnerable people fram being drawn into terrorism and
ensure that they are given appropriate advice and support.

Achievements

* Developed and delivered Level 3 training, achieving 72% training
level in the first year of delivery

* Developed a good practice guide for practitioners attending
MARAC meetings and working with people experiencing domestic
abuse

* Engaging with third sector partners to deliver professional domestic
abuse train

+ Developing networks and working with partner agencies ta deliver
appropriate support to people vulnerable 1o being drawn into
terrorism

* Delivered extra awareness training for adult safeguarding focussed
on inpatient staff.
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Research and development

During 2017/18 the Research and Development (R&D) team has
continued to contribute to NHS national research through the delivery
of high quality portfolio and commercial research.

During 2017/18 the Trust faced a significant challenge with regards

1o recruitment to NIHR portfolio studies; our initial recruitment target
was revised in month 5 and increased by over 200%. This challenge
inspired staff to consider innovative ways to respond meet the target.
We had a prize of hamper for the highest number of referrals received,
weekly communications to wider staff about research referrals. Our
final recruitment figure of participants in research approved by an
ethics committee is 110 and is in excess of our original target.

During the year we have developed and reviewed our research
recruitment strategies and agreed work plan for 2018/19 which will
impact significantly upon our performance during 2018/19.

We recognise that for many individuals research offers an opportunity
to take a more active role in care and make an active contribution

to the development of new knowledge while at the same time
experiencing an enhanced quality of care. We firmly believe that
service user involvement is crucial to high quality research, not just at
the point of implementing a protocol but all through the study design
process.

During 2017/18 we have engaged directly with groups of service
users and carers both within the trust and the local community. We
have received positive feedback from service users regarding their
experiences of being involved in research and are committed to
increasing the opportunities that our service users and carers have for
helping to shape the future of research within the trust.

The development of our research profile continues to be a Trust
ambition we are demonstrating a clear commitment to our aspiration
to encourage, inspire and implement research and innovation at all
levels, our strategy for how this will be taken forward over the next five
years has been well received and approved at board level.

Research engagement

Research offers many opportunities for clinical staff in terms of
personal and professional development and the enhancement of skills
and knowledge which leads to a higher standard of care delivery,
enhanced job satisfaction and, ultimately, to improved outcomes for
our service users. Within the Trust we have sought 1o extend the level
of engagement across the organisation.

The research forum continues to take place on a bi-monthly basis, we
have had a range of presentations on a variety of difterent subjects and
have a number of regular attendees.

We continue to utilise various approaches to keep staff informed of
our research activities including regular updates via Newsround and

a physical presences at various trust events. We have agreed a re-
branding and are in the process of developing a variety of promoticnal
materials and reviewing both our intranet page and our external facing
internet page in line with the communications development across the
trust as a whole,

Chaired by the medical director; our R&D Steering group is the forum
through which we progress our strategy and business, chaired by the
medical director we meet on a bi-monthly basis with membership
including directorate representatives, our service user representative as
well representation from the Clinical Research Network West Midlands.
We have reviewed the membership of the R&D Steering group and
have initiated work to look at the roles and expectations of the
directorate representatives.
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During 20317/18, the R&D team continued to support staff at
Combined who were undertaking research as part of a higher
educational qualification e.g. professional doctorate, masters etc.
23 students received support, with 13 completing the research
approvals process.

Of the 23, 20 were undertaking professional doctorates, and 3 were
undertaking a masters qualification.

The trend for support has almost doubled {from 13 to 23); this surge is
primarily to do with students who deferred, and the complete cohort
{professional doctorate in dinical psychology at Staffordshire and Keele
Universities) wishing to conduct their research at the Trust.

The Trust have now signed a memorandum of understanding with
Staffordshire University, and the R&D team hope to collaborate around
support for students and streamlining of research approvals processes
in the coming year.

Delivery of Clinical Trials of Medicinal Products {CTIMPS)

Developing our capacity and capability to deliver CTIMP studies is an
important aspect of our research development. Frequently complex
and resource intensive they require sites to consistently deliver research
of the highest standards. CTIMPS provide opportunities for our staff
to be at the forefront of the development of new treatments and also
provide service users increased choice and opportunities that might
not otherwise be available to them. Many CTIMPs are commercially
sponsored trials through which the trust is not only able to recover the
costs of implementing the study but also generate additional income
which can be re-invested to develop cur own research capacity and
capability. For 2017/18 the trust set a target to increase the income
generated through commercial research by 10%, we exceeded this
target achieving a total increase of 152%.

External Engagement

Our research endeavours should reflect the clinical landscape and,

just as the value of delivering clinical care in partnership across the
community is recognised as an essential requirement for service
development so too are our research partnerships. During 2017/18 we
worked to widen our engagement with our local community, other
NHS organisatians, academic institutes, voluntary agencies, commercial
companies, local authorities and even schools. During 2017/18

we have sought to build upon these links into formal agreements
most notably establishing a memorandum of understanding with
Staffordshire University.

Key achievements during 2017/18
BeAble App Developments

Moving forward in 2017/18, the Vascular Wellbeing Team and Bitlam
Ltd began prototype development for the BeAble App, working with
the R&D team, clinicians and patients. The BeAble App prototype
development and evaluation continues to progress into 2018/19, with
the BeAble project team currently scoping out how to progress this to
the next stage.

Neurodegenerative Active Partnership (NOGAP) developments

The NOGAP team were successful in securing a further one year's NIHR
CRN Strateqgic funding for 2017/18 for the Joint Dementia Research
Coordinator post, shared across both University Hospitals of North
Midlands and the Trust. During 2017/18 the NOGAP began to look as
to how the partnership can be extended into Primary Care and have
been working with Primary Care and the Clinical Research Network to
scope this further.
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Our estate

The Trust hosts an Estates Management Team which during 2017-

18 provided services to both the Trust and a neighbouring NHS
organisation in Northern Staffordshire. Key elements of the services
delivered for the Trust in 2017/18 were the continued implementation
of the estate development plan.

This included a project at Harplands Hospital to deliver:

*» The provision of a 6 bedded Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit (PICU)
including all associated assessment, treatment, nursing and social
areas and outdoor therapeutic gardens.

e The provision of a seclusion suite attached to the PICU

e The relocation of the Place of Safety onto Ward 2

e Reconfiguration of bathing/ shower facilities and social areas on
Ward 1 to accommodate the space required 1o develop the PICU
and to benefit from a shared kitchen facility for both wards

o Additional external space for Ward 1

Other significant schemes included:

» Refurbishment of the Lyme Brook reception area and
reconfiguration of the internal floor area to accommodate the
move of services from Bradwell Hospital into the unit

» Upgrade of security equipment at the Greenfields site reception

e Installation of emergency generator power connection facilitates
a1 the Darwin Centre and procurement of a mobile generator for
electrical resilience and business continuity

e Upgrade of the Trust Building Management System

¢ Upgrade of fire alarm systems at Groundwell Place and A&T Telford
» Feasibility studies and initial scoping woks for both the Urgent Care

Centre at Hazelhurst and A&T Telford schemes completed to time
and budget

The Backlog Maintenance Programime costs for 2016/17, identified
to bring estate assets that were below Condition B in terms of their
physical condition and/ or campliance with mandatory fire safety
requirements and statutory safety legislation up to Condition B was
£120,000.

Patient Led Assessment Care Environment 2016 (PLACE)

The Patient Led Assessment Care Environment {PLACE) for NSCHT
was completed in line with the target dates set by NHS Digital in the
following areas:

Harplands Hospital

¢ Darwin Centre

Florence House

A&T Summer View

Dragon Square

& o @

PLACE aims to promote the principles established by the NHS
Constitution that focus on areas that matter to patients, families and
carers:

» Putting patients first;

» Active feedback from the public, patients and staff;

» Adhering ta basics of quality care;

* Ensuring services are provided in a clean and safe environment that

is fit for purpose
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PLACE assesses a number of non-clinical aspects of the healthcare
premises identified as important by patients and the public.

® Cleanliness

s Food and Hydration

* Privacy, dignity and wellbeing

e Condition, appearance and maintenance

* Dementia: how well the needs of patients are met

* Disability: how well the needs of patients with a disability are met

All assessments were completed in accordance with the PLACE
guidelines and with a team of at least 50% representation from either
Healthwatch, North Staffs Voice for Mental Health, Disability Solutions,
Service User Care Council or Patient representatives an each team,
This year we had a total of 13 patient assessors engaged in the PLACE
assessments. We have been fortunate to use the same independent
validator on all of our assessments, this has proved to be invaluable
and dearly demonstrates our commitment to ensure consistency
across our organisation.

Trust’s overall score for 2016

e Cleanliness - 99.61%

* Food and Hydration - 97.19%

* Organisation Food - 93.02%

e Ward Food - 89.84%

* Privacy, Dignity and Well-Being - 96.33 %

» Condition, Appearance and Maintenance. - 98.78%
®* Dementia - 93.63%

e Disability - 97.24%

Cleanliness

The cleanliness scores which included hand hygiene and equipment
dleanliness were excellent. Dragon Square, Darwin Centre, Florence
House and Summers View each scored 100%.

Food and Hydration

The Food and Hydration scores are excellent. There are three areas
assessed in this domain.

* Food {which inciudes hydration)

e Organisation Food

* Ward Food

Harplands Hospital, Darwin Centre and Summers View each scored
100% in the ward food assessment.

Privacy and Dignity

The Privacy, Dignity and Wellbeing scores ranged between 93.75% at
Darwin Centre and 100% at A&T Unit. The lack of observation panels
with integrated blinds in all patient bedrooms at Dragon Square and
Darwin impacts on this domain.

Condition, Appearance and Maintenance

The Condition, Appearance and Maintenance scores were excellent

and demonstrate our commitment to maintain the areas with scores
ranging between 98.46% and 100%. Darwin Centre and Summers

View both scored 100%. This is a real credit to the Estates Team, PFI
partners and our Hospital Cleanliness Technician.

Dementia

This section was assessed on WD 4, WD 5, WD 6, WD 7, the Access
Team area and the Communal areas on the Harplands site, with an
overall Trust Score of 93.63% being achieved. This is a slight reduction
on last year's score and reflects the changes 10 the questions

Disability
As an organisation we have achieved a score of 97.24%. The scores

ranged between 96.44% at the Harplands and 100% achieved at
both Dragon Square and Summers View.
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Many favourable comments were received throughout the PLACE
Assessments by our Patient Representatives and Independent
Reviewer:-

Florence House - Well maintained building. Excellent staff who take
care of the clients and encourage independence i.e garden project and
social activity. The proposed scheme to paint the adjoining garden wall
with a mural depicting the seasons will greatly improve the outside
space.

The development of the garden increasing the size is a vast
improvement that has been made since last year’s inspection.

Food &
hydration

| Gleanfiness f

" PLACE 2017

Summers View —. All patients treated with dignity and respect,

A noted improvement on last year's inspection. The building inside
is clean, fresh and bright. Gardens and outside social areas are well
maintained, litter free and the clients take an interest in growing
plants, fruit i.e strawberries, tomatoes etc.

Darwin — The building work that has taken place over the last 12
months has vastly improved the facilities. The extended dining
areaflounge is a big improvement on last year facilities. Generally
very impressed with the building as a whole. The unit provides

a comfortable, pleasant environment which allows for sufficient
personal choice for privacy or participation.

Harplands Hospital- The building is
well cared for and well maintained
where patients are treated with
dignity and respect as individuals.

Condition,
appearance &
maintenance

R Excellent food service.
overall site score free and gardens are tended and
Dragon Square 100% ’ 96.55% 99.41% . colourful. .
Tranquil surroundings and excellent
art work. Approach to wards
A&T and Telford Unit 98.94 % 92.64% 100% a9 .40% - is welcoming and environment
IMproves year on year.
Darwin Centre 100% 96.96 % 83.75% 100% -
Florence House 100% 94.86 % 97.22% 99.45% -
Summers View 100% 95.32% 96.30% 100%
Trust overall score 99.61% 97.18 % 96.33% 98.78% 93.63%

B4/5 Dragon Square — Building clean and well maintained. Decoration
and artificial lighting improved since 2016. Modern artwork adds to
the décor and the ambiance of the building. Staff very amenable and
provided information when requested.

A & T Unit — Pleasantly decorated, calm environment. A lovely tidy site.

Only 3 clients on site at the time, but all were well supported by staff
and protected their privacy and dignity well. The team were made to
feel very welcome,

54 Towards Outstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18



Sustainability and climate

The Estates Departrent monitors overall use of utility consumption
and provides professional advice to support the Trust’s goal of actively
reducing its carbon footprint,

The Trust will continue to engage with partners across Staffordshire
via the Local Estates Forum work stream of the county-wide
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) in developing areas
of best practice, in reducing the carbon footprint and seeking group
procurement opportunities.

Through the capital programme, investment has been made in recent
years to support this goal — high efficiency boilers, VSD, low energy
lighting etc as well as through the successful pursuit of operational
system requirements at Harplands Hospital.

The Trust continues on its trajectory to achieve the 80% carbon
reduction by 2050. This is largely due the procurement of green
electricity through our central government procurement framework
and a focus on the reduction of energy usage. Improvements to the
Building Management System will help to identify and deliver energy
savings across the Trust estate.

An Organisation Median Report from the 2016/17 ERIC data shows
we are helow the median for carbon emissions per occupied floor area
with a value of 44.40kg/m? compared to a median for mental health of
86.08kg/m2.

B

': ' Sustaa:abiﬁty

Caroline Donovan
Chief Executive

e
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HOW WE ARE LED AND GOVERNED -
OUR ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT
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Our Board of Directors is the Trust's corporate decision-making body
which considers the key strategic and managerial issues facing the
organisation. It met eight times during the year and consists of the
Chair, executive directors including the Chief Executive and non-
executive directors. David Rogers is Chair of the Trust.

Gan Mahdea was appointed in October 2017 as a new non-executive
director, replacing Bridget Johnson. We substantively recruited Alex
Brett in December 2017 as a new Executive Director of Organisational
Development, Workforce and Communications, replacing Paul
Draycott. We also substantively recruited Jonathan O’Brien in March
2018 as Executive Director of Operations, following two interim
appointments.

David commenced his role as Chair on 1 April 2016
after joining the Trust as a non-executive director
in 2014. He worked as an accountant for 18
years and has spent the past 25 years working
as a non-executive chairman for a number of
companies assisting in the development of their
strategic policies. Over the last decade, he has
been increasingly involved in the public sector
formulating and chairing the Stoke and
Staffordshire Strategic Partnership, which
was charged with bringing together the
full range of public service providers and
the private and voluntary sectors across
the sub-region and generating aspirational
strategic longer term plans.

Tony is an experienced director from a
manufacturing environment, He worked
for JCB for 20 years in senior and executive
manag erial roles. As Director of JCB
Cabs Systems, he led the restructuring and
expansion of the business during a period of
unprecedented change and growth. Prior to

JCB's Groundcare division. Before joining JCB,
Tony had a long career with Aveling-Barford,
another large manufacturer of construction
equipment.

retiring in 2008, he was Managing Director of

Gan was born in Mauritius and moved to
the UK in 1997 ta study at the University of
Manchester before moving to London where
he qualified as a Chartered Accountant. In
2013 he farmed General & Medical
Accountants Limited. He also
supports a number of community
initiatives and local charities,
including the Macari Centre, which
provides assistance to people
experiencing homelessness

Patrick was, until May 2012, the Director of

Nursing at Lancashire Care NHS Foundation

Trust, one of the largest non-acute trusts

in the country. He is a Mental Health Act

Reviewer for the Care Quality Commission
and sits on mental health review tribunals
as a specialist lay member.

Joan was MP for Stoke-on-Trent North for 28
years, stepping down in 2015. During her
term in office, she was Shadow Transport
and Shadow Environment Minister and
Chair of the Environmental Audit Select

Committee for five years. She serves as
Chawr of the Aldersgate Group, an alliance
of leaders from business, politics and civil
society that drives action for a sustainable
economy, as well as Chair of Burslem
Regeneration Trust.
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Lorien Barber has worked for nearly 20 years in the
voluntary sector. For seven years, she served as
Director of North Staffs Users Group, the mental
health campaign group and voice of service users
locally. During that time, she was also elected as
Co-Chair of the local Mental Health Partnership
Board. More recently, she worked as Strategic
Liaison Manager, connecting local health, social
care and the voluntary sector at VAST, a charity
providing services and support to voluntary
and community groups, charities and social
enterprises in Stoke-on-Trent and Staffordshire.
She has also been appointed as Partnership
Manager at Macmillan to improve cancer support
across Staffordshire and the Black Country.

Caroline was appointed Chief Executive
of the Trust in September 2014. She had
held the position in an acting capacity
since Fehbruary 2014 and had previously
been Executive Director of Leadership and
Workforce. Prior to joining the Trust in
2008, Caroline served as Associate Director
of Workforce for NHS West Midlands. She
has been a registered general nurse for
over 30 years and has CIPD membership.

e I . .
g ,JI " Maria is an experienced registered nurse and
{ ® &' leader. She has held a number of operational
3 and clinical roles including professional lead
and services manager until her appointment
to Deputy/Associate Director of Nursing
and Therapies in 2004 in Cheshire and
Wirral Partnership NHS Trust. During this
time Matia extended her experience
corporately in leading a portfolio in
nursing, IPC, emergency planning,
education services development and
quality improvement.

In October 2015 Maria joint the Trust as Director of Nursing and
Quality taking a key role in taking forward continuous improvement
and contributing to the Trusts CQC improvement journey. Maria is a
member of the National Mental Health Nurse Directors Forum steering
group and represents the Midlands and East. As well as nursing she is
the professional lead in the Trust for AHPs and Social Workers.

Jonathan joined us from Mid Cheshire Hospitals
NHS Foundation Trust, where he was Director of
Operations since 2015. He has held respansibility
for operational delivery, performance
management and transformation
programmes. He has worked in senior
operational roles within the NHS for 14
% years, since jeining the NHS in 2004, He
1/ has held operational management posts
across acute hospital Trusts in Greater
Manchester and Cheshire, where he
has managed large medical and surgical

Directorates and Divisions. With a strong
academic background to complement his professional experience, he
holds a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from Manchester
Business School, an MSc in Healthcare Leadership and Management
from the University of Birmingham and a B5c in Business Studies from
Lancaster University Management School.
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Suzanne joined the Trust in March 2016 from The

senior level at a number of large acute providers
as well as commissioning organisations in the
North West of England with over 16 years
experience in the NHS. She has a passion for
finance skills development and improving the
visibility and understanding of finance across
the Trust, leading her teams to succeed in a
number of national finance awards.

Alex joined us from Shrewsbury and Telford
Hospital NHS Trust, where she was Deputy
Workforce Director. She has also worked in
a senior capacity in South Staffordshire and
Shropshire Healthcare NHS Foundation
Trust, NHS Stoke-on-Trent Primary Care
Trust, North Stoke Primary Care Trust
and Keele University.

Much of the work Alex has led
has involved managing and leading teams to become catalysts for
innovation and change in organisations, as facilitators and enablers.
She is used to working across partnerships and has worked significantly
with NHS and care organisations, including GP practices, across North
Staffordshire in a number of different roles. She is a qualified Coach

and Team Coach and was the Health Education West Midlands Coach
and Mentor of the Year 2016.

Christie NHS Foundation Trust having worked at a

Andrew was appointed as Joint Director of
Strategy and Development in March 2017. He
has led healthcare projects since the late
1990s with a combined value of over
£1bn. As a director at Birmingham
Children’s Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust, he held responsibility far strategic
planning, capital projects, fundraising,
partnerships, communications and media
management. His previous roles include
council member at Birmingham Chamber

Group and special advisor to UNICEF UK.

Buki was appointed to the role of Medical
Director in January 2012, She is a qualified
consultant in old age psychiatry and has
worked in the NHS since 1998, She leads the
dementia innovation programme for Health
Education West Midlands and is passionate
about streamlined care for older people and
the leadership roles clinicians can have in
making this happen. She is the lead for the
Mental Health Medical Directors’” Group
for the West Midlands and promotes the
principles for medical leadership to acquire
the required competence and skill to deliver
safe patient care.
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‘ In his role as GP Associate with the Trust, Dr

R ﬂ Tattum provides a valuable general practice and
. AeN primary care perspective to influence Board
N 4 decision making. He has served in this role
since 2011 and qualified as a GP in 1980.
Alongside his role with the Trust, Dr
Tattum is a long-standing GP at Baddeley
Green Surgery in Stoke-on-Trent,

Jenny joined the NHS in 1988. She has
previously worked as a Ward Domestic and
a Health Care Support Worker in learning
disabilities services. Jenny has been a trade union
representative for more than 25 years, first in the

and subsequently UNISON. Jenny has been Chair

of the Trust Staff Side trades unions for over a

decade, including the role of representative

to the Trust Board. Jenny is currently a West

Midlands delegate to UNISON's Health
Executive Committee which leads on NHS
negotiations and consultations at a
national level.

Confederation of Health Service Employees (COHSE)

Laurie joined the Trust in 2007 as Head of Clinical
&' Audit and Research having previously worked for the
. University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust as
Clinical Audit Manager. In September 2015, Laurie
was appointed to the new role of Associate Director
of Governance, covering a wide portfolio including
the role of Board Secretary.

Joe joined the Trust in December 2016 having
previously been Director of Communications at East
Leicestershire and Rutland CCG. He brings a wealth
of experience gleaned from over 20 years in NHS
and health communications at a senior level
from both a policy and a service perspective,
including the Department of Health, Cabinet
Office and 10 Downing Street, as well as
a wide range of NHS bodies, including
acute and community NHS trusts, NHS
Confederation, NHS Leadership Academy
and East Leicestershire and Rutland GP
Federation.
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In November 2007, the Trust Board requested that a formal register of
acceptance of the Code of Conduct and Code of Accountability in the
NHS be established.

All directors have provided a signed declaration of their acceptance of
the Code of Conduct and Code of Accountability in the NHS to the
Associate Director of Gavernance.

The Code of Conduct and Code of Accountability in the NHS can be
viewed at: http:/Awww.ntda.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/code-
of-conduct-and-accountability-for-nhs-boards.pdf.

We maintain a register of directors’ declared private interests which is
available on our website at http:/bit. ly/2qRQORd

All NHS organisations are expected to secure person identifiable data
related to both patients and staff and to safeguard data holding
systems and data flows. There have been no significant control issues
related to data lass or confidentiality breach during the year ending 31
March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and
accounts.

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this report
confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Board's auditors are unaware and each
director has taken all the steps that he/ she ought reasonably to have
taken as a director to make himself/ herself aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Board’s auditors are aware of that
information.

There were no events after the reporting period, commitments
or contingencies other than those already disclosed in the annual
accounts for the period ending 31 March 2017.
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We have a strong governance structure that matches those established
by many foundation trusts and brings together the key components of
behaviour and process.
Providing assurance to the Trust Board, the committee is responsible

We have seven Board committees, each of which is chaired by a non-  for the Investment Policy that deals with tenders, capital projects,
executive director and has clear terms of reference and duties which business cases and other matters related to the business development
are reviewed annually to ensure its effectiveness: of the organisation.

e Audit Committee

» Finance and Performance Committee

¢ Quality Committee

¢ Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee The committee is focussed on our staff and their development through
¢ Business Development Committee a mix of workforce metrics and sponsorship of innovation and staff
e People and Culture Development Committee engagement.

e Charitable Funds Committee

The committee ensures that charitable funds are managed in line with
The committee monitors and reviews the establishment and agreed policies on investment, fundraising and disbursement.
maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance, risk
management and internal control across clinical and non-clinical
activities.

The Finance and Performance Committee monitors the performance

and achievement of our finanadal plans, ensuring compliance with NHS

systerns and financial performance requirements.
Caroline Donovan
Chief Executive

The Quality Committee provides assurance to the Board cn the quality

and safety of healthcare provided by the Trust by developing and

reviewing the organisation’s Quality and Clinical Strategy and plans. It

reports and provides assurance to the Board through the monitoring 5 GCC\H 1LY,

of the organisation’s SPAR quality objectives of Safe, Personalised, . \c
Accessible and Recovery-focused care. The committee has responsibility s on Se‘.‘-

for the oversight of aperational and clinical risks that members of O‘utl ’

the committee consider pose a threat to the delivery and quality of

services. c o m mittee ’ n

L]
advisOT)
- " | | ber, .
This is a non-executive director only commitiee that determines the ' on
terms and conditions of employment for executive directors and very C Om m\ss‘ b

senior managers.
- ot 0t
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The Chief Executive of NHS Improvement has designated that the
Chief Executive should be the Accountable Officer to the Trust. The
relevant responsibilities of Accountable Officers are set out in the
Accountable Officers Memorandum issued by the Chief Executive of
NHS Improvement.

These include ensuring that:

* There are effective management systems in place to safeguard
public funds and assets and assist in the implementation of
corporate governance

* Value for money is achieved from the resources available to the
Trust

» The expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and conform to the authorities
which govern them

* Effective and sound financial management systems are in place

* Annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the
Secretary of State with the approval of the Treasury to give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the financial
year and the income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses
and cash flows for the year.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, | have properly discharged the
responsibilities set out in my letter of appointment as an Accountable
Officer.

I confirm that, as far as | am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the trust’s auditors are unaware, and | have taken
all the steps that | ought to have taken to make myself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the trust's auditors are
aware of that information.

| confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair,
balanced and understandable and that I take personal responsibility
for the Annual Report and Accounts and the judgments required for
determining that it is fair, balanced and understandable.

Caroline Donovan
Chief Executive
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The Directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006
to prepare accounts for each financial year. The Secretary of State, with
the approval of the Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of the income and
expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year.

In preparing those accounts, directors are required to:
» Apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the
Secretary of State with the approval of the Treasury
* Make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent
* State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
accounts.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Trust and to enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with reguirements outlined in the above mentioned direction of
the Secretary of State.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Trust and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they
have complied with the above requirements in preparing the accounts.

By order of the Board.

Caroline Donovan
Chief Executive
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As Accountable Officer, | have responsibility for maintaining a sound
system of internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS
trust’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public
funds and departmental assets for which | am personally responsible,
in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also
responsible for ensuring that the NHS trust is administered prudently
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and

effectively. | also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS

Trust Accountable Officer Memorandum.

This governance statement records the stewardship of the organisation

and forms part of the annual accounts as defined in chapter 1 of
the NHS manual for accounts. This document describes the Trust's
integrated governance, risk management and internal control

arrangements across the whole of the Trust’s activities, This document

reflects the Trust's current governance procedures and systems in

place which have been independently reviewed and developed further

throughaout the reporting period.

The performance of the Trust is monitored by NHS Improvement (NHSI)

up to 31 March 2018. The Trust’s performance is assessed by the

submission of data and by meetings between the NHSI and Trust staff.

The Trust has a range of formal and informal mechanisms in place to

facilitate effective working with key partners across the local economy.
These include participation in partnership boards which bring together

health, social care, independent and voluntary sector organisations in
the City of Stoke on Trent and the County of Staffordshire.

The Trust has an Integrated Business Plan 2015/16 — 2019/20. During
2017/18, the Trust Board led a process to review and reaffirm the
Trust's Vision, Quality Priorities, Values and Strategic Objectives. This
in turn informed a refresh of the second year of our existing Two Year
Plan, which we will deliver during 2018/19, and which has received

positive feedback from NHSI. The process to refresh the Plan has been

delivered from within each of the six Clinical Directorates,

The plan has been written during a year of real progress and
achievement for the Trust. In February after an extensive process - our
third detailed inspection in three years - the CQC rated Combined

Healthcare NHS Trust as a ‘Good’ organisation - with all of our services
rated as either ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. We have also been identified by

the CQC as an exemplar for our service improvement pragress.

Now, our "Towards Outstanding’ improvement programme is centred
on taking us on the next stage of our journey. This will encompass and
bring together everything that we do — our services, our people, our
leadership, our listening and engagement, our involvement of service
users and carers, our staff development and training. By bringing
everything together in one unified programme of improvement, we are
confident we will reach our aim.

During 2017/18 some key achievements include:

* At the time of ratings publication, rated by the CQC as the best
mental health trust across the whole of the Midlands and East of
England and third highest in the whole country - with every service
rated at least Good and at least two Outstanding

e 21 out of 28 categories in national NHS Staff Survey at average
or better than average, with 10 categories ranking better than
average

* First mental health trust in the country to sign up to the TUC Dying
to Work Charter,

* Hailed by CQC as a national exemplar in driving improvement for
mental health setvices - featured in CQC Report showcasing how
mental health trusts have led by example in raising standards.

® Finalist in no less than four 2018 HSJ Value Awards - including 2
out of only five finalists in mental health category

* Significant improvemnent in CAMHS waiting times - Two thirds of
children and young people are seen for a first assessment within
four weeks - no child waits more than 18 weeks. 97% of children
and young people receive treatment within 18 weeks

* Among the very best performers in the country in Patient Led
Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) results. Each of the
six Trust sites inspected achieved 100% perfect scores in one or
more areas,

* Trust's Finance team won the Great Place to Work Award at
the Healthcare Finance Management Association (HFMA) West
Midlands and Finance Team winners of Healthcare Financial
Management Association Havelock Training Award

* Finalist in HSJ Clinical Leader of the Year Award - nominated for
leadership of a new model of care that improves mental health and
wellbeing, building resilience and early interventions directly within
schools

* First mental health Trust in the country to host NHS Chief Executive
Simon Stevens and national NHS Executive Team Regional Meeting

* 19 consecutive years of financial balance

* Highest conversion rates to psychiatry training of any medical
school in England
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e Third highest mental health trust in England for staff engagement

s Proud to be able to be called a Keele University Teaching Trust

s Leading with Compassion recognition scheme shortlisted in the
Kate Granger Awards for Compassionate Care

» Hosted Yvonne Coghill OBE, NHS England Director of Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES) Implementation from NHS England,
to lead our first Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic Focus Group.

» Our learning disabilities services was a finalist in HSJ) Community
Healthcare Service Redesign Awards and Healthy Minds IAPT Team
shortlisted in the Improving the value of Primary Care Service
Award.

The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a
reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure 1o achieve
policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and
prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and
objectives of North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust, to
evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The systern of internal control has been in place in Nerth
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust for the year ended 31
March 2018 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and
accounts.

During the year we have again re-examined our governance
arrangements to ensure they are effective and we have assessed the
role of the Board and our committee structure and their effectiveness,
along with the flow of information to the committees and the Board:
e There are annual cycles of business for the Board and its
committees, which ensures that the Trust is closely monitoring
performance against national priorities
e Attendance is monitored and there is regular attendance at Board
and committee meetings
e There is continued, enhanced performance management reporiing
including performance rectification plans when targets go off track
¢ There is an effective Board Assurance Framework, which is the
systemn used by the Board to ensure that all strategic risks are
effectively managed and that the effectiveness of those controls has
been assured. The Board Assurance Framework is independently
audited on an annual basis and this year received an opinion of

‘substantial assurance.’

e All committees of the Board are chaired by a Non Executive Director
and committee terms of reference are reviewed and agreed
annually to ensure that they remain fit for purpose and there are no
gaps in business or unnecessary duplication.

A full committee effectiveness review was undertaken in
conjunction with AQUA — Advancing Quality Alliance in line with
the NHSI and CQC welk-led framewark

« Review of the timing and meetings of the Board and Committee
meetings with a new cycle of business and programme of meetings
in place for 2018/19,

* A robust Board Development Programme; aligned to strategic
objectives and delivered in partnership with AQUA, NHSE and NHSI

 Confirmation of compliance with condition FT4 under the NHS
Provider Licence

The board has revised and agreed its structure to support the delivery
of business, as outlined below:

3.1 The Audit Committee

The Audit Committee monitors and reviews the establishment and
maintenance of an effective system of integrated governance and
internal control across both dinical and non clinical activities, which
support the achievement of the organisation’s objectives. Membership
of this committee comprises all Non-Executive Directors of the Trust
Board with the Director of Finance, Performance and Digital, Associate
Director of Governance, internal and external auditors in attendance to
support the meeting. This committee met five times in accordance with
its terms of reference and all meetings were quorate.

3.2 The Finance Performance and Digital Committee

The Finance, Performance & Digital Cammittee are responsible for
oversight and scrutiny of the Trusts financial performance, operational
performance and implementation of the Trust digital strategy,

taking action where necessary and making recommendations 1o

the Trust Board. Qversight of the Digital function was added to the
responsibilities in September 2017.

The Finance, Performance & Digital Committee also performs a risk
management function in relation to any financial, digital or operational
performance risks which may impact on the trusts ability to deliver its
strategic objectives.
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The Finance, Performance & Digital Committee met monthly and

all meetings were quorate. Membership of the meeting is made up

of Non-Executive Directors, Executive Directors, Deputy Director of
Finance, Associate Director of Performance, Chief Information Officer
and other operational managers required to attend to present or dlarify
any aspects of business activity or financial management,

The committee oversees and monitors performance at a strategic
level, in particular monitoring performance against local as well as the
national priorities set out in the Single Oversight Framework and the
NHS Standard Contract covering for example indicators concerning
referral to treatment within waiting times, access and quality metrics.

3.3 The Quality Committee

The Committee met six times in accordance with its Terms of Reference
and all meetings were guorate. Membership of the Committee is
made up of Non-Executive Directors, one of which acts as Chair,
Executive Directors and Clinical Directors are in attendance to

ensure opportunity is given for discussion in respect to Directorate
performance, examples include, incidents, complaints, risks and sharing
learning outcomes.

The Committee has responsibility for the oversight of service user and
carer engagement patient safety, clinical effectiveness and overview

of clinical risk. The Committee receives a report on quality impact
assessment and related cost improvement schemes to ensure that none
of the proposed schemes negatively impact on the quality of services
provided.

The Committee also receives reports on “never events”, “serious
incidents”, and explanations of any follow up action.

During the year members considered the Committee’s effectiveness
which included reducing the number of reports submitted and
structure of the meeting. Reports are aligned to the Trust's quality
objectives giving assurance sought by the Committee. There will be a
turther effectiveness review during 2018/19 and further adjustments
made as required.

3.4 People and Cultural Development Committee

The principal aim of the committee is to provide advice and assurance
to the Board on cultural development, workforce performance, and the
achievement of the workforce strategies, including staff engagement
enabling strategies and management of the associated risks. An
internal and external review {(undertaken by the committee and AQUA)
of the effectiveness of the committee was undertaken during the

year 1o ensure that this established commitiee was meeting its terms
of reference and that it continues to obtain the requisite assurances

it requires. This has led to some developments and continues to be
reviewed on an ongoing basis.

This committee meets bi-monthly and all meetings were quorate.
There is a close working relationship with the Quality Committee

and during the year the cycles of business for each committee were
reviewed to ensure that there was no unnecessary duplication or gaps
in business acrass these two committees. The membership comprises
Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors with Associate/Deputy
Directors from Workforce, OD, Communications, Heads of Directorates
{as required), as well as staff side representatives in attendance.

3.5 The Business Development Committee

The Business Development Committee, on behalf of the board, aligns
the strategic intentions with business decisions for the organisation.
The committee leads on responding to the external health and social
care environment, and provides recommendations to the board on
risks and opportunities. The committee ensures that lessons are leant
from both successful and unsuccessful bids for new contracts and that
this learning is reflected into future bids to maximise the chances of
SUCCeSS.

The committee has oversight of the Trusts 5 year plan and the 1 and 2
year operating plans developed by the directorates to describe service
developments, finance and delivery models.

The committee provides assurance to Trust Board that its capital
investments are in line with the Trust 5 year plan and undertakes due
diligence on investment proposals. Progress on key capital investment
schemes is reviewed for assurance that they are being delivered to the
agreed time, scope and cost parameters of each project.

The committee ensures the effective integration of services with health,
social and 3rd sector partners, ensuring the organisation develops and
maintains partnerships to deliver the integrated business plan. Key to
this are the progress updates received for the North Staffordshire and
Stoke on Trent Alliance and primary care integration activity received by
the committee,
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The committee reviews risks associated with high risk investments
and provides the Trust Board with assurance of due diligence and

risk management. It also reviews the Trust risk register and ensures it
reflects the agreed risk profile of the Trust ensuring that risk identified
and manged effectively.

The Committee meets bi-monthly and is chaired by a Non-Executive
Director with membership comprising one other Non-Executive,
Director of Strategy and Development, Director of Finance, Director of
Operations and Medical Director.

3.6 The Charitable Funds Management and Scrutiny Committee
Combined Healthcare has administered Charitable Funds since its
creation on 1 April 1994, This committee ensures that the charitable
funds are managed in line with agreed policies on investment,
disbursement and fund raising. The Trust Board of North Staffordshire
Combined Heatthcare NHS Trust serves as the agent of the Corporate
Trustee in the administration of funds held by the Trust and those of
Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent Partnership NHS Trust (SSoTP). This
committee met once during the year and membership is made up of
Non-Executive Directors as well as the Director of Finance, Performance
& Digital and nominated representative from SSoTP.

3.7 Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee

This committee is responsible for determining the remuneration and
condition of service of Executive Directors ensuring that these people
properly support objectives of the Trust, represent value for money and
comply with statutory and NHS/DH requirements. Meetings as well as
virtual meetings have heen arranged as required during the course of
the year. The Chairman acts as the Chair of this committee which is
attended by Non Executive Directors and supported by the Associate
Director of Governance. The Chief Executive and Director Workforce,
Organisational Development and Communications are in attendance.
During 2017/18, the committee’s cycle of business and Terms of
Reference were reviewed and updated.

3.8 Senior Leadership Team (Risk)

The group, chaired by the Chief Executive comprises the Executive
team and Clinical Directors as members which allows the opportunity
to consider any emerging risks and existing risks from the directorate
operational risk registers and the Trust corporate risk register. Through
a review of the directorate and trust-wide risk registers, the Trust is
able to identify cross cutting themes and offer support and challenge
as to the mitigations in place making recommendations on risks to be
re-scored {escalated or de-escalated).

The group takes a forward look at key risks and how they may impact
on the delivery of strategic objectives as well as a retrospective review.
The group meets monthly and has a two way reporting arrangement

with each sub-committee of the board and its respective areas of risk.

3.9 Effectiveness Review

During the year our Board membership has been refreshed and further
enhanced with the appointment of a new Director of Workforce,
Organisational Development and Communications, Director of
Operations and Non-Executive Director. A GP Associate Board member
continues to give strength and support to the Board from a primary
care perspective. The Chair of the Service User and Carer Council is
also a full member of the Board to help influence decisions made and
ensure they are service user focussed.

The Board has a wide range of experience and skills to provide effective
leadership. As part of our Board Development Programme we have
undertaken a Board skills assessment and are currently reviewing the
findings noting areas of strength and where there may be potential
gaps in skill,

The Board continues to receive timely updates on the key issues

arising from each committee meeting from the relevant Chait, such as
incidents, complaints, learning from the national inquiries etc. This is
also supported by a written summary of the key items discussed by the
committee and decisions made. Board members also have access to all
papers and minutes of those meetings, as required.

Qur continuous cycle of board development acts as an opportunity

for ongoing organisational development. A core component of the
development programme is to ensure that all board members have a
focus of continual improvement in order to deliver the highest quality,
safe services for our community, within resources available. During
2017/18, the Trust strengthened its approach to Board Development,
participating in the Advancing Quality Alliance programme (AQuA) and
linking this through to leadership and quality development across the
wider Trust through the Leadership Academy.

As part of a review of its effectiveness, the Board undertook a full
review of effectiveness alongside AQUA against the NHSI well-led
framework and CQC Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs) in preparation for a
full well-led review undertaken by the CQC in October 2017,
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The AQUA review comprised a Board self-assessment against the eight
KLOEs, observations of all committees and the Board and interviews /
focus groups with key staff. Key findings were as follows:

KLOE 1 Leadership, Capacity and Capability

The Beard's current composition demonstrates a good balance of skills,
experience, and knowledge. A more structured Board development
programme driven by Board development objectives should be
progressed. In addition, a more formalised skills assessment would be
beneficial.

The transformation agenda is rightly recognised as a major challenge.

KLOE 2 Trust Vision and Strategy

The strategic intent is collectively and individually held at Board level.
The principles of working with other organisations to achieve wider
system goals underpin that strategic intent. Vision and values are
consistently articulated and understood at the most senior levels and
are evident in observed behaviours at the Board. There is an improved
understanding at Board level of how services are performing in relation
1o quality and actions the Trust is taking to address them.

KLOE 3 Culture

The Board have built a sense of positivity. Leaders do live the vision and
Board discussion reflected this strongly. Staff feedback is encouraged
with a range of mechanisms available. The promotion of diversity and
inclusion is a clear thread throughout the Trust. There is a lived culture
of recognition, support, engagement, respect and celebration with the
tone being set by the Board. Transparency and openness is valued.

KLOE 4 Roles, Responsibilities and System Accountability

The Board and other levels of governance, encompassing committees,
Senior Leadership Team, directorates and teams within the
organisation, function and interact appropriately.

The Board demonstrates corporate leadership and a broadly positive
balance between challenge and support. The information flows
generally were seen to support decision-making and the resolutian
of risks and issues. The well-supported approach to governance

is reflected in embedded mechanisms for risk management from
directorate and team level through to strategic risk as defined in the
Board Assurance Framework. There is an escalation and de-escalation
process for the management and oversight of risk.

It was noted that the current structure can create silos. Locality
structures would strengthen collaborative working.

KLOE 5 Managing Risks and Performance

The processes underpinning risk identification, understanding,
maonitoring and management are well-designed, operating effectively
and owned at senior levels.

KLOE 6 Information

The Trust has a clear digital strategy in place and as part of this a
new Electronic Patient Record System is being implemented. Positive
feedback was provided in respect of: clinical engagement, staff
training, improvements to systems etc. At the time of the review the
implementation was in its infancy in terms of: data quality and the
medium term ability to demonstrate benefits realisation.

KLOE 7 Engagement

The active Service User and Carer Committee and its representation
at the Board is a great asset. A range of effective partnership working
is in place and a key joint appointment operates at Board level. The
Trust has taken up a determined system leadership role. In particular,
this is best signalled through the establishment of a new alliance

of health and social care providers. Relationships with partners and
commissioners has substantially improved but there is more to da.

KLOE 8 Learning and Improvement

The Trust has a continuous improvement focus and there are clear
ambitions to be a learning organisation as demonstrated through a
range of approaches.

One area that has been very much strengthened in the new NHSI Well
Led guidance aligned with CQC’s assessment relates to the effective
application of guality improvement (Ql).

There needs to be a move from quality assurance to quality
improvement.

In response to the findings action plans have been developed for each
KLOE and committee which address both the strengths identified and
suggested areas for development. Ultimate oversight of the action plan
is provided by the board.
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3.10 Quality Account 2017/18

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National

Health Service (Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to
prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.

By 30 June 2018 the Trust will have developed and published its
Quality Account for 2017/18, In order for the Board to assure itself
that the Quality Account is managed in an effective and timely
way and that the Quality Account is accurate, a further project

plan was discussed at the Quality Committee and is currently being
implemented. Delegated authority on the delivery of the Quality
Account was approved by the Board. This plan sets out the review
and planning framework, including engagement and review by key
stakeholders in developing the document, incorporating feedback
(including our three steps to engagement) and their final validation,

3.11 Board Assurance Framework

The Trust has a fully documented Board Assurance Framework (BAF)
and produces assurance framework reports which are updated on

a quarterly basis. The Audit Cornmittee receives regular reports

and provides assurance and makes recommendations to the Board.
The strategic objectives of the Trust form the basis of the BAF. The
Assurance Framework maps the strategic risks, risk appetite, key

controls, gaps in control, assurances (including levels of assurance) and

gaps in each against one of the strategic objectives.

The Assurance Framework operates as follows:

= The Board sets out what the Trust is aiming to achieve {(the Trust’s
strategic and annual objectives linked to the Executive Director
objectives),

e The Board consider the risks that threaten the delivery of its plans
(the strategic risks);

» The Board decide what systems and processes are required to
manage the risks {the controls);

e The Board decides what information it needs 10 know and that the

controls are working effectively (the assurances);

* The Board delegates responsibility for receiving some assurance to
its committees;

e The Board receives feedback about the adequacy of its control
arrangements (for example: patient feedback, self-assessment,
internal / external audits} and takes action as required.

This process provides a framework of assurance about the system of
integrated governance, risk management, and internal control, across

the whole of our activities {(both clinical and non-clinical), that supports

the achievement of the organisation’s objectives.

As such, the Trust Board and its committees take an active role in risk
management and ensure that there are effective risk management
processes to suppart the achievement of the Trust’s policies, aims and
objectives,

Trust Internal Auditors, RSM, undertook a review of the 2017/18 BAF
and concluded that the Trust had strong governance arrangements
in place and awarded an opinion of ‘substantial assurance’ with no
further recommendations.

The Risk Management Strategy and the Risk Management Policy

are reviewed and refreshed every 3 years and are discussed by the
appropriate committees and endorsed by the Board. Together they
create a framework for the consideration of risk at all levels within
the arganisation (both clinical and non-clinical) and mandate the
maintenance of a register of all risks. The risk register is a dynamic
tool with risks held on the Safeguard Risk Management system which
is updated by the risk owner at regular set intervals determined by
the nature and residual score of the risk or as circumstances change.
It is subdivided into two parts; Trust risks and operational risks. The
Risk Register sets out how these different types of risks are identified
measured and maonitored.

The Trust has four levels within the risk management framework —
1.Board Assurance Framework
2. Trust Risk Register
3. Directorate Risk Registers
4.Team Risk Registers.

The aims of the Risk Management Strategy and Risk Management
Policy are to:

* maintain the highest possible standards of service delivery where
the numbers of serious errors are few relative to the volume and
complexity of activity undertaken;

¢ support the achievement of the Trust’s strategic objectives in an
efficient and effective manner, delivering value for meney; and

» Ensure that risk management arrangements are continually
strengthened and combined with robust control and reporting
arrangements 1o create an effective system of integrated
governance.
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The Risk Management Strategy and Risk Management Policy define
the way in which risks are identified, measured and managed and

the management of situations where control failure leads to the
realisation of risk. They clearly define the roles and responsibilities of
key managers and committees and set out the specific responsibilities
of the Directors for the effective management of risk. The Risk
Management Strategy and Risk Management Policy set out the
orgarisation’s plans for improving its capacity to identify measure and
manage risk and for ensuring that the Trust continues to be a safe and
reliable organisation in the conduct of the services it delivers.

The current Risk Management Strategy and Risk Management Policy
approved by the Trust Board are in place to 2019/20. The Risk Strategy
is currently being refreshed.

The trust continues to promote staff awareness of and the processes
for risk management within the Trust through the delivery of
presentations and fraining sessions, including support for team level
risk registers. The addition of team level risk management enables a
successful and meaningful escalation and de-escalation process for risk
management with the potential for risks to be identified and mitigated
at the earliest opportunity. This has also been expanded to include
corporate teams.

Risk is a standing agenda item at Team and Directorate Meetings with
monthly review of Directorate and Trust risks (with a residual score

of 12 or above) undertaken by the Senior Leadership Team. Each
Trust risk is linked to @ committee for validation and monitering with
reports submitted (Quality Committee, People & Culture Development,
Finance, Performance and Digital, Business Development, and Audit
Committee).

The Trust has three risks with a residual score of 16 (impact 4 x
likelihood 4) as follows:

e There is a risk that the CIP scheme will under deliver for 2017/18
due to a shortfall in worked up CIP schemes compared to the
target of £3.2m. This could result in significant pressure on the
Trusts ability to deliver the 2017/18 control total, access to STF
funding and operating within the CRL/EFL.

* There is a risk that there is insufficient staff to deliver appropriate
care to patients because of staffing vacancies and increased
referrals. This has a consequence of potential failure to achieve
performance targets, inability to deliver service user expectations
and increased pressure upon existing staff.

¢ There is a risk to the sustainability of New Care Models due to
insufficient capacity and capability for change, particularly within
the clinical and operational teams with a consequence of not fully
contributing to the new care models and therefore not realising the
full potential of integration.

3.11.1 Board Assurance Framework

The Board Assurance Framework risks were discussed and agreed by
the Board in May 2017 for the 2017/18 financial year. The Trust has

7 key objectives within the Board Assurance Framework. In addition,
each objective is mapped against the Trust’s Quality Objectives of Safe,
Personalised, Accessible and Recovery Focused {SPAR).

3.11.2 Utilise Effective Technology

2017/18 was a significant year in our ambition to be a Digital by
Choice organisation, in May 2017 we launched our new Electronic
Patient Record system which is a critical element in moving to Digital.
The new system is supported by almost £15m of funding over the next
5 years. The ROSE Project (Raising our Service Excellence) to support
the implementation is so called because we recognise this is more than
just a change of IT systems but an opportunity to modernise the data
we collect and improve the feedback we gain from the frontline of
clinical services, this will result in improvements for safety, effectiveness
and efficiency and delivered a comprehensive review of reporting data
from clinical services.

The Trust has been successful in an expression of interest to become a
Lorenzo Digital Exemplar delivering a digital transformation programme
with the Children and Young People’s Directorate. We are currently
working with Lorenzo suppliers DXC and NHS Digital to develop a
business case and mobilisation plan to move towards implementation.

3.12 Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use
of resources

The organisation applies a number of key assurance mechanisms to
ensure efficient, effective and economic deployment of resources.

The Trust internal auditors RSM provide the Internal Audit (I1A) service

across a number of financial and quality based audits. The Trust agrees
the 1A Plan which is signed off by Executives and the Audit Committee.
The Trust also utilises the flexibility to propose audits which it considers
would be important from a risk or improvement of control perspective

Towards Qutstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18 71



The Trust Board scheme of delegation requires a competitive quotation
process for any purchases over £5,000. The audit committee reviews
on a quarterly basis, any exceptional circumstances, where the need
for competitive tender has been waived. The Trust procurement
function retenders significant contracts when they are due for renewal
and supports the trust to access the most appropriate frameworks,
obtaining value for money on key contracts.

The Finance, Performance and Digital Committee receives a monthly
finance report which monitors performance against the financial plan,
capital plan and Cost Improvement Plan, The committee monitors
deviations to plan, providing assurance to Trust Board. Separate
detailed reports are also provided for assurance around Agency
expenditure and Cost Improvement delivery.

3.13 Compliance with the NHS Provider Licence
The trust declared compliance with condition FT4 of the NHS Provider
Licence and provided actions identified to mitigate risks as follows:

3.13.1 Governance
Risk is mitigated through the following mechanisms:
» Statement of Internal Audit Assurance within the Annual
Governance Statement (AGS)
» Reqular review of the Board Assurance Framework (BAF)
» Regular review of Committee and Board Effectiveness
» Register of Declarations of Interest
» Freedom of Information responses
» Risk Management processes and reporting
e Board Development
e Fit and Proper Persons
e CQC rating of ‘goocd’ for well led
« [nternal, external and counter fraud work programme
» Affiliation with AcQUA
s Adherence to Standards of Business Conduct

3.13.2 Responsibilities of Directors and Committees and
Reporting Lines and Accountabilities
Risk is mitigated through:

* A review of Board and Committee effectiveness undertaken
including Cornmittee Terms of Reference, frequency of meetings,
membership of sub committees, angoing Board development, sub
group reporting arrangements

e Committee structure review including sub-committees

3.13.3 Submission of timely and accurate information
Risk is mitigated through:
¢ Financial balance
¢ Finance and Performance committee reporting 1o Board
* CQC rating of ‘good’
¢ Robust Performance Management Framework and rectification
plans
e Purchase order processes
* [nvestment policy
e Delegated authority limits1, 2 and 5 year business plan
e 2 year CIP plans

3.13.4 Degree and rigour of oversight the board has over trust
performance
Risk is mitigated through:
* Executive Director leadership for quality by Director of Nursing and
Quality and Medical Director
e Board developments topics in quality
e Board to team unannounced quality assurance visits
e Announced quality assurance visits with CCG, service users / carers
and Healthwatch
» Involvement of service user and carer counci
*QlA on CIP
* Quality Account
e Quality Committee reports to Board
» Scrutiny of the Performance Management Framework at committee
and Board
* Rectification plans for metrics where target not achieved, including
actions and trajectory for improvement
« Quality priorities — Safe, Personalise, Accessible and Recovery
Focussed (SPAR}
e Strategic objectives relate to quality measured through the BAF
* CQC overall rating of good (October 2017)
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4, Risk Assessment

As noted, the Board defines its objectives on an annual basis in line
with the strategic planning cycle and identifies the risks which could
pose a threat 10 those objectives. Once identified, the risks form the
strategic risk register (the BAF).

At each meeting the Committee responsible for their areas of risk
receives a risk report as a standing agenda item and then an overall
report to the Trust Board.

The organisation seeks to involve public stakeholders in managing
risks which impact on them. An example of this is through board
visits, patient stories, attendance at the Council Overview and Scrutiny
Committees, the Service User and Carer Council and invitation to
Board. The Trust also invites a range of organisations including
Healthwatch to review the performance and comment on the
performance of the Trust.

Our operational risks are identified at team, directorate and corporate
level. The identification process takes many forms and involves both
a pro-active approach and one which reviews issues retrospectively. A
great deal of emphasis is placed on predicting where incidents could
occur and taking steps to stop them before they do. Our risk register
is populated as a minimum by operational risks which fall into the
categories of moderate, significant or high risks and risk action plans
are in place for all risks in these categories. The Senior Leadership
Team ensures that risk treatment plans are in place to respond to all
operational risks on the risk register. As at 31 March 2018, the Trust's
strateqgic risks as described in the BAF are:
* The Trust fails to listen and act upon service user and carer
involvement resulting in an inability to deliver responsive services.
* The Trust fails to improve patient safety, eliminate avoidable harm
and deliver high quality services, resulting in less than optimal care,
reputational harm, increased scrutiny and regulatory restrictions
e The Trust fails to exploit its potential in research and innovation,
losing credibility and reputation and under achieving in delivering
evidence based care.
» The Trust fails to support its workforce to continually learn and
develop resulting in poor staff experience.
* The Trust fails to attract and retain talented people resulting in
reduced quality and increased cost of services.
* The Trust fails to optimise its resources resulting in an inability to be
a sustainable service.
e The Trust fails to engage its partners resulting in fragmented care
pathways.

5 The risk and control framework

As indicated by internal audit, RSM, there is a clear and well defined
approach to the identification of risks. The identification process takes
many forms and involves both a pro-active approach and one which
reviews issues retrospectively.

The organisation’s risk analysis system uses descriptive scales to
determine the magnitude of the potential consequences of an
identified risk and the likelihood that those consequences would occur.
Consideration of the controls in place for the risk and the effectiveness
of those contrals also form part of the assessment. Using this method
enables the production of a list of prioritised risks with an indication of
the action that is required.

The processes for managing strategic risks are an important element in
the Assurance Framework and there has been ongoing work to further
redefine the levels of assurance received, the direction of travel for the
risk and the development of system to RAG rate the assurances on a
quarterly basis including a stretch RAG ratings at the beginning of the
year.

Each of the Executive Director’s objectives are aligned to the strategic
objectives with each strategic risk acting as the control measure.

Each strategic risk has an Executive Director lead that is responsible

for formally reviewing the risk on a quarterly basis. Any weakness in
control measures, or inconsistent application of controls identified as

a result of assurance activity is considered. Collectively, the Executive
Team, on behalf of the Trust Board, has qverall responsibility for
managing strategic risks and monitor risk treatment plans to ensure
that strategic risks included in the BAF are effectively managed. The
Board’s committees take collective responsibility for monitoring and
reviewing the processes for the effective management of strategic risks
and ensure that the Trust Board is kept fully informed of all strategic
risks through the BAF. The review and management of operational risk
is overseen by the Senior Leadership Team.

The Audit Committee - Each of the 7 objectives were allocated to a
Board Committee, at which Board Assurance Framework updates were
provided, An overall summary is sent to the Audit Committee who has
oversight of all 7 strategic objectives

The Audit Committee continue to receive assurances which have been
delegated to it by the Board and reports from internal audit, external
audit and others on the systems of internal control.
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The Audit Committee prepares a report to the Board after each of

its meetings. The Board uses the reports of the Audit Cammittee

and other committees of the Board to obtain assurance about the
effectiveness of the system of integrated governance, risk management
and internal control, and to obtain assurance that disclosure
statements are appropriate.

Operating in this way the Assurance Framework allows the Trust
Board to review the internal controls in place to manage the strategic
risks and to examine the assurance mechanisms which relate 1o the
effectiveness of the system of internal control. With this information
the Board is able to address gaps in control and assurance,

In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head
of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual opinion, based
upon and limited to the work performed, on the overall adequacy
and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and
governance processes. For the 12 months ended 31 March 2018, the
Head of Internal Audit opinion {as at the 3rd April 2018} for North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust is as follows:

6. Care Quality Commission (CQC)

The Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the
Care Quality Commission.

In February 2018 the CQC published their findings form their
unannounced and well led inspections which took place within the
Trust throughout October 2017. We are delighted to have received an
improved rating from the CCQ with every one of our services rated as
‘good’ or ‘outstanding. ’

The CQC confirmed that the trust is the best rated mental health trust

across the whole of the Midlands and East and the third highest in the

whole country - only 1 of 3 with every core service rated at least 'good’
and at least two core service rated as 'outstanding.’

Our Community CAMHS team made a significant improvement with
every CQC domain now rated as 'good.’

Our Inpatient Rehab services have alsc obtained a significant
achievement with both Florence House and Summers View obtaining
an overall rating of ‘outstanding.’ They joined the Older Peoples’
Community Services who also have an ‘outstanding’ rating.

The CQC results confirmed that the Trust’s journey of improvement -
labelled last year by the CQC as the fastest improving mental health
trust in the country has continued. Amongst many compliments, the
CQC found:

* “The overall culture of the trust was very patient-centred. Staff
treated patients with dignity, respect and compassion and most
experienced high morale and motivation for their work.”

* “There had been significant improvement in the reduction of
waiting lists in the child and adolescent mental health services
and the adult community mental health services since the last
CQC inspection. All teams were meeting the national waiting time
standards.”

* "We found staff to be dedicated, kind, caring and patient focused.
The local management and leadership of services were both
knowledgeable and visible. Staff we talked to during inspection
spoke highly of their managers and told us that a more positive and
open culture had continued to develop since our last inspection. ”

» "We were particularly impressed by the level of care offered
to patients in the long stay and rehabilitation wards and the
community based mental health services for older people, both of
which were rated Qutstanding overall.”

To be able to continue to improve upon last year’s results is something
quite remarkable and the Trust recognises that this is due to the
determination, talent, dedication and ability of all our staff.

The journey of improvement is to continue and is aligned with the
quality strategy to deliver Safe, Personalised, Accessible and Recavery
focused services based on integrated locality working across North
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

One of the areas of improvement that we have focused our intention
on is the approach to medicines management for which the CQC
identified some issues under the Safe domain, in particular the
management of topical medicines and fridge temperature monitoring.

In addition to the Inspection results the Community CAMHS Team have
been spotlighted in the latest edition of the CQC regional publication
highlighting great practice and innovation,

The Trust is also proud to have been chosen by the CQC as a national
mental health exemplar and is delighted to have the opportunity to
share our journey of improvement with other organisations.
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7. Integrated Locality Working

During 2017718, the Trust has continued its role as System Leader, in
partnership with the North Staffs GP Federation, for development of
the North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Alliance Board (“Northern
Alliance”).

The Trust has been central to creation of a mindset within the
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Sustainability Partnership that reflects
the need for locally relevant clinical change and working between
partners that still responds to the principal priorities of the STP.

This has included advocacy for the now accepted concept of three
Alliances within the County based on the Northern Alliance model.

By March 2018 the Northern Alliance had a membership reflecting all
public, third sector and independent sector providers of Health and
Sodcial Care to the 500,000 residents of Stoke-on-Trent and North
Staffordshire — and the major commissioners of services from those
providers. This has enabled agreement to and delivery of a range

of transformative integrated care projects, all of which respond to
the NHS Forward View's Triple Aim. Impact is being evaluated in
partnership with Keele University, Sheffield Hallam University and the
local CSU.

Ultimately the success of the Northern Alliance will be measured by its
ability to relieve pressure on secondary care services, support delivery
of sustainable primary care services, and reduce overall cost 1o the
Health and Social Care economy.

8. Statements and Declarations

8.1 Pension

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS
Pension Scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all employer
obligations contained within the Scheme regulations are complied
with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary, employer’s
contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with
the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the
Regulations.

8.2 Diversity and Inclusion

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s
obligations under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are
complied with,

The Trust has worked hard through 2017-18 to really develop the
culture and consciousness around Diversity and Inclusion (D&)
throughout the organisation, with a view to D& being recognised
as ‘usual business’, *how we do things round here,” and part of
everyone's role.

The Trust has delivered against its core responsibilities in relation to
the Equality Act 2010 and the associated Public Sector Equality Duty
(PSED), the Workforce Race Equality Scheme (WRES), the Equality
Delivery System (EDS2) and the Accessible Information Standard. Our
published Diversity & Inclusion reports are available on our website
D&l pages: https:/Aww.combined.nhs.ukAvorking-together/diversity-
and-inclusion/. We have also been preparing for the introduction

of the Gender Pay Reporting requirements (to be published by 30
March 2018) and the Sexual Orientation Monitoring requirements and
Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) in 2018-19. The Trust
has been supported by NHS Employers and partner Trusts as a ‘D&l
Partner’ organisation throughout 2017/18.

8.3 Data Quality

Safe and efficient patient care relies on high quality data. The
availability of complete, comprehensive, accurate and timely data is
an essential component in the provision of high quality mental health
services and risk management. It is also required to ensure compliance
with external regulatory requiremnents and with national and local
targets, standards and contractual requirements.

To make the governance process manageable and monitoring
proportionate, appropriate key data quality metrics have been
developed and are kept under review to support the governance
arrangements. This is discharged through the review of business
processes; identification of critical data flows; analysing (potential

and actual} data quality issues; defining key data quality performance
measures, and agreeing tolerances thresholds (beyond which issue are
escalated).

The Trust has a clear management structure clarifies the responsibilities
and accountabilities in regard to those individuals who enter data.

This ensures that there is accountability for low levels of data quality
and accuracy. By taking responsibility for their clinical data, clinicians
improve its quality and help drive up standards of care.
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The Data Quality Forum reports to the Quality Committee and
comprises of representatives fram corporate services and clinical
directorates (data champions who take a leadership role in resolving
data integrity issues). The Forum is responsible for data issue
management and the pracess of reducing and removing the barriers
that limit the effective use of data within the Trust. The Forum is
supported by performance management meetings within each
directorate that provide an opportunity to address data governance
and data gquality from end to end.

8.4 Information Governance Disclosures

All NHS organisations are expected to secure person identifiable data
related to both patients and staff and to safeguard data holding
systems and data flows. There has been one control issues related to
data loss or confidentiality breach during the year ending 31 March
2018 reported to the Information Commissioners Office. The rapid
response and robust action plan put in place when this incident
occurred provided assurance to both the Trust and 1CQ and the
incident was closed shortly afterwards.

8.5 HM Treasury/ Cabinet Office Corporate Governance Code

As highlighted in this document, the Trust has an established system of
integrated governance, risk management and internal control across
the whole of the Trust's activities. The Trust therefore believes that it
properly complies with the Corporate Governance Cade.

8.6 Carbon Reduction Delivery Plan

The trust has undertaken risk assessments and Carbon Reduction
Delivery Plans are in place in accordance with emergency preparedness
and civil contingency requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather
projects, to ensure that this organisation’s obligations under the
Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are
complied with.

9, Review of Effectiveness

As Accountable Officer, | have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work
of the internal auditors, dinical audit and the executive managers
and clinical leads within the NHS trust who have responsibility for the
development and maintenance of the internal control framework.

| have drawn on the information provided in this annual report

and other performance information available to me. My review is

also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports. | have been advised on the
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control by the board and the audit committee and
a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of
the system is in place.

The Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the
effectiveness of controls that manage the risks to the organisation
achieving its strategic objectives have been reviewed and areas for
strengthening during the coming year.

My review is also informed by the fact that the Trust continues to

be registered under the Health and Social Care Act 2008 without
conditions, and that robust processes are in place to ensure ongoing
compliance with Registration outcome measures. [t is informed
through the CQC awarding the trust an overall rating of 'good’ in the
latest CQC inspection and a rating of ‘good” for the well-led domain.
Additionally, the Trust achieved an adjusted retailed surplus {(control
total) of £3.68m against an income of £85.1m which includes £2.37m
Sustainability and Transfaormation Funding (STF), earned by any Trust
that operates within its agreed financial control total.

The Board and its Committees consider and take action on the
effectiveness of the system of internal control. Each level of
management, including the Board and its sub committees regularly
reviews the risks and controls for which it is responsible and takes
action on the recommendation of assurance providers. These reviews
are monitored and reported to the next level of management.
Strategic objectives have been identified and the totality of assurance
activity relating to the Trust’s strategic risks has been reviewed within
the assurance framework. Key controls are identified. The Board has
mapped its assurance needs and identified sources for providing them.
Independent assurance, from a wide variety of sources, is provided on
the process of risk identification, measurement and management.
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The organisation has in place arrangements to monitor, as part of
its risk identification and management processes, compliance with
other key standards covering areas of potentially significant risk such
as Registration outcomes and the NHS Resolution Risk Management
Standards.

We recognise that good governance is a hallmark of high performing,
well-led organisations. We are committed to building on our strengths
and addressing any weaknesses. During the year we have worked
closely with our commissioners and in particular with the CQC to
ensure that we continue to deliver sustainable high quality care for the
patients and communities we serve.

In summary, | have been advised on the effectiveness of the system
of internal control by the Trust Board and its committees. | have also
considered the work of Internal Audit throughout the year and the
Head of Internal Audit Opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining
assurance through the Assurance Framework and on the controls
reviewed as part of the internal audit work. A plan to address any
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in
place. We will continue to work with our commissioners to sustain
funding. We aspire to be an outstanding organisation and continue
on our jouney of "Towards Outstanding’ and everything we are doing
is laying the foundations for this as demonstrated in our recent CQC
ratings. We set out to achieve each of our core services a rating of
‘good’ or ‘autstanding’ and this is what | am proud to say we have
achieved.

Conclusion:

As Accountable Officer, my review confirms that no significant internal
control issues have been identified and that North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust has a good system of internal control
that supports the achievement of its policies, aims and objectives.

Mrs Caroljne Dohovan
Chief Exec\tive
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This report provides information about the remuneration of the Trust’s
directors and those who influence the decisions of the Trust as a
whole.

The Chief Executive has confirmed that for North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust this report will include the Executive
Directors (interim and substantive) and the Director of Operations
(collectively referred to as very senior managers) and the Non-Executive
Directors, including the Chair.

The Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee has responsibility
ta determine the remuneration of a wider group of staff. However, as
their duties do not meet the definition provided above, details about

their remuneration, and that of other employees, are not included in

this report.

The Trust Board has established a committee of the Board known as
the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee. The current terms
of reference of the Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee
were revised and approved by the Trust Board in_April 2018. The Terms
of Reference will be reviewed annually and the next review must take
place before 31 March 2019.

The purpose of the committee is to determine appropriate

remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Executive, Executive

Directors and other senior management employed on Trust terms and

conditions, including:

o all aspects of salary {including any performance related elements/
bonuses)

o additional non-pay benefits, including pensions and cars

e contracts of employment

e arrangements for termination of employment and other contractual
terms

e severance packages (severance packages must be calculated using
standard guidelines any proposal to make payments outside of the
current guidelines must be subject to the approval of the Treasury).

The membership of the committee is the Chair of the Trust Board and
all the non-executive directors who are Board members.

The Trust Chair chairs the committee. In the absence of the Chair, one
of the other non-executive directors is elected by those present to
Chair the meeting.

The committee meets at least twice per year although meetings are
called mare frequently when vacancies arise. Meetings can be called at
the discretion of the Chair. Only the Chair and relevant members are
entitled to be present at a meeting of the committee, but others may
attend by invitation of the cormmittee.

The committee is supported by the Trust Secretary. The Chief Executive
and Director of Leadership and Workforce attend meetings as required
and advise on:

trends in pay and benefits

alignment of reward policies and Trust objectives

the relevance of surveys and changes in reward practice
the application and impact of external regulation on
appointment, compensation, benefit and termination practice

Those in attendance are required to withdraw from meetings for the
consideration of business in which they are personally interested.
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Nomu and Title

[ Wame and Tiie

C. Donovan - Chief Executive Officar 135 to 140 5t 75 | 2100 215
€. Donovan - Chief Exgouthve Officr 13510 140 0 135w 140

0 Adeyemo - Medical Director 135 to 140 Oto 25 135t0 140
OiAdavemo.. Medieni Dirscros 13010135 o 13010135 A Rogars - Dirsetor of Qperations 2 09 0 901095
:; :":;:’172:'1::“&::?7';’““”‘ 101015 01025 101015 S Robinson - Diractor of Finance 100 ta 105 525055 | t50t015s
H Fazal-Short - Acting Divector of P Drayeott - Directorof Werkdorcs 85 ta i [} [LYoY-1
Dperations (30-May-17 to 31-Dec-17) ePw 0 &
 Sylvester - Acting Director of Operations P . -y M Nelligan - Director of Nursing 95 5 160 215t02175| 310t0 315
(01-Jan-18 to 25-Mar-18} T Thornber - Dlrect;;:;,strategy 951p 100 0 8510100
1 O'Brler Director of Operathans
(from 26-Mar-18) Oto5 Oios Gtos AHughes - Dlmcw;:tgt‘mesv Dies 0 ows

Jnm 20t Mareh
S Robnson - Director of Finance,
Parformpnce & Cigital 10510110 4] 1050110 | © Rogars - Chaiman 0 ter 3§ 0 301te35
P Draycott - Director of Workforce A Gadshy. Mon Exeeutiva Directar Sto 10 0 Sl
(01-Apr-17 to 31-Dec-17) Lt 0 SSiogp
A Brett - Director of Workforce B Johnson - Non Executive Director 51010 0 5010
(from 11-Dec-17) 251030 1] 51030

P Sullivan - Non Executive Director Sto 10 0 3010
M Nellgan - Diractor of Nursing 105t0 110 4251645 | 14510150 P O’ Hagan - Non Exesutive Dirgctor 1105 5 .

ger 20161

A Hughes - Director of Strategy 100 to 105 0 100 to 105 L Baruer - o Bkecutive Directoe 1105 0 1teS

lifrom Dec2016)

J Walley - Non Executive Direct
D Rogars - Won Execuitive Divectar 301035 D ato3s .Lfmnf;.:m"ﬁl > lio§ 0 o
A. Gadshy - Ron Executive Director 5 to 10 o 5 to 30 3018117 saliry restirtedt for O Adeyemna fior M adical Dirsctor Allowence,
# Sulllven - Non Executive Director 5 to 10 [ 5to 10
1 Walley - Non Executhes Director 51010 0 5 to 10
L Barber - Non Ewecutive Dirscwor 5to 10 ] Sto 10
B Johrison - Nan Executive Director
{until 31-Jul-17) Oto$ o GtoS

T = -

G Mahadean - Non Executive Director Oto5 0 005

(from 01-Oct-17)
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Remuneration of senior managers - pensions benefits Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the
remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the
201718 median remuneration of the organisations workforce.

Hamae and Title

Band of highest paid directors' total remunaration (£'000) 135-140 130-135 |

Madian total (£] 28,463 28,189
Ratio 4848 4.63
C Donovan - Chiel Officar 45 w50 0 145 10 150 '] 961 937 14 NA
0 Adeyemo - Medical Directar 01025 [] 0t 75 0 432 40 26 /A

The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in North

A Rogers - Director of Operations

1t i dew s 132 4 2 NfA f . . . .
it Ll R = Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust in the financial year
op {30 May-17 16 31.D0e- 11 W01w0ds Oto 2.5 00 75 Oto2s H68 a3y 17 Nfa

S s 2017/18 was £137,884 (2016/17 £130,543). This was 4.84 times
{08:am 29 40 25 Hhoe 108 (2016/17 4.63 times) the median remuneration of the workforce,

10'Bryen - Director of Operations

{froem 26-Mhar- 1) 051010 Oto2s W 1025 Oto2s 102 a5 0 N/A .
St BT | owzs | mws | ows | | o | 5 [ which was £28,469 (2016/17 £28,189).

# Oreyoolt - Okeector of Workforce | i 1 4 |
(. Ape17 to 31:Dece17) B | I = 1 !

A Brott - Director of Worklore

In 2017/18 7 (2016/17 10) employees received remuneration in excess

151020 0t02s 50 to 55 Oo2s

et e e :‘;:_ of the highest paid director. Ranging from £142,819 to £172,302
[AHughes “Directorotstracesy || - [ SAa T ] S (2016/17 remuneration ranged £134,496 to £160,035).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-
related pay and benefits-in-kind. 1t does not include severance
2016/17 payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent
transfer value of pensions.

Lk

0 Adeyemo - Medical Director

M LinBirnn . Ddrartor od Hursing 151880 mm;z..sl 1o n 115 | Witnids 745 531 214 NfA

T Thornbis - Director of Strategy
{to 15th 2017) 10118 a Bito 0 L3S 158 140 12 HIA

A Hughes - Ditector of Strategy
{rom 20th March 2017} 131020 Ot 2.8 S0 3mTs m ol 12 WA

80 Towards Outstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18



Off Payroll Arrangements in respect of Board Members or Very Senior

Officers:
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2018, for more than
£245 per day and that last longer than six months: N
Nustiber Number of off—payroll engagerments of board
- - - members, and/or senjor officers with significant
Number of existing engagements as of 31 financial responsibility, during the year 0
March 2018 1
. o Number of individuals that have bean deamed
Of which, the number that have existed: “board members, and/or senior officers with
significant financial responsibility® during the
- for less than one year at the time of reporting 2 financial year. This figure includes both off-payroll
- for belween one and two ysars at the time of and on-payroll engagements 1
neporting 3
- for belween 2 and 3 yoars al the time of
reporting 1
- for between 3 and 4 years at the time of
reporting 3
= for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 2

For all new off-payroll engagements or those that reached six months
in duration, between 1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018, for more than
£245 per day and that last longer than six months:

Number

Number of new engagements, or those that
reached six months in duration, betweon 1 April 10
2017 and 31 March 2018
Of which, the number of:

- assessed as caught by IR35 0

- assessed as not caught by IR35 10
Engaged diractly (vie PSC contracted to 0
depariment) and are on the depariment payroll
Engagemonts reassessed for consistency / 52
assurance purposes during the year
Engagements that saw a change lo IR35 status 0
following the consistency review
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We employed 1,463 (WTE) staff in a range of positions at the end of
March 2018.

i ce ROTIRNS LY,
Medical and dental az " T T
Ambuancs safl . - .

Administration and estates 189 " 208 228
HoolhCore Asakaiants and ier suppon sl a2 =11 300 465
Nursing. midwitens and heatin visling steff 424 44 458 473
Huralng, midatlans and healih Weling laarners - - .
Belnlis, tharapeutic and Kehnkcal st 200 2 zn 218
Hopbthcore askence sl

Sounl cars sl . - =

CAher 1 4 & -
(TolM averaps numbere 1,277 166 1,485 1,458
Of whiah:

Numbar of smploycea {WTE) sngaged on coplal

Frojects 3 . 3 3

Qur staff costs amounted to £59.1m, which represents 69% of the
Trust’s closing income for the year (£85.1m).

Our turnover figure reduced by 2% within 2017/18 to a FTE rate of
13.2%. The Turnover rate is reviewed and monitored at both a Trust
and Directorate level. A number of strategies have been developed in

order to support retention within the Trust including, retire and return,

flexible working options and a review of inpatient shift patterns.

Staff sickness absence 2017/18 2016/17

No. No.
Total dayslost 13,050 14,620
Total staffyears 1,274 1,286
Average working days lost {per WTE) 10 11

Sickness absence decreased during 2017/18 to a rolling average
of 4.61% - (as reported in accordance with Department of Health
guidance) this is a decrease over the 2016/17 average of 0.1%.

The workforce team operates systems to monitor sickness trends and
patterns, supporting targeted actions for management of sickness in
a timely manner. The main aim of this process is to support staff and
offer early intervention so that staff can maintain and also improve
their wellbeing.

Qur People and Culture Development Committee meets six times a
year and has a transfarmational approach to the workforce agenda.

Our Occupational Health provider Team Prevent provides support to
staff, effective signposting and early intervention and generate quality
management information in order to manage absence robustly.

Our Staff Counselling and Support Service continue to pravide
excellent support both individually to staff, and also collectively

via peer support and relevant training sessions. In 2017/18 the

service continued with the roll out of the critical incident and stress
management training, which looks in detail at the physiological and
psychosocial impact of stress, in particular the ramifications of sudden
and critical incidents. The service continues to support the workforce
with a prospectus of support that is available.

Fostering a positive culture that supports the health and wellbeing of
our workforce is of great importance. Significant progress has been
made this year by focusing on a variety of Health and Wellbeing
initiatives for our staff including the initiation of a Health and
Wellbeing Steering Group which has led to the development of a
number of health and wellbeing initiatives: including healthy eating
options and education, our winter flu fighter campaign and our “Feel
Good Friday” and “Wellbeing Wednesday”, the introduction of a
Physio fast track service, providing weekly Pilates sessions which all
staff are able to access a review of staff room facilities at the Harplands
site, the Trusts largest site.

There has been a continued investment of resource in the area of staff
health and wellbeing, most notably through the Feel Good Friday and
Wellbeing Wednesday programme. This has continued to be a great
success and encompassed a wide variety of Health and Wellbeing
topics including Staff Counselling services, Occupational Health
surveillance Checks, Staff Side advice and HR workshops. This initiative
has been extremely well received with many staff reporting taking
positive actions to improve their health and wellbeing. Such initiatives
demonstrate our continued commitment to supporting a healthy
workforce.

82 Towards Outstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18



We are committed to giving full and fair consideration to disabled
people wishing to work for the Trust. The Trust subscribes to the Two
Ticks standard and displays the symbol on adverts to show applications
from disabled people are encouraged. Consequently any applicant

e, e26000 : ’ ‘| that considers themselves to have a disebility and meets the minimum
il ' ' i requirements of the person specification is guaranteed an interview,

A0 - £7150,000
E150.001 - £200.000

e : : .| All applicants for posts are asked if they require any reasonable

num o [} L] v . ' Ay . - - . . .

D —% —m= —em|  adjustments in order to facilitate their participation in the shortlisting
process,

The Trust also has a policy covering the Equality of Opportunity in
Employment, which specifically details anti-discriminatory practice in
recruitment. This policy is due to be reviewed in July 2018.

100,001 - B150,000

frouien- any employee referred to them,

i : o 8| The Trust has an Occupational Health Service that provides specialised
u=toon 2 ¢ advice to managers regarding the reasonable adjustments required by
L] 1

5£200,000 . . -
o —w — —asy  We have robust health and safety measures in place including

workstation risk assessments and stress risk assessments that aim to
highlight and quantify any risk to employees and to bring measures
into place to mitigate the risk as much as possible. All policies and
Trust initiatives, for example, service changes, are subject to an equality
impact assessment in order to ensure that any proposed measures have
no detrimental impact on employees with any protected characteristics,
including disability.

Eaty rokament i fcery o the s {conta : : . | The Trust regularly works with third sector organisations including
ctual payTHnts in ey of nobce 5 i [ * . .o .
ot poymerts g Employment rounat ofrur s , ; , | Access to Work and the Dyslexia Association. In addition, we work
ot T ; = g @ closely with agencies that support people with mental health problems,
R o liparsetis g HAAT spproesl e tlametun e such as North Staffs Voice for Mental Health, Approach, ASIST, Brighter

payment valus was rmore than 12 moatha' of thiet ardwal Bdlay

Futures, Changes, EngAGE, North Staffordshire Huntington’s Disease
Association, Mind, North Staffs Carers Association, Reach and the
Beth Johnson Association. In 2016/17, the Trust continued to take
major steps to gain a greater understanding of the deaf community
and a significant proportion of staff took the opportunity to learn

to fingerspell. In 2017/18 the Trust was the first Mental Health and
Learning Disability Trust to sign up to the Dying to Work Charter in
conjunction with Trade Unions which supports employees with a
terminal diagnosis.
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There was also considerable investment in technological solutions.

The annual Staff Survey asks employees questions about their
experiences as employees, and specifically asks if they have experienced
discrimination and, if so, on what grounds. This allows the employer to
monitor the effectiveness of its anti-discriminatory practices.

As with new applicants, all promotion opportunities within the Trust
are agdvertised through NHS Jobs and applicants are subject to the
same standards as new recruits (e.g. Two Ticks). Trust training is open
to all staff and everyone attending is given the opportunity to raise any
reasonable adjustments that they need.

In 2017-18, the Trust had expenditure on consultancy of £531,000
(2016/17 - £749,000).

Mrs Caroline/Donovan
Chief Execut
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We have audited the financial statements of North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust for the year ended 31 March 2018
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial
statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income,

the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers” Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes

1 to 47, The financial reporting framework that has been applied

in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and
as interpreted and adapted by the 2017-18 HM Treasury’s Financial
Reporting Manual (the 2017-18 FReM) as cantained in the Department
of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2017/18 and the
Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State with the approval
of HM Treasury as relevant to the National Health Service in England
(the Accounts Direction).

In our opinion the financial statements:

* give a true and fair view of the financial position of North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust as at 31 March 2018
and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and

* have been prepared properly in accordance with the National
Health Service Act 2006 and the Accounts Directions issued
thereunder.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)} and applicable law. Qur responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below.
We are independent of the trust in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and the Comptroller
and Auditor General’s (C&AG) AGNO1 and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a hasis for our opinion.

This report is made solely to the Board of Directors of North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust, as a body, in accordance
with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and for

no other purpose. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Directors of the Trust those matters we are required
1o state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility 1o anyone other than the Directors, for our audit work,
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in
relation to which the ISAs {(UK) require us to report to you where:
e the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
* the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any
identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
about the trust’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the
date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report set out on pages 2-84, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information.

Our gpinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we

are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement

in the financial staterments or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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In our opinion the part of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Health
Services Act 2006 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:
in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with the
NHS Improvement’s guidance; or
o we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason
to believe that the Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to make,
or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to
take & course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would
be unlawful and likely 1o cause a loss or deficiency; or
s we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
e we make a written recommendation to the Trust under section 24
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
» we are not satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2018.

We have nothing to report in these respects
;

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
in respect of the Accounts, set out on page 64 the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. In preparing the
financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for
assessing the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable Officer either
intends to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

As explained in the statement of the Chief Executive's responsibilities,
as the Accountable Officer of the Trust, the Accountable Officer is
responsible for the arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources,

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstaterments can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
staternents is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at
https./Avww.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor's report.

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued
by the Comptroller and Auditor General in August 2017, as to whether
the Trust had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor
General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether

the Trust put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended

31 March 2018.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we
considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant
respects, the Trust had put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

We are required under section 21(3)(c), as amended by schedule 13
paragraph 10(a), of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to
be satisfied that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Section
21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires that
our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper
arrangements are in place.
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We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all
aspects of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust in accordance with the

requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the

Code of Audit Practice.

Hassan Rohimun {(Key Audit Partner)
Ernst & Young LLP {Local Auditor)
Manchester

25 May 2018

The maintenance and integrity of the North Staffordshire Combined
Healthcare NHS Trust web site is the responsibility of the directors;

the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for
any changes that may have occurred 1o the financial statements since
they were initially presented on the web site.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.
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Part Three - Financial Statements and Accounts
- 1 April 2017 - 31 March 2018
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Morth Staffordshire Comblned Healtheare NHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017718

Statement of Comprehensive Income for Year Ended 31st March 2018

Qperating income from patient care activities
Other operating income
Opersting expanses
Operating surplusi{deficit) from continuing operations

Finance income
Finance expenses
PDC dividends payable

Mot finance costs
Other gains / {losses}
Share of profil / (losses) of associates { joint arangements
Gains / (losses) arising from transfers by absorption
Corporafion tax expense

Surplus / {deficit) for the year from continuing operations
Surplus / {deficit) on discontinued operations and the gain / (Joss) on
disposal of discontinued operations

Surplus / {deficit) for the year

Other comprehensive income
Will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:
Impairments
Revaluations
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures
Other recognised gains and losses

Remeasurements of the nel defined benefit pension scheme liability / asset
Other reserve movements
Total comprehensive Income f {expense) for the period

Financial performance for the year
Surplus / (deficit) for the year
Impaiments (excluding IFRIC 12 impairments)
IFRIC 12 adjusiment”
Non cash element of on-SoF P pension scheme charges

Ad]usted retained surplusf{deficit)

2017H8 2016117

Note £000 £000
4 72,812 70,551
5 12,267 11,332
6,8 (79,372) (79,396)
5,707 2,485

1 15 13
12 {1,206) {1,338)
{561) {562)

{1,842) (1,887}

13 . 153
3,865 751

14 . .
3,865 751

7 - (3,325)
17,18 704 317
35 200 337

4,769 {1,920}

3,865 751

8 (190) 1,173

: 127

36 8 .
3,663 2,051

A Trust's Reporied NHS financial performance position is derived from its Retained surplus/{Deficit), but adjusted for the

following:-

a} During the 2017/18 financial year the Trust has indexed its land and buildings. This has resulted in a reversal of
impairment which is included within the Retained surplus for the year, An impairment charge or reversal of impairment is
not considered pan of the organisation’s operating position and is adjusted within the financial performance for the year.

b} During 2017/18 a non-cash pansion charge has arisen followihg re-measurement of the Trust's LGPS defined benefil
pension scheme. This is required each year under 1AS 18 and the charge reflects the interest and service costin excess
of employer pension contributions, From 2017118 this is not considered part of the organisation's operating position and
is adjusted within the financial performance for the year. A similar charge of £8k was not adjusted for under prior policy.

*For 2018/19 thare has been a change in measurement of 'adjusted financial performance’. The non-cash impact of on-
SOFP pension scheme charges is adjusted, whereas IFRIC 12 adjustments are ne longer retained. IFRIC 12
adjustrents reflect incremental revenue expenditure arising from bringing PFI assets onto the balance sheet under the
application of IFRS. This adjustment is requirad for Breakeven duty financial performance disclosed in Note 48.
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North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare WHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017/18

Statement of Financial Position as at 31st March 2018

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
Note £000 £000
Mon-current assets
Intangible assets 15 277 22
Praperty, plant and equipment 16 31,026 28,037
Investrmant property 18 5 g
Imvestments in associates and joint ventures 19 - -
Other investments / financial assets 20 - =
Trade and other receivables 22 508 1,426
Other asseis 23 1,089 867
Total non-current agsets 33,000 30,584
Current asseats
Inventories 21 79 88
Trade and other receivables 22 7,347 5181
Other investments / financial assets 20 - -
Other assets 23 = =
Non-current assets held for sale f assets in disposal groups 24 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 25 6,633 6 964
Total current assets 14,069 12,233
Current liabllitles
Trade and other payables 26 {6,8565) {7.097)
Bamowings 29 (633) 457)
Qther financial liabilities 27 - .
Provisions 31 {&21) {333)
Other liahilities 28 {311} {409)
Liabilities in disposal groups 24 x B
Total currant liabilities (8,420} {8,296)
Total agsets less current liahilities 38,639 34,518
Nor-current liabilities
Trade and cther payables 28 - -
Bomrowings 20 {11,557) {12,185)
Other financlal liabilities 27 - =
Provisions <) (458) {474}
Other liabilities 23 - -
Total non-current liabilitles {12,015} {12,663)
Total assets employed 26,624 2,855
Financed by
Public: dividend capital 7,648 7.648
Revaluation reserve 9,944 9323
Available for sale investmenls reserve - -
Other reserves - -
incame and expenditure reserve 9,032 4 884
Total taxpayers’ equity 26,624 21,855
The notes on pages B to 57 form part of these accounts.
Name Caroline Donovan
Position Chief Executive
Date 256 May 2018
3
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North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017/ 18

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2018

Available for

Public sale Income and

dividend Revaluation investment Other expenditure
capiltal reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 7,648 9,323 . - 4,384 21,855
Surplus/{deficit) for the year = - = - 3,865 3,865
Transfers by absorption: fransfers between reserves - - - - - -

Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure reserve for

impairments arising from consumption of economic benafits - - - - - -
GOther transfers between reserves = {83) = - a3 -
Impairments . - - - B -
Revaluations {indexation) = 704 = = = T04

Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets - . . - - -
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures - - - - - -
Fair value gainsi{losses) on availlable-for-sale financial investments - - - - - -
Reeyding gainsi{logses) on available-for-sale financial investments - - = - - -
Foreign exchange gains/{losses) recognised directly in OCI - - - - - -
Other recognised gains and losses . - - - - -
Remeasurements of the defined net benefit pension scheme liability/asset B B - - 200 200
Public dividend capital received 2 - - = - ~
Public dividend capital repaid - " - - - -
Public dividend capital written off . = = ~ = -
Other movemenits in public dividend capital in year . - - - E -
Other reserve movements . - s " -
Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2018 7,648 9,944 - - 9,032 26,624
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 31 March 2017

Available for
Public sale Income and
dividend Revaluation investment Other expenditure
capital reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Taxpayers' aquity at 1 April 2016 - brought forward 7,648 13,769 - 568 1,800 23,776
Surplus/{deficit) for the year = - - - 751 751
Transfers by absorption: transfers between reserves - - - - - -
Transfer from revaluation reserve to income and expenditure reserve for
impairments arising from consumption of economic benefits - - - - - -
Other transfers between reserves - (1,428) - (568) 1,966 -
Impairments - {3,325) - - - {3,325)
Revaluations - 317 - - - N7

Transfer to retained eamings on disposal of assets - - = = - &
Share of comprehensive income from associates and joint ventures - = - 5 S -
Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial investments - - - , - -
Recyding gains/(losses) on available-for-sale financial investments = - - = = "
Foreigh exchange gains/{losses) recognised directly in OCI & a = 5 & g
Other recognised gains and losses - - - - - -
Remeasurements of the defined net benefit pension scheme liability/asset - - - - 337 337
Public dividend capital received = = = E & &
Public dividend capital repaid - - - 5 = =
Public dividend capital written off . . : - . -
Gther movements in public dividend capital in year - = - z - =
Other reserve movements - - - - - -

Taxpayers® equity at 31 March 2017 7,648 9,323 - - 4,884 21,856
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Information on reserves

Pubdic dividend capital

Public dividand capital (PDC) is 2 type of public sactor aquity financa basad on the axcess of assats over liabilities at tha
time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the
Department of Health and Social Care. A charge, reflacting the cost of capital utitised by the trust, is payable to the
Department of Health as the public dividend capital dividend.

Revaluation reserve

Increases in asset values arigsing from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the
extent thal, they reverse impairments previously recogniged in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in
operating income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the revaluation reserve to the
axtant that a pravious gain was recogrisad, unless ths downward mavament reprasents a claar consumption of
economic benefit or a reduction in service potential.

Income and expenditure reserve

The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the trust and the net assat position of the defined
benefit Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).
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Statement of Cash Flows

2017HB 2016M7
Noie £000 £000
Cash flows from opersating activities
Operating surplus / {deficit) 5,707 2,485
MNonscash income and expense:
Depreciation and amortisation 6 842 898
Met imparments 7 (190) 1,173
Income recognised in reéspect of capital donations 5 - .
Amortisation of PFI deferrad credit = =
Non-cash movements in on-SoFP pension liabiliiy 8 B
{Increase) / decrease in receivables and ather assets (2,149} {1.031)
(Increase) f decrease in inventaries [ 8
Increase / {decrease) in payables and other liabilties {269) 405
Increase / {decrease) in pravisions 277 (877
Tax (paid} / received - -
Operating cash flows from discontinued operations - -
Qther movemenis in operating cash flows - -
Not cash genarated from f {(used in) operating activities 4,235 3,469
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 15 13
Purchase and sale of inancial assets f investments - -
Purchase of intangible assets (117} (217}
Sales of intangible assets - -
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment property (2.945) 2.189)
Sale of property, plant, equipment and investment property 818 212

Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets - -
Prepayment of PRI capital contributions - -
Investing cash flows of discontinued operations - 2
Cash movement from acquisitionsfdisposals of subsidiares = -
Met cash generated from / (used in) Investing activities 2,229) {2,181)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received - -
Public dividend capital repaid - -
Movement on loans from the Department of Health and Social Care E -
Mavement on other [bans = =
Other capital recaipts - -
Capital element of finance lease rental payments - -

Capital element of PFI, LIFT and oiher service concession payments (457) (347)
Interest paid on finance lease liabilities = =
Interest paid on PFI, LIFT and cther service concassion obligations {1,301) (1,327)
Other interest paid - -
PDC dividend {paid} / refundsd (579) {553)

Financing cash flows of discontinued cperations - -
Cash flows from {used in) other financing actbivities . .

Net cash generated from / (used in) financing activities {2,337} {2,227)
Increase ! (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents {331) {939}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - brought forward 6,964 7,903
Prior period adjustments <
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April - restated 6,964 7,903
Cash and cash equivalents transferred under absorption accounting g -
Unrealised gains /{l¢ ) on forgign exchange e .
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 26 6,633 8,084

7
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MNotes to the Accounts
Nota 1 Accounting policies and other information

Nate 1.1 Basgis of preparation

The Depariment of Health and Social Care has directed that the financial statements of the trust shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Depariment of Health and Social Care Graup Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall
be agreed with HM Treasury. Consequenily, the fallowing financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the GAM 2017/18 issued by the Departiment of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies containad n the GAM
follow Intermational Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS,
as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporiing Advisory Board, Where the GAM permiis
a choice of accounting policy, the aceounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
cirgumstances of the trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected, The particular policies
adopied are described below. These have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in
refation to accounts.

Note 1.1.1 Accournting convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modifizd to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

Note 1.1.2 Golng concarn

Based on current performance and assessment of the external NHS environment, the Trust Board have a reasonable
axpactation that the Trusl has adequale resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this reasan,
we continue to prepare the accounts on a going concern basis.

Nate 1.2 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the judgemants, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that managernent has made in
the process of applying the trust agcounting policies and that have the most significant effecl on the amounts
recognised in the financial statermenis:

The Trust has administered Charitable Funds since its creation on 15t April 1594, The funds were registered with the
Charity Gommissian under the requirements contgined within the 1993 Gharity Acl. The funds were registered as an
“Umbrella Charity” as they retated ta services provided by both the Trugt and Staffordshire & Sioke on Trent
Partnership NHS Trust,

As a1 3151 March 2018 Charitabie fund balances lotalled £478 000. As a consaguence the Trust considers these
balances to be immaterial and not requiring full disclosure within the 2017/18 Accounts.

MNote 1.2.1 Sources of estimatlon uncertainty

The following are assumptions about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty thal have a
significant sk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year:

The Trust has recognised that its PFI scheme relating to the Harplands Hospital is a service concession that must be

accounted for under IFRIC 12, The Trust is required to recognise the asset, and the liability to pay for i, an tha Trust's
Statement of Financial Position. The Trust is required to determine, at the inception of the arrangement, the inilial fair
value of the assel bazed on the capital cost detailed within the aperator's financial model, after giving consideration to
the costs the Trusl would capitalise if it were procuring the asset diractly.

The initial financial liability is recognised at the same amount as the fair value of the assel

The Trust is required fo spli the: unitary charge payment it makes ta the operator into its key component parts:
payments for services, payment for the asset {comprising of the repayment of the liability, finance costs and contingent
rental) and lifecycle replacement,

The Trust previously underook a full valuation of its properly assels in 2016/17. The Trusts has used the BICS all in
TPI (Tender Price Indicator) rate of 4.3% for indexalicn of Buildings applicable for the period to 31 March 2018,

Towards Outstanding - Our jourhey continues - Annual Report 2017/18 95



Naorth Staffordshire Combinad Healtheare NHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017118

The Trust brought forward a redundancy pravision from 2018/17 in respect of an-going workforce design schemes. A
number of charges have been made against this provision in 2017/18. Additionally the Trusl has commenced cther
management of change procatses within the reparting year. As a consequence, the Trust has reviewad the ¢camying
valve of the redundancy provision within 2017718, The balance of the provision as at 31st March 2018 reflects the
anticipated costs to be incurred. Details of the Trust provisions are provided in Note 32,

Note 1.3 Income

Income In tespact of services provided 1S recognised when, and 10 the extent thal, performance ooours and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable, The main source of incoms for the trust is contracts with
commissianers in respect of healthcare senvices.

The Trust raceives income under the NHS Injury Cost Recovery Schemne, designed to reslaim the east of traating
injured individuals lo whom persanal injury compensation has subsequently been paid e.g. by an insurer. The Trust
recagnises the income when it receives notification from the Department of Work and Pension’s Compensation
Recovery Unil thai the individual has lodged a compensation claim. The income is measured at the agraed tariff for the
treatments provided to the injured individual, kess a pravision for unsuccessful compensatian claims and doubtful
debts.

Revenue grants and other contributlons to expendlture

Government grants are grants from government bodies other than mcomea from commissioners or frusts for the
provision of services. Where a grant is used 1o fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to match that expenditure.

The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the the Government's apprenticeship service is
recognised sz income at the paint of receipt of the training $ervics. Where these funds are pakd directly to an
accrediled training provider, the corresponding notional expense is alse recognised at the point of recognition for the
benefil.

Note 1.4 Expendliure on employee benefite

Short-term employee benefits

Salanes, wages and employment-related payments such ag sogial security coste and the apprenticeship levy are
recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees. The cost of annual leave entiternent eamed
but not taken by employees at the end of ihe pefiod Is recognised in the financial statemenls as a lability to the exdent
that employses are permitied fo carry-forward leave into the following period.

In 2017716 the Trusl accrued £63k in relalion to untaken annual leave carried forward to the 2018/1% financial year
The accrual for 2018/17 Apnual leave was £47k,

Pension costs

NHS Pansion Scherme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pangion Scheme. The scheme ig an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction
of Secretary of State, in England and Wales, The scheme is not designed in a way thal would enable employers 1o
identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities, Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as
though they are defined contribution schemes.

Employer's pension cost contributions ara charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
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Local Goveémment Pension Scheme

Ten employees are members of the Local Governmenl Pension Scheme which is a defined benefit pansion schems.
The scherme assets and liabilfties attributable to these employess can be identified and are recognised in the trust's
accounts. The assels are measured at fair walue, and the liabiliiza al the present value of future obllgations in line with
the requirements of IAS 19.

The increase in the hiability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised within operating
expenses. The net Interest cost duning the year arising from 1he unwinding of the discount on the net scheme liabilities
is recognised within finance ¢osts. Remeasuremenis of the defined henefit plan are recognised In the income and
expenditure reserve and reported in the Stalement of Comprehensive Income as an item of 'other comprehensive
income’,

Nate 1.5 Expenditure on other goods and services

Expendilure on goods and services is recognised when, and to ihe exlenl thal they have been received, and Is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure I8 recegnised in operating axpansas except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.

Note 1.6 Froperty, plant and eguipment

Note 1.6.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where:

+itis beld for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes

+ it is probable that future ecenomic benefils will flow 1o, or service potential be provided to, the trust

+ it is expected to be used for more than one financial year

~ the Gosl of the lem can lbe measured reliably

» the item has cost of at least £5,000, or

+ collectively, a number of iterns have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have cost of more than £250, where the
assets are functiohally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have sirnilar
disposal dates and are under eingle managerial control.

« ilems form part of 1he initial quipping and setting-up cost of a8 new building, ward or unit, imespective of their
individual or tollective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes & number of components with significanily differant asset lives,
eg. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and degpreciated over their own useful
economic lives.

Note 1.6.2 Meagurament

Valuation

All praperty, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at coet, representing the costs directly atiributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.

All assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets that are held for their service potential and are in use are
measured subsequently at their current value in existing use. Assets that were mast recently held for their service
potential but are surplus are measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the market at
the reporting date. An item of praperty, plant and equipment which ig surplus with na plan to bring it back into use is
valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IFRS 5.

Revsluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient reqularity ts ensure that carrying amounts
are not materially different from those that would be determined al the end of the reporting period. Current values in
existing use are determined as follows.

» Land and non-specialised bulldings — market value for existing uge,

« Speciglised buildings - depreciated replacement cast, modern equivalent asset

basis.

HM Treasury has adopted a standsrd approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern
equivalent assets and, where it would meet the locaticn reguirements of the service being provided, an alternative site
can be valued,

10
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Properties in the courge of conatruction for service or administration purposes are carried gt cosl, less any impairment
loss. Costincludes professional fees and, whare capitalised in accordance with IAS 23, horrowing costs. Assels are
revalued and depreciation commences when they are broughi into use,

IT equipment, transport equipment, furnilure and fitings, and plant and machinery that are: held for operational use are
valued at depreciated historic cost where these assets have short usaful economic lives or low values or both, as this
is not considered to be materially different from currant value in existing use.

An increase ansing on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the
same assel previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it 1s credited to expenditure 1o the extent of the
decrease previously charged there. A revaluaiion decrease fhat does not result from a loss of economic value or
service petential is recognised as an Impairment charged to the revaluation reserve 10 the extent that there is a
halance on the reserve for the assel and, thereaffer, to expenditure. Impaiment losses that arige from a clear
consumption of economic benefit should be taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation
reserve are reported as cther comprehansive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Suvbsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an ingrease in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that addilional future economic benefits or service potential deriving
from the cosl inclrred to replace a companent of such iterm will flow [a the enterprise and the cast of the: lem can be
delarmined reliably, Where a component of an assel is replaced, the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets
the criteria for recognition above, The carying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that
does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs and maintenance, is
charged to the Statement of Camprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.

Depreciation

Hems of proparty, plant and equipment are depreciated over thair remaining useful economic lives in a manner
consistenl with the consurnption of econemis or service delivery benefits. Freehgld land s considered 10 have an
infinite life and is nol deprepiated.

Properiy, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as "held for sale’ ceases to be depreciated upon the
reclassification. Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in off-Statement of Financial Position PFI
conlraci assets are not deprecialed until the assel is brought inlo use or reverts to the trust, respectively,

Revaluation gains and losses

Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse a
revaluation decrease that has previousty been recognised in operating expanses, in which case they are recognised in
operating income,

Revaluation lossas are charged 1o the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for the asset
concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Cormprehensive Income as an
ftlern of "olher comprehensive income’,

impairments

In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumplion of economis benefits or of service
polential in the assat are chargad to operating expenses. A compensgaling trangfer ig made from Lhe revaluation
reserve o the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impaiment charged to
operating expenses, and (i) the balance in the revaluation reserve atiributable to that asset before the impairmeant.

An impairment that arises from a clear consumplion of economic benefit or of service potential is reversed when, and
to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise 1o the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operafing
expenditure o the extent that the asset is restored to the Carrying amoun il would have had if the impalrment had
never peen recognised. Any remaining raverssl is recogniged in the revaluation ragserve, Where, al the time of the
eriginal impairment, a fransfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an
amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised.

Ciher impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of 'glher impairrnents’ are trealed as revalualion gains.
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Note 1.6.3 Derecognition
Assets infended for disposal are reclassified as 'held for sale’ once all of the following criteria are mel:

+ the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only o terms which are usual and customary
for such sales,
» he sale must be highly probable ie:

- management are commitied to a plan to sedl the asset

- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale

- the asset 15 being actively markeied at a reasonable price

- the sale is expecied 1o be completed within 12 months of the date of dassification as "held for sale” and

- the: actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant
changes made to i,

Following reclassification, the assets ara measured at the lower of thetr existing camying amount and their ‘fair value
less costs o sell. Depreciation ceases fo be charged, Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract
conditions have been met.

Property, plant and equipment which Is to be scrapped ar demolished does not qualify for recagnition as 'held for sale”
and instead is retained as an operational assat and the asset's economic life is adjusted, The asset is de-recognised
when scrapping or demolition occurs,

Note 1.6.4 Donated and grant funded assets

Conated and grant funded property, planl and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The
donatian/grant is eredited to Income at tha same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future
economic benefits embodied in the grani are 1o be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the
donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years ta the extent that the condition
has not yet been met.

The donated and grant funded assets are subsaguently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property,
plant and eguipment.

Note 1.6.5 Private Finance Inltiative {PFi) and Local Improvement Finance Trust {LIFT) transactions

PFl and LIFT transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury's
FReM  are aconunted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the trust. In accordance with IAS 17, the
underlying assets are recognised as property, plant and equipment, logelher with an equivalent finance lease liability.
Subsequently. the assets are aceounted for as proparty, plant and equipment and/ar intangible assets as appropriate,

The annual conlract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, 2 finance cost and the charges
for servicas.

The sapvice charge is recoghised in operating expenses and the finance costis charged to finance coels in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income,

PFl Asset

The PF| agsals are recognised as property, plant and equiprment, when they come into use. The assels are measuret
initially at fair value or, If lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, in acoordance with the principles
of IAS 17. Subsequentiy, the assats are measured at current value in existing use.

PFl hiability

A, PF liability is recognised at the same lime as the PF| assets are recognised. It is measured initially et the same
amount as the inilial value of the PFI assets and 15 subsequently measured as a finance lease liability in accordance
with IAS 17

An annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicil interest rate in the lease to the apening lease liability for
the period, and Is charged to ‘Finance Costs® within the Statement of Comprehensive Incoms.

The element of the annual unitary payment that is allocated as a finanos lease rental is applied to meet the annual
finance cost and 1o repay the lease liability over the contract term.

An elernent of he annual unitary payment increase due to cumulative indexation is allocated ta the finance lease. In
accordance with 1AS 17, this amaunt is not includad in ihe minimum lease payments, but is instead treated as
contingent rent and is expensed as incurred, In substance, this ameunt is a finance cost in respect of the liakilily and
the expense is presented as a contingent finance cost in the Statement of Comprahensive Income.

12
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Lifecycle replacement

Components of the asset replaced by the operator during the contract {lifecycle replacemant’) are capitalised where
they meet the Trust's criteria for capital expenditure. They are capitalised at the time they are provided by the operator
and are measured initially at their fair value.

The element of the annual unitary payment allocated to lifecycle replacement is pre-determined for each year of the
contract from the gperatar's planned programme of lifecycle replacement. Where the lifecycle componert is provided
earlier or later than expected, a short-term accrual or prepayment is recognised respectively,

Where the fair value of the lifecycle component is less than the amount defermined in the contract, the difference is
recognised as an expense when the replacement is provided. [f the fair value is greater than the amount determined in
the contract, the difference is treated as a ‘free’ asset and a deferred income balance is recognised. The deferred
income is released to operating income aver the shorter of the remamning contract period or the useful economic life of
the replacement component,

Aszets contributed by the Trust to the operator for use in the scheme
Assets contributed for use in the scheme coentinue to be recognised as items of property, plant and equipment in the
Trust's Statement of Financial Position.

Dther assets contributad by the Trust to the operator

Assels contributed {e.g. cash payments, surplus property} by the Trust to the operator before the asset is brought into
use, which are intended to defray the operator's capital costs, are recognised initially as prepayments during the
construction phase of the contract. Subsequently, when the asset is made available to the Trust, the prepayment is
treated as an initial payment towards the finance lease liability and is set against the carrying valug of the liability.

As part of an overall scheme to reprovide inpatient, outpatient & community mental healih services for the population
of North Staffardshire, the Trust entered inte a contract with Town Hospitals (North Staffordshire Combined) Limited
(THL) commencing August 2001 for the design, build. financing & operation of a new Acute Psychiatric Unit. The Trust
has entered into a 60 year contract with THL with a primary contract period of 29 years. THL also pravides
housekeeping, portering, catering & estates maintenance. In the primary period the Trust pays a menthly charge for
the serviced accommodation for the duration of the contract subject to deductions for performancge and availability
failures. The Trust has certain options in respect of the conlinued provision of the facility and services in the secondary
neriod, these will be considered in the light of prevailing circumstances at that time.

As a part of the conversion to IFRS the Trust recognised this PFl property as a pari of its propery, plant and
equipment on the Trust Balance Sheet with effect from the PFI commencement date of August 2001 and recalculated
the appropriate accounting transactions with effect from that date.

These transactions included the initial recognition of a financial asset and financial liability at fair value in accordance
with |1AS 17 at a value of £17.65m. The asset value has been subsequently kept up to date by applying indexation,
revaluations and depreciation in ling with |1AS 16 principles. The value of the financial liakility reduces as the Trust
repays liability over the contract period (29 years).

Note 1,6.6 Useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment
Useful economic lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.

Min life Max life

Years Years

Land - -
Buildings, excluding dwellings g a1
Owellings - -
Plant & machinery 2 20
Transport equipment 7 7
Information technology 3 8
Furniture & fittings 10 10

Finance-leased assets (including land} are depreciated over the shorter of the useful economic life or the lease term,
unless the trust expacts to acquira the asset at the end of the lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in
the same manner as owned assets above.
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Note 1.7 Intangible assets

Note 1.7.1 Recognhition

Intangible assets are non-monetary asseis without physical substance which sre capable of being sold separately from
the rest of the trust's business or which ariss from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it
is probatle ihat future economic benefits will flow to, or service poiential be provided to, the trust and where the cost of
the asset can be measured reliably.

internally generated intangible assets
Internally generated gocdwill, brands, mastheads, publishing iitles, custormer lists and similar items are not capitalised
as intangible assets.

Software

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, eg an gperating system, is capitalised as par of the relevant
item of properly, plant and aquipment. Softwars which is not integral to the operation of hardware, ag application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.

Note 1.7.2 Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce
and prepare the asset to the point Ihat it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Amortisation

Note 1.7.3 Useful economic lives of intanglible assets
Useful economic lives reflact the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset.
Min life Max jife
Yaars Years

Information technology = =
Development expenditure " 5
Websites = =
Software licences 4 5
Licenices & frademarks -

Patenis s -
Qther {purchased) - .
Goodwill = =

Note 1.8 Inventories
Inventaries are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable valug. The cost of inventories is measured using the
weighted average cost method.

Note 1.9 Cash and cash aguivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial instilution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24
hours. Gash equivalents are investments thal mature in 3 months or less from the date of acguisition and that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts thet are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of North Staffordshire Gombined NHS Trust cash management. Gash, bar and
overdraft balances are racorded at current values.

Mats 1.10 Financial instruments and financial liabilities

Recognition

Financial 2ssets and financial lisbilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of nen-financial ilems (such
as goods or senvices), which are entered into in accordanze with the trust's narmal purchase, sale or usage
requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs, ie, when receipt or delivery of the
goods or services is made,
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De-recognition
All financlal assats are de-racognized whan the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the trust
has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation i discharged, cancelled or expires,

Classification and measurement

Financial azsets and financial liabilities are categorised as ‘fair value through income and expenditure”, loans and
receivables,

Financial ts and 1 iat liabilfties at “fair velue through income and expendfture”

Financial assels and financial habillties at "fair value through income and expenditure” are financial assets or inancial
liabilities held for trading. A financial asset or financial hability is classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purposa of selling in the short-tarm. Derivatives are alse categorised as beld for trading unless they are designaled as
hadges.

Loans and receivables
Loane and receivables are non-derivative finaincial assets with fixed or determinable paymenis which are not quoted in
an active market.

The trust's loans and receivables comprise; cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables, accrued income and "other
racehables”.

Loans and receivables are recognised iitially at fair value, net of transactions costs, and are measured subsequently
al amortised cost, using the effeclive interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly
eslimated fulure cash receipts through the expected life of Ihe financial asset or, when approprate, a shorter period, to
the nat carrying armount of the financial agset.

Interest on loans and receivables is cakculated using the effective interest mathod and credited to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income,

Financial fiabifives

Al financial hiabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of iransaction costs incured, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effeclive interest methed, The effective interest rate Is the rate thai discounts
exactly estirmated future cash paymenis through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carmying amount of the inancial liakility.

They are included in current liabilities except for smounis payable more than 12 moriths afier the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as lung-lerm liabilities,

Interest on financial liabilities caried at armortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and charged to
finance costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out o finance property, plant and equipment or intangible assets is
not capitalised as part of the cost of thase assets.

Impairment of nancial assets

At tha Statemeni of Financial Position date, the trust assesses whelher any financial assets, other than those held at
“fair value thraugh income and expenditure” are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impaimment losses are
recagnised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of he asset,

For hnancial assats carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impalment loss is measured as the difference
betweaet the asset's carrying amount and the present value of the reviead future cash flows discounted at the azset's
origingl effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying
amount of the agset is reduced through the use of a bad debt provision.

¥where a bad debt provision is used, the accounting policies includes the criteria for determining when an assel's

cammying value is written down directly and when tha allcwance account is used, and the criteria for writing off amounis
charged to the allowance aceourl against the carrying amount of the financial asset.
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Note 1,11 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Note 1.11.1 The trust as lessee

Finance leases

Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownerstup of a leased asset are borne by the trust, the asset is recarded
as property, plant and equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is
the Iewer of the fair value of tbe asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the
interesi rate implicit in the lease.

The asset and liability are recognised at the commencement of the lease. Thereafter the asget is accounted for an
item of property plant and equipment.

The annual rental is split betwean the repayment of the liability and a finance cost so as to achieve a consiani rate of
finance over the Ife of the lease. The annual finance coslis charged to Finance Costs in the Statement of
Comprehansive Income. The lease liability, is de-recognised when the liability is discharged, cancelled of expires,

COperating leases

Operating lease payments are recognised as an axpense on a straight-line basis over the lease lerm. Lease incentives
are recognised initially as 2 hiability and subsequently as a reduction of rentafs on a straight-line Hasis ower the lease
ferm.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incumed.

Leases of iand and buitdings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separatety.

Note 1.12 Provisions

The trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or consiructive obligation of uncertain timing or amount;
for which it is probable that there will be a future culflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be
made aof the amount, The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the hest estimate of the
resopurces required to seftle the obligatian. Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-
adjusted cash fliows are discounted using the discournt rales published and mandated by HM Treasury.

Earty retirement provisions are discounted using HM Treasury's pension discount rate of positive 0.10% {2016/17:
+0.24%) in real terms.  All other provisions are subject to three separate discount rates according to the expecled
liming of casitilows from the Staternent of Financia! Position date!

= A short temm rate of negative 2.42% (2016/17; -2.70%) for expected cash flows up to and including 5 years

= A medium term rate of negative 1.85% (201641 7: -1.85%) for expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10
years

» & Jong tarm rate of negative 1.56% (2016/17. -0.B0%) for expected cash flows over 10 years.

All percentages are In real terms,

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are extpected 1o be racovered from a third
party, the recaivable is recognised as an asset if it1s virfually certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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A restructuring provision is recognised when the Trust has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expeciation in those affected that it will cammy out the restructunng by starling to implement the plan
or announcing ils main features o those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provigion includes only the
direct expenditures arlsing from the reslrucluring, which are those amounts that are bolh necessarily antailed by the
restructuring and not associated with ohgoing activities of the entity.

Clinical negilgence cosis

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the trust pays an annval contribullon lo NHS Resolution,
which, in return, settles all dinical negligence claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible far all
clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the trust. The total value of clinical negligence provisions
carried by NHS resolution on behalf of the trustis disclosed at note 32,1 but is not recognised in the trust's accounts.

Non-clinical risk pooling

The irust paricipates in the Propery Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Paries Schemea, Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the trust pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in reluth receives
assistance wilth the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any “excesses” payable in
respect of particular elaims are charged ta operating expenses when the liability arises.

Note 1.13 Contingencies

Contingent assets {that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will anly be confirmed by one or more
future evenis noi wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in note 33 where an
inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabililies are not recognised, but are disclosed in nole 33, unless the probablity of & transfer of economic
benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are defined as:

» possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrencea of one or
mare uncartain future events not wholly within the entity's contral, or

» present obligations arising from past evants but for which it is not probable that a transfer of econornic benefits will
arse or for which tha amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Note 1.14 Public dlvidend capital

Public: dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over habilities at
ihe time of establishment of the predecessor NHS organisation. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a
financial Instrument within he meaning of 143 32

At any time, the Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, the trusl. PDC is
recorded at the value received.

A charge, reflecfing the cost of capital utilised by the trust, is payable az public dividend capital dividend. The charge is
calculzied at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant nel asgets of the trust during the
financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all iabililies, except for

{i) donated assels (including lottery funded assets),

(1i) average daily cash balances held with ihe Govemnment Banking Senvices (GBS) and National Loans Fund {NLF)
depogits, excluding cash balances held in GBS accounte that relate to a shori-term working capital facility, and

{ii} any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable.

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and Social Care {as tha issuer of PDC}),
the dividend for the year |s calculated on the actual average relevani net assels as set out in Ihe “preraudil” version of
the annual accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assels oceur as a result
the audit of the annual accounis,

Note 1.15 Value added tax

Most of the activities of the trust are cutside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does net apply and inpul tax
on purchases is not recoverable. Imecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expendilure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cosi of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT,

Note 1.16 Third party assets

Assels belonging to third parties fsuch as money held on behalf of patients} are not recognised in the accounts since
the trust has no beneficlal Interest In them. However, they are disclosed in a separale note to the accounts im
accordance wilh the requiremenis of HM Treasury's FReM.
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Note 1.17 Losses and special payments

Losses and special payments are liems that Parliament would not have conternplated when it agreed funds for the
heglth service or passed kegislation. By their nalure they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special conirol procedures commpared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. Losses and special payiments are charged fo the
relevant functional headings in expendilure on an accruals bgsis, including losses which would have been made good
through insurance cover had the trust not been bearing their own rigke (with insurance premiums then being Included
as nomal revenue expenditure).

However the losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which
reparts on an accrual basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.

MNote 1.18 Gifts

Gifts are tems that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and withoul ihe expeciation of any return, Gitts
include all transactions economically equivalent 1o free and unramunerated transfers, such as tha loan of an asset for
its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value,

Note 1.19 Eary adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations
Mo new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been early adopted in 2017/18.

Note 1.20 Standards, amendments and Interpretations in igsue but not yet offoctive or adopted
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 will be implemented in 2018/9, and the government implementation date for IFRS 16 will be
2019720

s |[FRS @ Financial Insiruments — The Trust daes not expect changes in the classification and measurement of
financial assets or Jiabiliies to have a material impact on the 2018419 accounts. The Trust does nol expect
changes in the impairment model for financial agsets to have a material impact on the 2018/19 accounts.

» IFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts with Customers - The Trust does not expect tha implementation of IFRS 15 to
have a material impact on recognition of NHS or other conlracl income in 2016/19

# IFRE 16 Leases - The Trust does expect that the implementation of ihis standard will have an impact on the
Statement of Financial Performance with regards to operating leases, Assets which are currently laased and are
material will ba recognised under property, plant and equipment on the Statement of Financial Postion,
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Note 2 Pooled Budgets

Morth Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust has a pooled budgel arrangement with City of Stoke on Trent
Council and with Staffordshire County Council. The Trust is the host for bath pooled budgets.

2017/18 Memorandum Account - City of Stoke on Trent Council Pooled Budget

Delegated Budgets

Expenditure
Pay
Non-Pay
Incame

Total Delegated Budgeis

Qverhead Contribution

Contribution to the Pool

MNorth Staffs Combined Gity of Sioke on Trent
Total Healthcare NHS Trust Council Contribution
£'000 £'000 £000
5,574 3,604 1,970
2,229 301 1,928
7.803 3,805 3,898
{(321) {7 (314)
7482 3,888 3584
T.482 3,586 3,504

2017/18 Memorandum Account - Staffordshire County Council Pooled Budget

Narth Staffs Combined Staffordshire Counly Council
Delegated Budgets Total Healthcare NHS Trust Contribution
£'000 E£'000 £000
Expenditure
Pay 3,140 2,162 878
Non-Pay 378 247 131
3,518 2,409 1,109
Income [6:137] (11} {55)
Total Delegated Budgets 3,452 2,308 1,054
Overhead Contribution - - -
Contribution to the Poal 3,452 2,398 1,054
18
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2016/17 Memorandum Account - City of Stoke on Trent Council Pooled Budget

Delegated Budgets

Expenditure
Pay
Non-Pay
Income

Tolal Delsgated Budgsts

Cwerhead Contribution

Contribution Lo the Pool

Nerth Staffs Combined City of Stoke on Trent
Total Healthcare NHS Trust Council Contribution
£'000 E£'000 £000
5693 31,740 1,958
1,994 342 1,652
7,692 4,082 3810
(321) {7) (314)
7,371 4,075 3,296
7,371 4,075 3,208

2016/17 Memorandum Account - Staffordshire County Council Pooled Budget

North Stafis Combined Staffordshire County Council
Dslegated Budgets Total Healthcare NHS Trust Contribution
£'000 £'000 £000
Expenditure
Pay 3,357 2,285 1,072
MNon-Pay 271 226 45
3,628 2.511 1117
Income {66) (1) {55)
Total Defagated Budgets 3,062 2,500 1,082
Cverhead Contribution - ~ =
Contribution to the Pool 3.062 2,500 1,062
20
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MWote 3 Operating Segments

The Trust Board as ‘Chief Operating Decision Maker hag determined that the Trust operates in one matenial
segment, which is the provision of healthcare services. The segmental reporting format reflects the Trust's
rmanagement and internal reporting structure.

The provision of heslithcare {induding medical treatment, research and education) is within one main geographical
segment, the United Kingdom, and materizlly from Depariments of HM Government in England.

Income from activities (medical treatment of patients) is analysed by customer type in hiote 4.2 \o the financial
statements on page 22. Other operating income is analysed in note 5 to the financial statements on page 23 and
materially consists of ravenues frorn heslthears research and development, medical education and the provision of
services 1o other NHS bodies. Total Income by individual customers within the whole of HM Government, and where
considered material, is disclosed in the related parties fransacton note 42 to the financial statements on page 55.

2017H18 201617

£000s £000s

Income 85,079 81,883
SumplusfDeficit)

Segment surplus/{deficit) - -

Common costs {79.372) (79,398)
Sumplusideficit) before interast 8,707 2,485
Net Assets:

Segment net assets 26,624 21,855
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Mote 4 Operating income from patient care activities

Note 4.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature) 2017H8 201847
£000 £000
Mental haglth services
Cost and volume contract income 3,387 2,343
Block contract income 60,331 59,296
Clinical partnerships providing mandstary services (including 575 agreements) 5,004 4,708
Clinieal income for the secondary commissioning of mandatory services 2,621 1,594
Other elinical income from mandatery services 1,467 2,604
Private patignt income 2 3
Total income from activities 72,812 70,651

Note 4.2 Income from patlent care activities {by source)

Income from patient care activities received from: 2017TH4A 20MM6MT7

£000 £000
NHS England 3,305 2343
Clinical commissioning groups 61,018 59 927
Departmeant of Health and Social Care - -
Other NHS providers 3 86
NHS other = =
Local authorities 6,885 5622
Nor-NHS: private patients 2 -

Non-NHS: overseas patients (chargeable to patient) - -
NHS injury scheme =

Non NHS: other 1,509 2573
Total income from activities 72,812 70,551
Of which:

Related to continuing operations 72,812 70,551

Related to discontinued operationg - -

Note 4.3 Overseas visilors {relating to patients charged directly by the provider)

201718 201617

£00D £000

Income recognised this year . -
Cagh payments received in-year . -
Amounts added to provision for impaiment of receivables 2 =
Amounts writien off in-year 5 =
Total tncome from Overseas visitors* e =

* Total income from Overseas visitors received in 201718 is £314 (201617 ENil)
22
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Note 5 Other operating income

Resaarch and developmaent
Education and training
Receipt of capital grants and donalions
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Non-palient care services to other bodies
Support from the Department of Health and Sacial Care for margers
Sustairability and transformation fund income
Rental ravanue from operating leases
Rental revenue from financa leases
Income in respect of staff costs where accounted an gross basis
Other income™
Total other operating income
Of which:
Related 1o continuing cperations
Related to discontinued operations

201718 2016M7
£000 £000
136 133
2,068 2,327
4,502 4,706
2,371 1,104
464 a1
2736 2,761
12,267 11,332
12,267 11,232

* Other income includes £9.2m in respect of the Improving Access 1o Psycholagical Therapies services, £0.4m extemnal
funding for projects, £0.4m relates to a non-recurrent setiernent with the PF1 service management company for
replacement of pipes in the main hospital, £0.1m related to social care residents, £0.1m to staff fease car contributions

and £0.5m refating to other funding.
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MNote 6 Operating expenses 20178 201617
£000 EQDD
Purchase of healthcare froim NHS and DHSC bodies 1875 1,538
Purchase of healthears from non-NHS and non-DHSC bodies 821 653
Staff and executive directors costs 58,844 59122
Remuneration of non-executive directors 66 60
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drugs costs) 175 128
Supplies and services - general 180 168
Drug costs 1,983 2014
Consultancy costs 551 749
Establishment (office operating costs) 793 810
Premises 1,611 1322
Information Technology 808 B44
Transport (including patient travel) 1,211 1,168
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment Ta1 885
Amortisation on intangible assets 61 13
Net impairments {190) 1173
Increasef/(decreass) in provision for impairment of receivables 87 8
Increasef(decrease) in other provisions 409 -
Change in provisiohs discount rate(s) 2 35
Audit fees payable to the external auditor
audit services- statutory audit 50 53
other auditor remuneration {external auditor only) 12 12
Internal audit costs 87 82
Clinical negligence K1E) 349
Legal fees 52 67
Education and training 262 522
Rentals under operating leases 882 B854
Early retirements 1 a7
Charges to cperating expenditure for on-SoFP IFRIC 12 schamas (e.g. PFI /LIFT)
on IFRS basis 4,242 4,093
Car parking & security 17 13
Hospitality ] 18
Losses, ex gratis & special payments 59 38
MNon=healthcare services received 422 487
Residentia! Payments 2,000 1,684
Subscriptions 364 240
Other* 771 437
Toial 79,372 79,388
Of which:
Related to continuing operations 79,372 79,398

Related to discontinued operations - -

* Other expenditure includes £0.3m relating to Partial Exemption Costs £0.3m, relating to Non NHS SLA's and £0.2m
relating to Other Expenditurs.

24

Towards Outstanding - Cur journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18 111



Morth Staffardshire Combined Healthears NHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017/18

Note 6.1 Other auditor remuneration

Other auditor remunsration paid to the external auditar:
1. Audit of accounts of any associate of the trust
2. Audit-related assurance services
3. Taxation compliance services
4, All taxation advisory senices not falling within item 3 above
5. Internal audit services
8. All azsurance services not falling within tems 1to 5
7. Conporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above
8. Other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above
Total

Nota 6.2 Limitation on auditors liabllbty

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2m (201647: E0m).

Nate 7 Impaiment of assets

Net Impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit regulting from:
Loss or damage from normal operations
Over specification of assets
Abandonment of assets in course of construction
Unforeseen obsolescence
Loss as a result of catestrophe
Changes in market price
Other
Total net impairments charged to operating surplus / deficit
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Total net impairments

201718 201617
£000 £000
12 12

12 12
2017118 201617
£000 £000
(190) 1,173
(190) 1,173

- 3,325

{150} 4,498

In 2016/ 7 the ravaluation of land and buildings resulted in an impairmant of £4.4m of which £3.3m was charged against

the revaluation reserve and £1.2m was charged to SoCl. In 2017418 the buildings were indexed resulting in an

indexation valuation of £0.9m of which £0.7m was recognised against the revaluation reserve and £0.2m charged to

50C| as an impaimment reversal,
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MNote 8 Employee benefits
2017M8 2016M7
Total Total
£000 £000
Salaries and wages 45,704 44,915
Social security costs 4,552 4,525
Apprenticeship levy 213 -
Ermployer's confributions to NHS pensions 5,847 5,801
Pansgion cost - other a4 61
Other post employment benefits . -
Other employment banefits - -
Termination benefits 58 -
Temporary staff 2645 3,929
Total gross staff costs 59,111 59,211
Recoveries in respect of secondad staff = -
Total staft costs 59,111 59,2391
Of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets 17 14

Nate 8.1 Retirements due to ill-health

Curing 2017/18 there were 2 early retiraments from the irust agreed on the grounds of ilkhealth (1 in the year ended 31
March 2017). The estimated additional pansion liabilives of these il-health retirements is £91k (E67k in 2016/17).

The cost of these ill-health retirements will be bome by the NHS Business Senvices Authority - Pensions Division,
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Note 9 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits
payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.phsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both
are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable
NHS badies to identify their share of the Underlying scheme asseis and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted
for as it it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as
equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.

1n order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial staterments do not differ maierially from thoss that
would be determined at the reporting date by a farmal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between
formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”, An outling of these follows:

a) Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carmed out annually by the scheme actuary {currently the Gavernment Acluary's
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utlises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting
period i conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as
providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March
2018, is based on valustion data as 31 March 2017, updated to 31 March 2013 with summary global member and
acoounting data. In underiaking this actuarizl assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM
interpretations, and the discounit rate prescribed by HM Treasury have alsa been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is cantained in the repont of the scheme actuary, which forms part
of the annusl NHS Pension Scheme Accounts, These accounts can be viewsd on the NHS Pensions website and are
published anrually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.

b} Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits dus undsr the schemes (taking
into account recent demagraphic experience), and to recornmend contribution rates payable by employees and
ernployers,

The last published acluarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31
March 2012, The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the Secretary of State
for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and employee and
employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
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Note 10 Operating leases
Note 10.1 Narth Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust as a lessor
The Trust is not a lessor

Note 10.2 Morth Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust as a lesses

This note discloses costs and commitments incurred in operating lease arrangements where North Staffordshire

Combined Healthcare NHS Trust is the lessee.

The Trust leases relate to contracts for lease vehicles, photocopiers and a humber of lsased pramises.

Renewals of leased premises confracts are subject to Board approval and photocopier renewals are made in line with
the Trusts purchasing and procurement arangements, There are no renewal aplions in respect of lzasa vehicles.

The Trust does not have a purchase option within any curent lease amangements.

Operating lease expanse
Minimum lease paymants
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments received

Total

Future minimum leage payments due:
= ot later than one year,
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years,
Total
Futura minimum sublease payments to be received

2017118 201617
£000 £000
882 B54
B2 854
21 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000
754 685
1,432 1,563

- 77

2,188 2,345
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Note 11 Finance income
Finance income represents inferest received on assefs and investments in the period.

201718 Wier

£000 £000

Intarest on bank acools 15 13
Inkerast an mpaired financial assels - -
Interest income on finance leases - -
Interest on other invesiments / financial assels - -
Other finance Income - -
Total 15 13

Noto 12 Finance expenditure
Finance expendiure rapresents nterest and other charges imvolved (n the bamowing of money.
2017118 201817

£000 £000
Interest expense:
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care - B
Other loans - -
Overdrafts . :
Finance leases - =
Interest on late payment of commercial debt - -
Main finance costs on PRl and LIFT schemes obligations 1,293 1327
Contingent finance costs on PFl and LIFT scheme obligations - =
Total interest axponse 1,293 1,327
Unwinding of discount on provisions (6] 3
Olher finance cosis A 4
Total finance costs 1,286 1,336
Note 12.1 The lete payment of commercisl debis finteragt) Act 1928 f Public
Contrazt Regulations 2045
Mo Nabilities have baen inournad for late payment of commercial debts.
Mate 13 Other galns f {losses) 201718 2016117
£000 £000
Gains on disposal of assels - 1583
Losses on disposal of assets - -
Tatal gang / losses] on digposal of assets - 153
Gains { {Josses) on foreign exchange - -
Fair value gains / {losses) on nvestment properties - -
Fair value gains { (lossas) en financial assels f nvesiments . -
Fair valye gaine / {losses) on financial liabiities B
Recychng gains f (lusses) on disposal of available-for-sale financial investments - S
Total other gains ! {(osses) - 153
9
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Note 14 Discontinued opsrations
201718 2016M7

£000 £000

Operating income of discontinued operations

Operating expenses of discontinued operations

Gain on dispesal of discontinued operations

{Loss) on disposal of discontinued operaticns

Corporation iax expense atiributable to discontinued operations
Total
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Note 16 Intangible Assets

Software Licences & Other

Note 16.1 Intangible assets - 2017/18 licences trademarks Patents Goodwill Websites (purchased) Total
£000 £000 £0D0 £000 £000 £000 £000

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 607 - - - - - 607
Transfers by absomption - - - - - - .
Additions 117 - - - = - 117
Impairments s 2 - - = -
Reversals of impairments " - - - - - .
Revaluations & s % = = z -
Reclassifications - - = - = = =
Transfers tof from assets held for sale = - - " » - -
Disposals / derecognition - - - = = o -
Gross cost at 31 March 2018 724 - - - - - 724
Amortisation at 1 Aprll 2047 - brought forward 386 - = a = " 136
Transfers by absomption - - 3 - - . -
Provided during the year 61 - - - - - 61
Impairments - - - - ) 35 -
Reversals of impairments - - - - - - -
Revaluations - a - - - " &
Reclassifications = - - i > Y =
Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - . -
Disposals / derecognition - - - - - - &
Amortisation at 31 March 2018 447 - - - - 5 447
Net book value at 31 March 2018 277 - - - - - 277
Net book value at 1 April 2017 221 - - - - % 221
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Note 15.2 Intangible assets - 201617

Software  Licences & Other
licences trademarks Patents Goodwill Websites (purchased) Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 €000
Valuation / gross costat 1 April 2016 - as previously

stated 380 - - - - B 390
Prior period adjustments - - “ - - - i
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2016 - restated 390 - - - - - 380
Transfers by absomtion > - = z = & <
Additions 217 & - “ " - 217
Impairments = L = = e = -
Reversals of impairments e = - 5 3 = =
Revaluations " # < = - - -
Reclassifications - = = 2 = = "
Transfers tof from assets held for sale - ~ - - = & &
Disposals / derecognition = - " - - - .
Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2017 607 - - - - - 807
Amgrtisation at 1 April 2016 - as previously stated 373 - - - - - 373
Prior period adjusiments - . - - . 5 -
Amortisation at 1 April 20186 - restated 373 - - - - - 373
Transfers by absomption . . = 75 = _ -
Provided during the year 13 - - - - x 13
Impaiments - e - = - “ -
Reversals of impaiments - % 7~ . s = -
Revaluations - - - - - - .
Reclassifications = = - " - = -
Transfers 1o/ from assets held for sale - = = & = s -
Disposals / derecognition - - - _ - 5 &
Amortisation at 31 March 2017 386 - - - - - 386
Net book value at 31 March 2017 221 - - - - - 221
Net book value at 1 April 2016 17 - - - - - 17
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Note 17 Property, Plant and Equipment

Buildings
excluding Assets under Plant& Transport Information Furniture &
Note 16.1 Property, plant and equipment - 20178 Land dwellings construction machinery equipment technology fittings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation/gross cost at 1 April 2017 - brought forward 5,604 22,350 - 431 156 2,297 127 30,965
Transfers by absorption : E = = = = = _
Additions - 322 1,809 121 24 495 106 2,876
Impaiments = = = = = - & -
Reversals of impainments - - - - - - - 5
Revaluations - 704 - - - - - 704
Reclassifications - (171) 171 = = = = .
Transfers tof from assets held for sale - - " - - - - -
Disposals / derecognition - = = = - = = -
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2018 5,604 23,205 1,980 552 180 2,792 232 34,545
Accumulated depreciation at 1 Aprll 2017 - brought
forward - 630 - 396 128 1,739 35 2,928
Transfers by absomption - - ” - - - “ .
Provided during the year - 474 . ) 10 278 10 781
Impaiments - - - " - - - -
Reversals of impairments - {190) - - - - - (190}
Revaluations s = = = : = Z a
Reclassifications - = - - o - - -
Transfers to / from assets held for sale - s - “ = = = “
Disposals / derscognition - - - = . = B =
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2018 - 914 - 405 138 2,017 45 3519
Net book value at 31 March 2018 5,604 22,291 1,980 147 42 75 187 3,026
Net book value at 1 April 2017 5,604 21,720 - 35 28 558 92 28,037
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Note 16.2 Property, plant and equipment - 201617

Bulldings
excluding Assets under Plant & Transport Information Fumiture &
Land dwellings construction machinery equipment technology fittings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2016 - as previously
stated 5,685 26,508 - 640 I 2,508 45 35,697
Prior period adjustments " - . - - - - =
Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2016 - restated 5,635 26,506 - 640 M3 2,508 45 35,697
Transfers by absorption - . - - - - . -
Additions - 1,791 - 27 - 462 a7 2,377
Impaiments (322) (6,023) - - - - - (6,345)
Reversals of impairments - = = 2 = - & -
Revaluations 241 76 = - . . - 317
Reclassifications - - B - - - - -
Transfers to / from assets held for sale - - - - - - - -
Digposals / derecognition - - - (236) {157) {673) (15) {1,081)
Valuation/gross cost at 31 March 2017 5,604 22,350 - 431 156 2,297 127 30,965
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2016 - as
previously stated - 1,87 - 618 2 2,166 45 4,971
Prior period adjustments = = = = i = - &
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2018 - restated B 1,871 - 618 271 2,166 45 4,971
Transfers by absorption - - - - = = - -
Provided during the year - 508 - 14 14 246 & 885
Impaiments - (1,847) - - - - - (1,847)
Reversals of impairments = = - - - - - -
Revaluaticns = s - = = 5 - &
Reclassifications - - - - = = - -
Transfers tof from assets held for sale - # - < . - - -
Disposals/ derecognition 5 - - (236) {157) {673} {15} {1,081}
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017 - €30 - 396 128 1,739 35 2,928
Net book value at 31 March 2017 5,604 21,720 - 35 28 558 92 28,037
Net book value at 1 April 2016 5,685 24,635 - 22 42 342 - 30,726
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Note 16.3 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2017/18

Net book value at 31 March 2018
Owned - purchased
Finance leased

0On-50FP PFI contracts and other service
concession arrangements

PFlresidual interests

Owned - government granted
Owned - donated

NBV total at 31 March 2018

Note 16.4 Property, plant and equipment financing - 2016/17

Net book value at 31 Mareh 2017
Owned - purchased
Finance leased

On-SoFP PFl contracts and other service
concession arrangements

PFI residual interests

Owned - government granted
Owned - donated

NBV total at 31 March 2017

Morth Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017718

Buildings
excluding Assets under Plant & Transport Information Furniture &
Land dwellings construction machinery equipment technology fittings Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
5604 8,087 - 147 42 775 187 14,842
- 14,204 1,960 - - - - 16,184
5,804 22,291 1,980 147 42 776 187 31,026
Buildings
excluding Assets under Flant & Transport Information  Furniture &
Land dwellings construction machinery equipment technology fittings Total
£000 E£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 E000
5,604 7,755 - 35 28 558 92 14,072
- 13,965 - - - - - 13,965
5,604 24,720 - 35 28 558 92 28,037
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Nole 17 Revaluations of praperty, plant and equipment

HM Treasury determined that NHS Trusts must value its assels to depreciated replacement cost value on a Modern
Equivalant Asset basis by 1 April 2010 at the latest. The Trust completed this valuation within the 2009/10 finandlal
year.

In order to ensure that the Trusts Land and Building assets are carried at fair value as at the Balance Sheet date the
Trust ensures an independent valuation is undertaken at least every 5 years supplemented by the application of
indexation annually.

A full independent valuaton, undertaken on the Trusts bahalf by Gushman & Wakefield and compliant with RICS
Valuaticn - Professionsl Standards 2014, was completed during the financial year with a valuation date of 20 June
2016. A property was subsaquently purchased which was valued st 31 March 2017,

The current value in existing use of the Trusts properties have primarily been derived using the depreciated
replacerment cost approach because the specialised nature of the asset means that there are no market transactions of
this type of atset except as part of the business of entity. The approach assumes that the asset would be replaced with
a modem equivalent, not a building of identical design, with the same service potential as 1he existing esset.

Following the revaluation of land and buildings at 30 June 2016, the Trust has applied the BICS All in TP (Tender Price
Indicator) rate of indexation to it's buildings of 4.3% as at 3181 March 2018, The land remains at the same value and
has not been indexed based on the understanding of logal market conditions. Land and buildings are held at fair value
at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Note 18 Investment Property
The Trust does not have any investment property

Note 19 Investments in associates and joint ventures
The Trust does not have any investrment in associates or joint ventures

Note 20 Other investments f financial assets {non-current)
The Trust does not have any other investments / financial assets (non-current)
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Note 21 Invantories

Drugs
Work In prograss
Consumables
Energy
Other
Total inventoriss
of which:
Held at fair value less costs to sell

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

£000
62

15
2

79

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £1,330k (20164 7: £1,3434),

Maote 22 Trade receivables and other receivablas

Currant
Trade receivables

Capital receivables {including accrued capital ralated income)

Accrued income
Prewision for impaired receivables
Deposis and advances
Prepayments (non-FFI)
PF| prepayments - capital contributions
PFI lifacycle prepayments
Interest receivable
Finanwe lease receivables
PDC dividend recaivable
VAT recaivable
Corporation and other taxes recevable
Other receivables
Total current trade and other receivables

Not=current
Trade receivables
Capital receivables
Accrued income
Provision for impaired recelvables
Deposils and advances
Prepayments {non-PFI)
PFl prapaymanis - capital contributions
FFI Mecycle prepayments
Interest receivable
Finance lease receivakbles
VAT recehable
Corporation and other taxes raceivable
Other receivables

Total non-current trade and other raceivables

QF which recelvables from NHS and DHSC group bodles;

Current
Non-current

31 March 2018
£000

2,137
713
2,863
{108}

550

17

174

T.347

B0B

am

£0:00
6%

34 March 2017
£000

2,798

Ty

33

_ 492

_ 148

5181

1,426

243
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Mate 22.1 Provision for impairmant of receivables

At 1 Aprll as previously stated
Transfers by absorption
Increase in provision
Amaunts utilised
Unused amounts reversed

At 31 March

201718 201617
£000 £000

k| 25

87 8

(1m =
108 k]

The Trust hag considered all debts outstanding for over a 90 day period and made an assessment regarding the likely
collectzbility of those debts. The Trust holds no collateral against those debts but considers them to be the best

agtimation of thair fair valua.

Naote 22.2 Cradit quality of financial assels

31 March 2018 31 March 2017

Investments Investmants

Trade and & Other Trade and & Other

other financial other financial

receivables assels receivables assots

Ageing of impaired financlal assets £000 £000 £000 E£000
0 - 30 days - - -
30-680 Days - -
80-90 days - - -
80~ 180 days - -
Cver 180 days 108 - 33 -
Total 109 - 33 -

Ageing of non-impaired financial assets past their due date

G- 30 days 408 - 805 L
30-60 Days 98 - 151 -
60-90 days 150 - 148 -
90- 180 days 214 » 174 -
Over 180 days 127 - 37 -
Total 997 - 1,115 -

The Trust holds no collateral against those debts but considers them 1o be the best estimation of their fair value,
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Note 23 Other assets

Currant
EU amigsions irading scheme allowancs
Other assets
Short term PFI finance lease asset

Total other current anssts

Non-currant
Net defined benefit pension scheme asset
Othar assets

Total other non-current assets

Note 24 Non-cumrent assets held for sale and assats in disposal groups

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets In disposal groups at 1 April
Transfers by absorption
Assets classified as available for sale in the year
Assets sold in year
Impainment of assets hald for sale
Reversal of impairment of assets held for sala

Agsets ne longer classified as held for sale, for reasons other than digpasal by sale
NBV af non-turmant agsats for sale and assats in disposal groups at 31 March

Note 24,1 Liabilities in disposal groups

Categorized as:
Provigions
Trade and other payables
Qther

Todal

3 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000

1,089 Be7
1,089 897
2017118 2018M7
£000 £000
- 2,198
- (211 sa)
2018 2017
£000 £000
35
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Note 25 Cash and cash equivalents

Cazh and cash equivalenis comprise cash at bank, in hand and cash equivalents. Gash equivalents are readily

convertible investments of known value which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

2016017
£000
7,803

7,903

(939}

6.964

201718
E0DO
At 1 April 6,964
Prior period adjustments -
At 1 April restated) 8,964
At start of period for new FTz -
Transfers by absomption -
Net changa in year {331)
Transfar o FT upon authorisation -
At 31 March 6,833
Broken down into:
9

Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service 6,624

6,955

Deposits with the National Loan Fund

5,364

Total cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP 8,633
Bank overdrafts (GBS and commercial banks) -
Total cagh and cash eguivalents as in SoCF 6,833

6,964

Note 25.1 Third party assets held by the trust

This relates to cash and cash equivalents held by the Trust on behalf of patients. This has been excluded from the cash

and cash equivalenis figure reporied in the accounts.

2017
£000
90

2018

E00D

Bank balances 108
Monies oh deposit -
109

Total third party assals
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MNote 26 Trade and other payables

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000
Current

Trade payables 2441 3,167

Capital payables 233 303

Agcruals 2,228 1,670

Receipts in advance {including payments on account) - -

Social security Gosts 664 656

VAT payables - -

Other taxes payable 434 515

PDC dividend payakble - 1

Accrued interest on loans - -

Ciher payables 795 785
Total current trade and other payables 6,855 7,087
MNon-current

Trade payables -

Capital payables = *

Accruals - -

Receipts in advance (including payments on account) - -

VAT payables - s

Other taxes payable -

Other payables - -
Total non-current trade and other payables - =
Of which payables from NHS and DHSC group bodies:

Current 1,495 1,149

Non-current . -
Note 26.1 Early retirements in NHS payables above
The payables note above includes amaounts in relation to early retirements as set out below:

31 March 31 March 231 March 31 March
2018 2018 2017 2017
£000 Number £000 Number
- {0 buy cut the liability for early retirements over 5
years - -
- number of cases involved - -
- putstanding pension contributions - -
Mota 27 Other financial liabilities
31 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 EGO0
Gurrent

Derivatives held at fair value through income and expenditure - 3

Other financial habilities - -
Total - -
Non-current

Derivatives held at fair value through income and expenditure - =

Other financial liabilites = 3
Total - -
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Note 28 Other liabifities

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000
Currant

Defarrad income a1 409
Deferred grants - -
PFI deferred income / credits - -
Lease incentives - -
Total other current liablilties 31 409

Non-current
Deferred income - -
Deferred grants - -

PFI deferred incorme / credits = 5
Leasa incentives . -
Net pension scheme liability s -
Total other non-current liabl|ities - =

Hote 28 Borrowings
31 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000

Current
Bank overdrafts = 5
Drawdown in committed facility 3 B
Loans from the Departrment of Health and Social Care - =
Other loans = -
Obligations under finance leases = -
PF] lifecycle replacement raceived in advance : .
Obligations under PFI, LIFT or other service Concession conracts (exd. lifecycle) 633 457

Total current bofrowings 633 457

Non-current
Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care - -
Other loans - -
Obligations under finance leases - -
PFI lifecycie replacerment received in advance - -
Qbligations under PFI, LIFT or other service concession contracts 11,557 12,188
Total non-current borrowings 11,557 12,108

Note 30 Finance leases
The Trust has no finance lease cbligations as a lessee or 4 lessor
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Note 31 Provisions for liabilities and charges analysis

Pensions - Equal Pay
early {including
departure Re- Continuing  Agenda for
costs Legal claims  structuring care Change} Redundancy Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 E£000 £000 £000 £000
At 1 April 2017 - 16 - - 157 6834 807
Transfers by absorption - - - - - - - -
Change in the discount rate “ - - % = - 2 2
Avrising during the ysar - 14 - - - 525 14 653
Utilised during the year - (10) - - - (80) (27) {(117)
Reclassified to liabilities held in disposal groups E - - - E - - -
Reversed unused - N B - - (84) {70) {161)
Unwinding of discount - - - - - - (5) {5}
At 31 March 2018 - 13 - . - 518 548 1,079
Expected timing of cash flows:
- not later than one year; - 13 B - E 518 21| 621
- later than one year and not later than five years; & - - - - - 286 286
- later than five years. = - - - - - 172 172
Total - 13 - . - 518 548 1,079

Other provisions (£0.5m) relate to the projected liabilities and charges arising in 2017/18 and beyond, in respact of injury benefits (£0.2m) and provisions related to Trust properties

{£0.3).
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Note 31.1 Clinical negligence labilities

At 31 March 2018, £327k was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in respect of dlinical negligence liabilities of

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Truet {31 March 2017: £1,985k).

Note 32 Contingent assets and liabilities

Value of contingent liabilities
NHS Regolution legal daims
Employment tribunal and other employee related liigation
Redundancy
Other
Gross value of contingent liabilities
Amounts recoverable againgt liabilities
Net value of contingent liabilitias
Net value of contingent assets

Note 33 Contractual capital commiimenis

Praperty, plant and aguipment
Intangible assets
Total

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000

(20) (24)
!20! !24[
(20) {24!

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
£000 £000

158 -
158 -

Capital commitments of £158k are all in relation to the construction of the Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit which is

expected io conclude in April 2018,

Note 34 Other financial commitments
The Trust has no other financial commitments
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# Note 35 Defined benefit pension achemes

Local Governmetit Pension Scherne (LGPS)

Some Trust employess performing social care functions are memibers of the Local Government Pension Schame (LGPS)
which i administered by the Stalfordshire County Pension Fund. The scherme provides members with defined benefits
relating to pay and service and the costs of the employers contributions is equal to the contributions paid to the funded
pension schame for these amployees.

The Funds comgrising the LGPS are muli-employer schemes and sach employers’ share af the asssts and liabilities can
be identified. Hence, for accounting purposes, the scheme is desmed o be a defined banefit scheme. The Trust
recognises the fair share of assets and present value of liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position (SOFP) as at the
reporting date.

The scheme has a full actuarial valuation at intarvals not axceeding three years with tha last review baing 31 March 20186,
1AS 19 requires that the present value of defined benefil abligations {and, #f applicable) the fair value of the scheme assets
to be determined with sufficient regularity to ensure thal the amounts recognised in financial statements do not diffar
materially from those determined at the reporting period date. In the intarvening years between the full actuarnial valuation
the value of the scheme obligations and expensea are measured by a series of key demographic and ottrer acluarial
assumptions as agread by tha Trust and an acluary acling on behalf of all member bodies.

In 2013714 a change to Accounting Standards (IAS 19) determines thal the Interest Cost on the defined pension cbilgation
and the expected returm on plan assets are combinad into a net figure. The axpacted return has bean replacad by a figure
that would be applicable if the expscted retum assumption was equal to a discount rate.

The discount rate is determined by reference to market yields at the end of the repoding period on high quality corporate
bonds. In 2017/18 t has been constructed based on the consfituents of the iBoxx A& corporate hond index.

Other assumptions used in calculating the liabilities and assets are as follows:

- The price inflalion will be derived from the yields avaikable on fixed interest and index linked government bonds.

- Pension increase assumpilions are linkad to the Consumer Price Index,

- Post retirement mertality assumptions are in ling with the Club Vita analysis camied out for the 31 March 2013 formal
valuation. These are a set of vita curves tailered to fit the membership proflie of the fund. Improvements have besn applied
in line with the CMI 2013 mode) assuming the rate of jongeyity improvements has reached a peak and will gonverge o a
long term rate of 1.25% pa,

- Salary growth is assumed to increase by 2.8% up to the peried ending 31 March 2018.

- Commutation sssumptions are that LGPS members exchange 50% of thair pansion for additional cash at retirement up
to HMRC limits for pre April 2008 sarvice and 75% lor service post Apiil 2008,

- Ofher demographic assumptions such as withdrawal from the schame and ilFheaktt early retirements are derived from
the latest assurnplions used within the most recent formal funding valuation,

The Trust recognises the net surplus/deficit scheme on the Statement of Financial Position {SOFF}. The camrying value of
this net surplus/deficil is the fair value of the schemes assetls allocatad to the Trust less the present value of the schemas
liakilities plus or minus the scheme remeasurement gains or losses.

Financial Assumptions
The hinancial assumptions used by the scheme acluary In calculating the liabilities and assets are as follows:

201718 201817 201516 2014418 201314
% P.A, % P.A, % P.A % PuA, % PA,
Pension Increase Rate Z.4% 2.4% 2.2% 2.4% 2.8%
Salary Increase Rate 25% 2.8% 4.2% 4.3% 4.68%
Distount Rate 2. 7% 2.6% 350 3.2% 4.3%
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Mortality Assumptions

Life expectancy is based on the Fund's VitaCurves with improvements In line with the CMI 2013 model assuming the
current rate of improvements has peaked and will converge to a long term rate of 1.26% p.a. The resultant average future

life expectancies at age €6 are:

Current Pensioners
Future Pensions

Higtoric mortality

The following life expectancies are based on the Fund's VitaCurves:

Period Ended

*-Mar-17

Male Female
221 years 24 4 yours
24.1 yoars 26.4 ymars

Prospective Pensioners

CMI 2013 made assuming the
current rate of improvement has
reached a peak and will
converge to a long term raie of

Analysis of fair value of plan assets

Asset Category

Equity Securities!
Consumer
Manufacturing

Energy & Utiliias
Financial institutions
Health & Cara
Information Technalogy
Other

Corporate Bonds
Private Equities

Real Estate - UK Properties

investment Funds & Unit Trusts:

Equities
Bonds
Hedge Funds
Qther

Cash & Cashr Egoivalents

Totals

Pansioners

CMI 2013 model assuming the
current rate of impravement has
reached a peak and will
cohverge ta a long term rate of

1.25% p.a. 1.25% p.a.
2017H3
Quoted prices  Quoted prices
in active not in active Percentage of
markets markets Total Total Assets

£000's £000's £000°s %
542 842 4%
522 522 4%
153 153 1%
507 507 4%
370 370 3%
a54 34 %
14 14 0%
B48 248 8%
a6h 365 3%

867 T 8%
5,005 5,006 47%
735 735 %
219 219 2%

323 323 3%

573 573 5%

10,624 1,874 12,497 100%
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2016M7
Quoted prices  Quoted prices
In active not In active Percentage of
Asset Category markets markets Total Total Assets
£000's £00D's £000's %
Equity Securities;
Consumer 827 a7 ™%
Manufacturing 713 713 §%
Energy & Ulilities 308 308 2%
Financial Instititions 825 az5 %
Healkth & Care G666 686 &%
Information Technology Ba5 B25 7%
Other 12 12 0%
Corporafe Bonds =11 915 %
Private Equities an 3091 3%
Real Estate - UK Properties 992 992 8%
investment Funds & Unit Trusts:
Equities 4,114 4,114 3%
Bonds 674 674 5%
Hedge Funds 242 242 2%
Other 184 184 1%
Cash & Cash Equivatents 819 610 5%
Totals 10,816 1,809 12,324 100%

Sensltivity to assumptions made

follows:
Approximate % increass to Approximate monetary value
Change in assumptions at 31 March 2018 defined benefit obligation £000's
0.5% decrease in Real Discount Rate 1M% 1,232
0.5% increase in the Salary Increase Rale 1% 56
0.5% increase in the Pension Increase Rate 10% 1,168
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Note 35.1 Changes In the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets during the year

201748 2016117

£000 E000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation at 1 April (11,427) {10,233)
Transfers by absorption - -
Current service cost (107 (86)
Interest cost {206) {363)
Contribution by plan participants {17 {22)

Remeasurament of the net definad henefit (liability} f asset.

- Actuarial (gains) / losses 236 (840)
Benefits paid 203 117
Present value of the defined benefit obligation ot 31 March (11,408) (11,427)

“For 2017/18 the remsasurement gain on liabilities amounted to £236,000 which represents 2% of the liability value,
For 2016/17 the remeasurement loss on liabilitiss smounted to £840,000 which represents 8% of the hability value.

Plan assets at fair value at 1 April 12,324 10,601
Transfers by normal absorption - -
Interest income 319 82
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit (liability) / asset

- Actuarizl gain / (losses) {36) 1,177

Confributions by the employey 76 59
Coniributions by the plan participanms 17 prrd
Benefits paid {203} {117)

Plan assets at fair value at 31 March 12497 12,324

Plan surplus/{deficit) at 31 March 1,089 §97

“For 2017/1B the remeasurement [0ss on assets amounted to £36,000 which represented 0.3% of asset value. The
2016417 remeasurement gain on assets amounted to £1,177,000 which represented 11% of asset value,

Note 35.2 Recenciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the present value of the plan
assets to the assets and liabilities recognisad in the balance sheet

31 March 31 March

2018 2017

£000 £000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation {11,408) {11420
Plan assets at fair value at 12,497 12,324
Fair value of any reimbursement right - -
The effect of the asset ceiling - -
Net (liability) / asset recognised in the SofP 1,089 897

Note 35.3 Amounts recognised in the SoCl

201718 201617

£000 £000

Current service cost (107) (98)
interest expense / income 23 19
Past service cost - -
Losses on curtailment and sattlemeant - -
Contributions by the employer 76 58
Total net {charge} / gain recognised in SOCI (B) {8)
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Note 36 On-SoFP PFI, LIFT or other service concession arrangements
The Trust has one on-Statement of Financial Position PFI obligation, Harplands Hospital.

Note 36.1 Imputed finance lease obligations

North Staffordshire Combined Heslthcare NHS Trust has the following obligations in respect of the finance lease

element of on-Statement of Financial Position PFl and LIFT schemes:

31 March 31 March
2018 2017
E£000 E000
Gross PFl, LIFT or other service concession liabilitios 24,755 23,505
Of which llabllities are due
- not later than one year, 1,872 1,750
- later than one year and not later than five years; 6,994 7,090
- |ater than five yaars. 12,800 14,665
Finance charges allocated ta future periods {9,666) (10,859}
Net PFl, LIFT or other service concession arrangement obligation 12,190 12,646
- ot later than one year, 633 457
- later than one year and not later than five years; 2,694 2,529
- later than five years. 8,863 § 660
Note 36.2 Total on-SoFP PFI, LIFT and other service concession arrangement commitments
Total future obligations under these or-SoFP achemes are as follows:
31 March 31 March
2018 2mz
£000 £000
Total future payments committed in respect of the PF, LIFT or other service
concassion arangements 59,894 62,072
Of which liabilities are due:
- not later than one year; 4318 4,158
- later than one year and not later than five years; 18,057 17,303
- later than five years. 37,519 40,611
Note 38.3 Analysis of amounts payable to service concession operator
This note provides an analysis of the trust's payments in 201741 8:
2017118 2016M7
£000 E000
Unitery payment payable to service concession operator 5,992 5,766
Consisting of:
- Interest charge 1,293 1,327
- Repayment of finance lease liability 457 348
- Senvice element and other charges to operating expenditure 4,242 4,093
- Capital lifecycle maintenance X =
- Revenue lifecycle maintenance < 5
= Contingent rent -
- Addition to lifecyele prepaymant -
Other amounts paid to operator due to a cammitment under the service concession
contract but not part of the unitary payment - -
Total amount paid to service concession operator 5,992 5,766
Note 37 Off-SoFP PFL, LIFT and other service concession arrangemants
The Trust does not have any off-Statement of Financial Position PFI obligations.
48
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Mote 38 Financial instruments

Note 33.1 Financial Aisk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 raquires disclosure of ine role that financial instruments have had during the petiod
in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. Becsuse of the confinuing service provider
selationship that the Trust has with Commissioners and the way those Commissioners are financed, the Trust is not
exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities. Also financial instruments play a much more limited
role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards
mainly apply. The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are
generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held 1o change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking
its activities.

The Trust's reasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined
farmally within the Trust's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the board of directors, Trust treasury
activity is subject 1o review by the Trust's internal auditors.

Currency risk

The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilitias being in the
UK and sterling based. The Trust has no everseas operations. The Trust thavafore has low exposure (o currency rate
fluctuations.

Interast rate risk

The Trust borrows from governmment for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS Improvement.
The borrowings are for 1 — 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interast is charged at the Nationsl
Laans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust therefore has low exposure 1o interest rate fluctuations.

The Trust may alsa botraw from govermment for revenue financing subject to approval by NHS Improvement. Interest
rates are confirmed by the Department of Health (the lender) at the poeint borrowing is undertaken. The Trust therefore
has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Cradit risk

Because the majority of the Trust’s revenue comes from contracts with siher public sector bodies, the Trust has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at 31 March 2018 are in réceivables from customers, as disclosed
in the trade and other receivables note.

Liquidity risk
The Trust's operating costs are incumed under contracts with primary care orgarisations, which are financed from

resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital expenditure from funds obiained within its prudential
porrowing limit. The Trust is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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Note 38.2 Carrying values of financial assets

Assets at
fair value
Loans and through the Heldto  Available- Total book
rateivables I&E maturity at for-gale value
£000 E000 £000 £000 £000
Assels as per SoFP as at 31 March 2018
Embedded derivatives - - - - -
Trade and other receivables exduding non
financial assets 7.213 - - 7.213
Other investments { financial asseis - - = -
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 6,633 - 6,633
Total at 31 March 2018 13,846 - - - 13,846
Assets at
fair value
Loans and through the Heldto  Available- Total ook
receivablez IZE  maturity for-gale value
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Aszsets as per SoFP as at 31 March 2017
Embedded derivatives - - - - -
Trade and other receivables axcluding non
financisl assets 6,115 - - - 6,115
Qther investments { financial assets - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 6,964 - - - 6,964
Total at 31 March 2017 13,079 - - - 13,079
Note 38.3 Carrying value of financial liabilities
Liabilitiss at
Other  fair valus
financial through the Taotal bock
liabilities 1&E valug
£000 £000 £000
Liabilities as per SofFF as at 31 March 2018
Embedded derivatives - - -
Bomowings exciuding finance lease and PFI liabilities - - B
Otligations under finance leases - - -
Obligatiors under PFI, LIFT and other service concession contracts 12,190 - 12,190
Trade and cther payables excluding non financial liabilities 5,697 - 5,697
Other financizl liabilities - - -
Provisions under contract - - -
Total at 31 March 2018 17,887 - 17,887
51
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Liabilities at
Other  fair value
financial throughthe Total book

labilities I&E velue
£000 £000 £000
Liabilities as per SoFP as at 39 March 2017

Embedded dervatives - - -
Bomowings excluding finance leaae and PF liabilities - - -
Obligations under finance leases - - -
Chbligations under PFI, LIFT and other sevvice concession contracts 12,646 - 12,646
Trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities 5,925 - 5,925
Qther financial liabllities - - -
Provisions under contract - - -
Total at 31 March 2017 18,571 - 18,671

31 March 31 March

Note 36.4 Maturity of financial labilities 218 w017

£000 £000

in one year orless 6,330 6,382
In more than cne year but not more than two years 633 633
In mora than two years but not more than five years 2,061 1,896
In more than five years 9,863 9,660
Total 17,887 18,571
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Nots 39 Losses and special payments

Lossas
Cash losses
Fruitless payments
Bad debis and claims abandoned
Stores losses and damage to property
Total losses
Spaclal payments

Compensation under court order or lagally binding
arbitration award

Extra-contractual paymeants

Ex-gratia payments

Special severance paymenis

Extra-statutory and extraregulatory payments
Total special payments
Total lossas and special paymentis

Compensation paymenms received

Note 40 Gifta

The Trust has no gifts over £300k that require disclosure.

201718 2016M7
Total Total

number of Total value number of Tatal value
CA58s of cases cases of cases
Numbear £000 Number £000

1 4] 3 0

1 0 3 a

10 ral 4 16

10 21 4 16

11 Fal 7 17

140 Towards Outstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18

53



North Staffordshire Combined Heasttheare NHS Trust Annual Sccounts 2017/18

Note 41 Related parties

During the year none of the Department of Health Ministers, Trust Board members, members of the key

management staff or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any malerial transactions with North

Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust,

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year Narth Staffordshire Combined Healthcare
NHS Trust has had a signifizant number of material transactions with the Dapariment, and with athar entities for

which the Department is regarded as the parent Depariment.

Stoke On Trent CCG

North Statfordshire CCG

West Midlands Specialised Commissioning Hub

Health Education England

South Staffordshire and Shropshire Healthcare NHS FT
Staffordshire and Stoke cn Treni Partnership NHS Trust
Department of Health

NHSE England Core

University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust
Staffard And Surrounds CCG

North Midlands Local Office

South Cheshire CCG

West Cheshire CCG

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

NHS Wiolverhampton CCG

Shropshire CCG

Eastern Cheshire CCG

Care Quality Commission

Salford Royal NHS Foundalion Trust

West Midlands Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

NHS Resdlution (formerdy NHS Litigation Authority)
Midlands & Lancashire CSU

Payments
to Related
Party

£'000

o oo o

948
374

2,081
108
40

=

=T =]

159

65
334
437
209

Recaipts
from
Related

Party
£'000

35,638

24 263

2818

2444

1,446

1,281

1275

2606

B39

472

418

170

144

109

B1

78

75

(= = R =

Amounts
owed to
Related

Party
£'000

496

119

0

314

122

36

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£'000
315
107
47
9
79
64
4
2,048
284
93
315

166

-

o o0 o000 NBO

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material fransactions with other govemment depariments and other
central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with City of Stoke on Trent Council and

Staffordshire County Gouncil.

City of Stoke on Trent Council
Staffordshire County Council

Payments

to Related

Party

£'000
286
120

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
5505
1,862

Amounts
owed to
Related

Party
£000
305
16

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
1,106
499
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The Trust has also received revenue payments from a number of charitable funds, certain of the Trustees for which
are slso mambers of the NHS Trust Boaard. Specifically the Trust is the corporate trustee of the North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust charily (registration number 1057 104) and exerclses contral over the transactions
of that charity.

However, in the context of the Trust the transactions of the Charity are deemed to be immaterial and therefore have
not been congolidated within these Accounts. The Summary Financial Statements of the Funds Held on Trust are
included in the Charity's Annual Report which s published under separate cover,

Note 42 Events after the reporting date

The Trust has no nen-adjusting evenis after the end of the reporting period to disclose.
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Note 43 Better Payment Practice code

2017118 201718 201617 2016M7
Number £000 Number £000
Non<NHS Payables
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 10,933 33,21 13,183 28,380
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 9527 31,663 11,610 27914
target B7.14% 95.31% 88.07% 55.01%
NHS§ Payables
Totel NHS trade invoices paid in the year 658 7.164 508 6,860
Tetal NHS trade invoices paid within target 575 6,258 459 6,385
Fercentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target B7. 255 a7 35% 090.95% 583.09%

The Better Payment Practice code requires the NHS body Lo aim to pay all valid invoices by the due dats or within 30
days of receipt of valid invoice, whichever is later.

Note 44 External financing

The trust is given an external financing imit against which it is permitied to underspend:

201718 2016M7
£000 £000
Cash flow financing (126) 582
Finance leases taken outin year
Other capital receipts
External financing requirement {126) §92
Exiernal financing limit (EFL) 422 977
Under / {over) spend against EFL 546 385
Note 45 Capital Resource Limit
201718 201617
£000 EJOD
Gross capital expenditure 29393 2,594
Less: Disposals - (2,198)
Less: Donated and granted capital additions - =
Plus: Loss on disposal of danated/grantsd assets = -
Charge against Capital Resource Limit 2,993 396
Capital Resource Limit 3,130 £689
Under { {over) apend apainst CRL 137 493
Note 48 Breakeven duty financial performance
201718
£000
Adjusted financial performance surplus / (deficit}
{control total basis) 3,683
Remove impairments scoring to Departrmental
Expenditure Limit -
Add back income for impact of 2018H1 7 post-accounts
STF reallocation -
Add back non-cash element of On-SoFP pension
scheme charges 8)
IFRIC 12 breakeaven adjustment 385

Breakeven duty financial perfformance surplus /
(deficit) 4,060

56

Towards Qutstanding - Our journey continues - Annual Report 2017/18 143



North Staffordshire Combined Healthcara NHS Trust Annual Accounts 2017/18

Note 47 Breakeven duty rolling assessment

Breakeven duty in-year financial performance

Breakeven duty cumulative position

Operating income

Cumulative breakeven position as a percentage of operating income
In-year breakeven position as a percentage of operating income

Breakeven perlod exceeds 0.5% of operating income

2008/09

200910

2010M1 201112 2012113 2013114 2014M5 201616 201617 201718

£000 £000 E£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
449 598 891 1,671 31 768 1,297 2,051 4,060

1,300 1,74¢ 2,447 3,338 5,008 5,040 5,808 7,105 9,156 13,216
- 90599 86,321 83063 79487 87471 75502 78,588 81,883 85079
0.00% 1.93% 2.83% 402% 6.30% 5.76% 7.69% 9.04% 11.18% 15.53%
0.00% 050% 0.81% 1.07% 240% 0.04% 1.02% 1.65% 2.50% 4.77%

e 201011 to 2015/16 - The Trust achieved a surplus due to nen-recurrent benefits and the IFRIC 12 adjustment, The Trust will continue to maintain a surplus over future years.

e 2016/17 - The intraduction of the control total required the Trust to deliver a £300k surplus (including IFRIC 12 adjustments). The Trust over performance against this target by
£47k due to non recurrent benefits. By delivering the control total the Trust received £1,104k in Sustainability and Transformation Funding. The Trust intends to continue to

achieve the control total in future years.

® 2017/18 - The Trust was required 1o deliver a control toial of £800k surplus (excluding IFRIC 12 adjustments). The Trust over performed against this target by £404k due to non-
recurrent benefits, By delivering the control total the Trust received £2,371k in Sustainability and Transformation Funding. The Trust intends to continue to achieve the control

total in future years.
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Message from the Chair and the Chief Executive

We are delighted to introduce this year’s Quality Account,
to look back with pride on another year of significant
success and achievement, to look forward with excitement
to the developments we are leading within the Trust, and
to celebrate our crucial partnerships with health and care
colleagues across Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

Care Quality Commission

In February, we were really pleased that the Care Quality
Commission rated every Combined Service as “Good”

or “Outstanding”. The results mean that at the time of
publication, Combined Healthcare was the highest rated
mental health trust across the Midlands and East of England,
and third highest in the country.

The CQC results also confirm that the Trust's journey of
improvement has continued — we were described last year
by the CQC as the fastest improving mental health trust in
the country.

To be able to continue to improve upon last year’s fantastic
results is something quite remarkable. It is a tribute to the
continuing sheer determination, talent, dedication and
ability of our fantastic staff. Particularly impressive was the
improvement of our Community CAMHS services who in
our first CQC inspection were rated Inadequate and now
have had all five domains rated as Good. Our Adult Rehab
services joined our Older Peoples Community services who
are now rated as Outstanding.

But we are not complacent and our journey of improvement
is continuing supported by our Towards Outstanding
Engagement programme. We will be continuing our

quality strategy to deliver Safe, Personalised, Accessible

and Recovery focused services based on integrated locality
working across North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

We are also proud that we have been chosen by the CQC
as a mental health exemplar and have been asked to share
our journey of improvement with other organisations.

Our key achievements

This Report sets out some of our key achievements in
improving the quality of our services. These include:

® 91% of staff in NHS staff survey believe the organisation
provides equal opportunities for career progression or
promotion

e Finalist in no less than four 2018 HSJ Value Awards -
including 2 out of only five finalists in mental health
category

e Significant improvement in CAMHS waiting times - Two
thirds of children and young people are seen for a first
assessment within four weeks - no child waits more than
18 weeks, 97% of children and young people start their
course of treatment within 18 weeks

e Among the very best performers in the country in Patient
Led Assessment of the Care Environment (PLACE) results.
Each of the six Trust sites inspected achieved 100%
perfect scores in one or more areas.

e First mental health Trust in the country to host NHS Chief
Executive Simon Stevens and the national NHS Executive
Team for their Regional Meeting

* 19 consecutive years of financial balance

e \Working closely with Keele University, achieving the
highest conversion rates to psychiatry training of any
medical school in England

e Average length of stay for new learning disability
admissions cut by 60%.

e Proud to be able to be called a Keele University Teaching
Trust

e Meir Partnership Care Hub winner of National Positive
Practice in Mental Health Collaboration - a user led multi
agency collaborative of 75 organisations, including NHS
trusts, clinical commissioning groups, the police, third
sector providers, frontline charities and service user
groups.
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Our key priorities

We continue to be committed to providing high quality
care for our service users and carers. We feel this is only
achievable by maintaining our partnerships across the
communities we serve.

During the year we have set out our plans to continue our
journey of improvement towards outstanding by moving to
more integrated services based on locality working across
North Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent. We are proud

to be a key part of the North Staffordshire and Stoke on
Trent Alliance — bringing together health and care providers
including mental health, primary care, community services,
acute services, social care and the voluntary sector.

We are also proud to play a leading role in the Together
We're Better Sustainability and Transformation Partnership.

Caroline Donovan
Chief Executive

Our clinical services will deliver collaborative models of care
and will reflect the needs of our service users and their
experience of care. We will achieve this by having an on-
going conversation with our service users and carers through
a variety of both formal and informal feedback mechanisms.
Our Open Space Event brought together over 50 of our
service users and carers to give us their views on how we
prioritise the specific approaches we take under our core
quality SPAR priorities and how we can expand the ways

in which service users and carers can get involved with the
Trust, building on the excellent work to date of the Service
User and Carer Council.

We hope you enjoy reading our Quality Account.

David Rogers
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Welcome to our Trust

North Staffordshire, Combined Health Care, NHS trust
was established in 1994 and provides mental health and
learning disability care to people predominantly living in
the city of Stoke-On-Trent and in North Staffordshire.
We provide services to people of all ages with a wide
range of mental health and learning disability needs.
Sometimes our service users need to spend time in
hospital, but much more often, we are able to provide
care in outpatients, community resource settings and in
people’s own homes.

We also provide specialist mental health services such as
Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS),
Our team of substance misuse services and psychological therapies,
1277 whole plus a range of clinical and non-clinical services to
' support University Hospital of North Midlands NHS Trust

time equivalent (UHNM).

<WTE) staff are We currently work from both hospital and community
committed to based premises, operating from approximately 30 sites.
T : Our main site is Harplands Hospital, which opened in
pl’OVIdIﬂg hlgh 2001 and provides the setting for most of our inpatient

standards of units.

quallty and safe Our team of 1277 whole time equivalent (WTE) staff are
services committed to providing high standards of quality and
safe services. We service a population of approximately
464,000 people from a variety of diverse communities
across Northern Staffordshire.

In 2017/18 the Trust achieved an adjusted
retained surplus (control total) of £3.68m
against an income of £85.1m. This is the
19th consecutive year the Trust has achieved
financial surplus.

For 2017/18, our main commissioners remained
the two Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) £
— North Staffordshire CCG and Stoke-on-Trent §
CCG. We also work very closely with the local
authorities in these areas in addition to our
other NHS partners.

We have close partnerships with agencies that
support people with mental health and learning
disability problems, such as Approach, ASIST, Brighter
Futures, Changes, EngAGE, North Staffordshire
Huntington'’s Disease Association, Mind, North Staffs
Carers Association, Reach and the Beth Johnson
Association.

The Trust Board, comprising the Chairman and five
non-executive directors, the Chief Executive and
six executive directors, leads our organisation. A
General Practitioner, Staff Side Representative and
the chair of our Service User and Carer Council
supplement the Board.

Further information regarding our purpose, vision
and values is contained in the Trust’s Annual Report,
which provides an overarching summary of the
Trust’s services and can be found on our website at
www.combined.nhs.uk

Staffordshire
Moorlands
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Welcome to our Quality Account

Welcome to our latest
Quality Account, which
covers the financial year
2017/18 — 1 April 2017 to
31 March 2018.

We produce a Quality Account each year, which is a
report to the public about the quality of services we
provide and demonstrates that we have processes in
place to regularly scrutinise all of our services. Patients,
carers, key partners and the general public use our
Quality Account to understand:

‘/ What our organisation is doing well

‘/ Where improvements in the quality of services we
provide are required

‘/ What our priorities for improvement are for the
coming year

‘/ How we have involved service users, staff and
others with an interest in our organisation in
determining these priorities for improvement.

We hope that you find this Quality Account helpful in
informing you about our work to date and our priorities
to improve services over the coming year.

We also look forward to your feedback, which will assist
us in improving the content and format of future Quality
Accounts. This can be given through the Trust’s website
www.combined.nhs.uk or by email to gualityaccount@
northstaffs.nhs.uk.

This Quality Account covers all six clinical directorates
provided by the Trust. During the period from 1 April
2017 to 31 March 2018, the Trust provided or sub-
contracted eight relevant health services - the trust
sub-contracts out to two non-NHS bodies in respect of
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Services covered by this Quality Account

improving access to psychological therapies (IAPT). The services we provide are shown below under our clinical structure.
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1.0 Statement on Quality

1.1 Our vision, values and objectives

Our core purpose is to improve the mental health and wellbeing of our local communities - some 464,000 people living
across Stoke-on-Trent and North Staffordshire.

Our strategy is to deliver an evidence-based model of care, which is appropriate to our service user needs and focuses on
wellbeing and ongoing recovery. We aim to be recognised as a centre of excellence, bringing innovative solutions to the
services we deliver and embedding a culture of continuous learning across our organisation. This is reflected in our vision,
values and objectives, as well as our focus on quality and safety.

Our Vision: “To be outstanding”

This will be achieved through seven key objectives:

Enhance service user and carer involvement

Provide the highest quality services

Create a learning culture to continually improve

Encourage, inspire and implement research and innovation at all levels
Attract and inspire the best people to work here

Maximise and use our resources intelligently and efficiently
Continually improve our partnership working

NouhkhwN =

Our values are:
Proud to CARE — Compassionate, Approachable, Responsible and Excellent.

These values are well-embedded and were developed by our staff and partners and will underpin everything we do
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Our Quality priorities are aligned to the four strands of quality known as SPAR:
e Our services will be consistently Safe.
e Our care will be Personalised to the individual needs of our service users.
e Our processes and structures will guarantee Access for service users and their carers.

e Our focus will be on the Recovery needs of those with mental illness.
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1.2 Trust Care Quality Commission Comprehensive Inspection

In February 2018 the CQC published their findings from their
unannounced and well led inspections which took place within the
Trust throughout October and November 2017. We are delighted to
have received an improved rating from the CQC with every one of our
services rated as ‘good’ or ‘outstanding. ’

Our Community CAMHS team made a significant improvement with
every CQC domain now rated as ‘good.’

Our Inpatient Rehabilitation services have also obtained a significant
achievement with both Florence House and Summers View obtaining
an overall rating of ‘outstanding.” They joined the Older Peoples’
Community Services who also have an ‘outstanding’ rating.

The CQC results confirmed that the Trust’s journey of improvement -
labelled last year by the CQC as the fastest improving mental health
trust in the country has continued. Amongst many compliments, the
CQC found:

® “The overall culture of the trust was very patient-centred. Staff
treated patients with dignity, respect and compassion and most
experienced high morale and motivation for their work.”

e “There had been significant improvement in the reduction of
waiting lists in the child and adolescent mental health services
and the adult community mental health services since the last
CQC inspection. All teams were meeting the national waiting time
standards.”

e “We found staff to be dedicated, kind, caring and patient focused.
The local management and leadership of services were both
knowledgeable and visible. Staff we talked to during inspection
spoke highly of their managers and told us that a more positive and
open culture had continued to develop since our last inspection.”

e “We were particularly impressed by the level of care offered
to patients in the long stay and rehabilitation wards and the
community based mental health services for older people, both of
which were rated Outstanding overall.”

To be able to continue to improve upon last year’s results is something
quite remarkable and the Trust recognises that this is due to the
determination, talent, dedication and ability of all our staff.

CQC highlighted several areas of ‘Outstanding’ practice
including:

e Acute Inpatient wards cohesive and knowledgeable
multidisciplinary team and the instigation of the acute care pathway
ensured that a wide range of activities, therapies and interventions
were available to actively engage patients and carers, which
reduced the amount of time patients needed to stay in hospital.

* Rehabilitation Inpatient units introduction of a support time and
recovery worker who normally worked within a community team
to the units has enhanced the community programme offered to
patients.

e Adult Community Mental Health Services - The early
intervention team had worked with service users to develop a
specific dual diagnosis pathway for people who used drugs and
alcohol and experienced psychosis. They had developed a set of
‘change cards’ to assess where people were in the cycle of change
so that they could assess the most suitable interventions for
patients.

e Specialist CAMHS Community Services - the service recently
launched a new mental health and wellbeing strategy in schools
across Stoke-on-Trent.

e Inpatient Wards for Older People - The service manager had led
on a project to identify causes of delayed transfers of care from the
service alongside commissioners, local authority and NHS partners.
An action plan had been in put in place that had reduced the
numbers of patients delayed in their discharge. They had also linked
local actions into a broader local health and social care effort to
improve the care experience of older adults throughout Stoke and
North Staffordshire.

The journey of improvement is set to continue and is aligned with the
quality strategy to deliver Safe, Personalised, Accessible and Recovery
focused services based on integrated locality working across North
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent.

One of the areas of improvement that we have focused our intention
on is the approach to medicines management. The CQC identified
some issues with management of topical medicines and fridge
temperature monitoring under the Safe domain.

In addition to the Inspection results the Community CAMHS Team have
been spotlighted in the latest edition of the CQC regional publication
highlighting great practice and innovation.
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The Trust is also proud to have been chosen by the CQC as a national
mental health exemplar and is delighted to have the opportunity to
share our journey of improvement with other organisations.

All core services have comprehensive improvement plans in place to
address the areas noted in the CQC reports and to date significant
progress has been made with many of the ‘must’ and ‘should’ do
requirements being addressed and rated as ‘complete’ following a
robust assurance process through our performance management
arrangements.

Summary CQC Rating Table: Detailed CQC Rating Table:

Requires £
Safe? Safe Effectve Canng  Responsive  Well led Overall
Acute wards for adults of Requires
working age and . Good Good Good Good Cood
Effective? Good psychatnc intensive care Rl RlUC L

Onldir\dh:dghscmt _ ~
Caring? et mantal health wards Good Good Good Good Gaod Good

: Community mental health
Respansive? Good services for peo Good Good Good Good Cood Good
leaming disabilites or
autism

2 Good Commurity-based mental Regqusres
Well led: i [:‘Blﬁ'b services for adults  § Cood Good Good Good Good
working age improvement

Commursty-based mental Outstanding| [Outstanding Outstanding
health services for older Cood G Good

Long stay/rehabildaton Outstandi n i
Al Pl yods Cood Good gnding| |Ouestzncing] [N (COvr=tnding
workng age adults ﬁ ﬁ 1}

Mental health criss
sennices and health-based
places of safety

-]
S
T
[

Wards for e with 5 .
leaming ites or Good Good Cood Good Good Good
autizm

Speciaiist community
mental health services for
cheldren and young people

Substance mesuse
e
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1.3 Quality of Services - Key achievements at a glance

Quality of Care

We are committed to providing safe mental health services that are of
the highest quality. Safety and quality drive our improvement agenda
and each year we set out quality priorities that are agreed with service
users and carers. Improvements during 2017/18 include:

Under ‘Safe’ we have:

In the 2017 CQC inspection all core services were rated as
‘good’ or ‘outstanding’. Furthermore all ‘must do’ and ‘should
do’ requirements from CQC from 2016 have been addressed.
Additionally all core services have comprehensive improvement
plans in place to address the areas identified in the 2017 CQC
inspection and to date significant progress has been made with
many of the ‘must do’ and ‘should do’ requirements being
addressed and rated as complete. We will continue this robust
assurance process through our performance management
arrangements.

/ In terms of improved physical health monitoring, clinical staff
received physical health training including recognition of the
deteriorating patient in relation to the onset of sepsis as part of
mandatory training. The National Early Warning Scoring (NEWS)
tool has also been implemented within inpatient areas. Following
these initiatives there has been a reduction in our inpatients
being transferred to the local acute hospital.

‘/ Commenced our journey towards being a smoke free
organisation with in-patient areas going smoke-free from April
2018.

‘/ For the second year running the flu vaccination campaign
achieved the national target of at least 70% frontline staff
receiving the vaccination.

‘/ Compliance with physical health monitoring and recording
post rapid tranquilisation is monitored through monthly review
of incidents and subsequent completion of physical health
monitoring; the Inpatient Safety Matrix demonstrated 100%
compliance in Q4

v

v

The Trust Suicide Prevention Strategy was implemented
during 2017/18. As part of this strategy we have worked in
collaboration with Public Health with the aim of reducing
suicides in the local area.

Continued to facilitate the ‘living well with risk group’ to embed
the Suicide Prevention strategy and ensure collaboration with
people with lived experience.

Embedded unannounced assurance visits to in-patient wards
with quarterly reporting to the Quality Committee and Trust
Board.

Agreed a plan for further investment in environmental ligature
improvements in accordance with 2016/19 plan. Introduced
an acute care pathway on adult inpatient wards the impact of
which has seen a reduction in the length of stay

Implementation of an assurance framework and strategy for
Infection Prevention & Control (IPC). This forms part of the
governance around IPC with quarterly and annual IPC report to
the Board of Directors.
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Under 'Personalised’ we have:

v

v
v

v

Where possible we have continued to involve family/carers to
ensure that their views are incorporated into risk management
plans, highlighting any protective factors that these relationships
provide.

The Service User and Carer Council (SUCC) have engaged with
the development of the Person Centeredness Framework.

We have representation from service user and carer’s across a
range of trust business and activity; including interviewing new
recruits, co-facilitating a wide range of events, attending various
committees including People, Culture and Development, Quality,
Finance, Performance and Digital and Business Development.

Worked with our service users, carers and staff to develop a
Person Centeredness Framework; the overarching principles have

been agreed and the framework will be implemented in 2018/19.

Under ‘Accessible’ we have:

v
v
v

Across Staffordshire,commenced the process to procure a single
integrated care record; a project led by the Chief Executive on
behalf of the STP.

The chair of the SUCC is a full member of the Trust Board
The service user and engagement strategy has been refreshed in
partnership with the SUCC.

We have ensured that there is a service user and carer
representative at the mental health sustainability and
transformation plans (STP) board.

When preparing for the 2016/17 AGM, the finance team
developed an animated video to present the accounts in a way
that was easy to understand, which fully supported staff and
service users to understand how we spend our money to deliver
the best patient care. Many viewers said it was the first year they
genuinely understood the numbers.

v
v

v

Under

v

v

\

A psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) has been built and we are
currently recruiting the staff team.

Achieved 92% compliance with national waiting times targets
and 18 week waits for definitive treatment for all services.

Worked in collaboration with primary care and the University
Hospital of North Midlands (UHNM) to become improve
accessibility to patients through the use of video consultation in
the Neuropsychiatry and Older Persons directorate. This will be
carried forward in 2018/19 with pilots in 2 further directorates.

we have:

Developed a prototype for an app that promotes recovery from
depression, encourage hope and help seeking behaviour at the
point of personal crisis.

Work has commenced in developing a network of peer support
workers and peer support worker strategy is being developed.

To support recovery we have progressed the development

of a well-being academy (recovery college) establishing a
collaboration with the voluntary sector with plans in place for a
virtual and physical resource.

Agreed a contract for the extension of the FLO and autographer
innovation to develop a self-managed integrated care pathway
for dementia patients.

Ensured care plans are completed with individuals and are
recovery focussed.

Strengthened to develop evidence based psychological
interventions in adult acute wards.
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1.4 Building Capacity and Capability

During the year the Board membership has been refreshed and further
enhanced with the appointment of a new Director of Workforce,
Organisational Development and Communications, Director of
Operations and new Non-Executive Director. A GP Associate Board
member continues to give strength and support to the Board from

a primary care perspective. The Chair of the Service User and Carer
Council is also a full member of the Board to strengthen decisions
made and which are service user focussed.

The Board has a wide range of experience and skills to provide
effective leadership. As part of the Board Development Programme
we have undertaken a Board skills assessment.

A core component of the development programme is to ensure

that all board members have a focus on their own and collective
leadership style and also to have a focus on continuous improvement
in order to deliver the highest quality, safe services for our community,
within resources available. During 2017/18, the Trust strengthened

its approach to Board Development, participating in the Advancing
Quality Alliance programme (AQuA) and linking this through to
leadership and service development across the wider Trust through the
Leadership Academy.

As part of a review of its effectiveness, the Board undertook a full
evaluation of its effectiveness with the support of AQUA against
the NHSI well-led framework and CQC Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs)
in preparation for a full well-led review undertaken by the CQC in
November 2017.
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1.5 Workforce

We employ 1,286 (WTE) substantive staff, with the majority providing
professional healthcare directly to service users. We also have an active
staff bank which supports our substantive workforce. We have recently
strengthened our Temporary Staffing service to allow a greater
provision and flexible staffing model which is more adaptive to service
needs and removes wherever possible the need for agency provision.
This has resulted in our use of agency staff to fulfil ‘core’ operations as
being one of the lowest rates of any NHS Trust in the country.

We recognise that our workforce are our greatest asset and we
continue to develop our staff and the culture within which they work,
to enhance service users’ experience, improve performance and
increase staff engagement.

Our People and Culture Development Committee meets six times a
year and has a transformational approach to the workforce agenda.

We focus on:

Cultural Development
Towards Outstanding Engagement:

We have been on a journey of staff engagement for 4 years, starting
with the introduction of Listening into Action (LiA) which was a Trust
wide approach to engagement, creating excellent demonstrable
results. LiA was really successful at creating change through the
engagement and involvement of staff, service users and carers and
helping to influence staff engagement culture at an organisational
level. This saw the Trust improve its staff survey engagement scores
from being one of the lowest scoring Mental Health Trusts, to being
in the top quartile in 2016/17and also recording average or above
average in over 80% of the findings.

The introduction of Towards Outstanding Engagement in April 2017
has enabled the Trust to take our next step in our engagement
journey. The approach is evidence-based, and won multiple awards

for its implementation and success in numerous NHS organisations. It
provides us with the ability within the organisation to measure and use
diagnostics to gauge trends, hotspots, carry out appreciative enquiry
and target engagement activity where it is going to have most impact.
It helps to influence and change engagement culture at a team level.

By developing both organisational and team engagement cultures
through LiA and the recent introduction of the Towards Outstanding
Engagement Programme, we are priming the organisation for the next
stage in our journey, which will see the development and introduction
of a Trust approach to service improvement.

Improving team engagement, results in better performing teams,
which ultimately improves the quality of care we provide to our
service users. The delivery of Cohort 1 has been a major success in
helping to improve staff engagement with 12 of the 16 teams who
took part increasing their engagement scores. We have already seen
changes to ways of working and the start of culture change within
teams, with most teams seeing significant change at a time when the
Trust average engagement score and seen a slight dip.

For those teams that have seen a slight decrease, despite effort to
improve their team engagement, we will continue to provide close
support during this transition to seeing a positive impact on team

engagement. Cohort 2 of Towards Outstanding Engagement will

commence later in the year.

Health and Wellbeing:

Fostering a positive culture that supports the health and wellbeing of
our workforce is of great importance. Significant progress has been
made this year by focusing on a variety of Health and Wellbeing
initiatives for our staff including the initiation of a Health and
Wellbeing Steering Group which has led to the development of a
number of health and wellbeing initiatives including healthy eating
education, our winter flu fighter campaign, the introduction of a
Physio fast track service and Pilates sessions which staff are invited to
attend.

Our Wellbeing Wednesday and Feel Good Friday initiative has
continued to be a great success and encompassed a wide variety
of Health and Wellbeing topics including Staff Counselling services,
Occupational Health surveillance checks, Staff Side advice and HR
workshops. This initiative has been extremely well received with
many staff
reporting taking
positive actions
to improve
their health

and wellbeing.
Such initiatives
demonstrate
our continued
commitment

to supporting

a healthy
workforce and
proactive stress
management and resilience.
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Diversity & Inclusion:

2017/18 has been an extremely important year for the Trust in terms
of advancing equality, diversity and inclusion within the organisation
and beyond with lots more work planned for the coming year with
a specific focus on improving the experience of working here for our
BAME staff and embedding the EQIA process.

Some of our key achievements for 2017- 2018 are listed below:

e April 2017: Trust appointed as an NHS Employers Diversity and
Inclusion Partners Programme Diversity Champion

e May 2017: We held our first Trust LGBT (Lesbian, Gay, Bi and
Trans) Focus Groups for service users and staff facilitated by Abby
Crawford from Stonewall and were also presented with an award
from Deafvibe for the work of the Trust's Deaf Awareness Group in
raising awareness, and developing access and experience for service
users who are deaf or hearing impaired.

e May 2017: the Trust established links with the local Stoke Sikh
Gurdwara and was presented with an award at the Vaisakhi
celebrations; this has led to continued collaboration and
partnership working throughout the year

e June 2017: We held our highly acclaimed Staffordshire Symphony
of Hidden Voices inclusion conference that aimed to ‘show not tell’
people what inclusion is through the power of personal stories

e July 2017: The Trust’s Diversity and Inclusion Group were runners
up in the Trust REACH Awards for the Team of the Year Award

e September 2017: Trust spirituality garden opened with daily access
for service users, carers, other visitors and staff — thanks to a
generous grant of £12,000 from the Tesco Bags of Help fund.

e October 2017: We launched our Trust BAME Staff Network, led by
Cherelle Laryea, Trainee Clinical Psychologist and held ‘Afternoon
Tea with the Director of Nursing’ sessions held for BAME staff

e December 2017: Trust awarded £50,000 funding to deliver a
Staffordshire NHS BAME Leadership Programme (programme will
be delivered in 2018-19)

e February 2018: Trust established links with Stoke Central Mosque
and agreement to work in collaboration going forwards and praised
by the local Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) for the work the
Trust has done in developing diversity and inclusion

Proactive stress management and resilience approach:

Through our Staff Counselling and Support service, we provide a vast
range of services including preventative and responsive mechanisms
of support. In supporting increased resilience, the service works

to identify stress flash points and provide debrief sessions for staff
following incidents.

Leadership and management development:

Our People Management Programme is a modular scheme that
develops our managers and aspiring managers in multiple aspects of
their management competency. This programme has been extended
to include new subject areas to support our managers and aspiring
managers.

We have continued to work with our leaders through our Leadership
Academy with the programme of events focussing on key strategic
topics that are aligned to our Board Development Programme.

Leading with Compassion:

This is a scheme whereby there is a central point (electronic and paper
version) where staff, patients and carers are able to recognise someone
who they believe has demonstrated leading with compassion.

Every nominated person will receive a Trust designed personalised
badge and card. We will gather nominations and theme into the
different ways in which compassion was shown. We have created
an NHS compassion website www.nhscompassion.org incorporating
a video which gives an overview of the scheme and some of the
evidence behind why it is important.

Staff and patients have nominated staff across all clinical and non-
clinical areas resulting in 774 nominations from across the Trust.
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Recruitment and Retention:

Recruitment and retention continues to be a major focus for the Trust.
Along with many NHS Trusts due to a national workforce shortage,
Nursing and Medical recruitment remains a challenge. A number

of strategies have been adopted to support attracting potential
candidates including Apprenticeships, the development of new

roles, enhanced media campaigns and one stop shop recruitment
campaigns.

To further support the timely recruitment of our workforce the Trust
recently introduced an enhanced electronic appointment system called
TRAC. Although in its early stages significant progress continues to
made to reduce the time taken to recruit new staff.

Learning Management:

We have recently launched our new Learning Management System
(LMS) where every staff member has their own account. This enables
our staff to easily access and complete e learning and to book onto
classes. The LMS reminds people when they are due to complete
regular education sessions and advertises new opportunities directly
to staff and delivers real time reporting to all managers across the
Trust. This has proved to be an efficient and responsive system,
driving up standards whilst allowing us to launch a raft of education
opportunities enhancing our preventative and proactive capabilities.
As a consequence we have seen month on month improvements in
mandatory education and staff accessing e learning development
opportunites.

Apprenticeships and New Roles:

We offer a range of apprenticeships and apprentice qualifications

at different levels to enhance skills with the Trust, support talent
management and draw maximum benefit from the funding available.
We understand our current staff qualification levels to further enhance
the skills of the workforce through apprentice qualifications and are
developing new roles and pathways to enable staff to progress their
career examples include the development of Assistant Practitioner,
Nurse Associate Roles and Apprentice Nurses. We are doing this by
working with partner organisations to maximise our buying potential
with Approved Training Providers.

Staff Awards:

We acknowledge and reward staff through our annual Recognising
Excellence and Achievement in Combined Healthcare (REACH)
Awards and ‘spotlight’ the efforts of an individual and a team at our
public Trust Board meetings.

Listening to Staff:

Our CEQO’s blog is read widely and strengthens openness and
honesty as part of our drive for authentic leadership. We have well-
established means of listening and responding to staff, including
the appointment of our Freedom to Speak up Guardian, and the
Dear Caroline initiative which provides all staff with access to our
Chief Executive to anonymously raise any issues, concerns, service
suggestions and compliments.

The National NHS Staff Survey provides us with an annual opportunity
both to monitor changes in what it feels like to work for the Trust
over time and to benchmark against other mental health trusts.

Members of the Board also visit teams on a monthly basis for
informal Q&A sessions, giving staff an opportunity to share in
successes in their services as well as discussing challenges with a
Board member. This has proven to be a great way of developing two-
way conversations and empowering staff to raise issues of concern.

Research shows that trusts with stronger staff recommendation
scores are also found to have stronger outcomes in terms of quality
of patient care and experience.
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1.6 Quality of Services - Key Priorities 2017/18

Looking forward, we continue to be committed to providing high
quality care for our service users and carers. We feel this is only
achievable by maintaining our partnership across the communities we
serve. Our clinical services will deliver models of care and will reflect
the needs of our service users and their experience of care. We will
achieve this by having an on-going conversation with our service users
and carers through a variety of both formal and informal feedback
mechanisms.

We will commit to building on our quality systems and learning from
CQC inspections to ensure a continuous programme of improvement.
Following October 2017's CQC inspection we have continued to
review areas for improvement through the on-going development of
comprehensive improvement plans and will work in partnership with
service users, the CCQ, carers and other key stakeholders to implement
and sustain improvements.

We are committed and ambitious in our endeavour to provide the
highest quality mental health services. Our board’s business is driven by
the quality plan as defined by our four on-going priorities, known as
SPAR:
e Our services will be consistently SAFE
e Our care will be PERSONALISED to the individual needs of our
service users
e Our processes and structures will guarantee ACCESS for service
users and their carers
e Our focus will be on the
health illnesses.

needs of those with mental

In summary our quality priorities for 2018/19 include:

Safe:
e Dual Diagnosis pathway
e Zero Suicide ambition
* Improve physical health by being a Smoke-Free Trust
® 100% achievement of CQUIN schemes
e Transition between services
e SPAR wards accreditation framework
e Continued investment in environmental ligature
improvements
e Auditing Sepsis compliance
e Falls prevention
e Flu vaccination campaign
e Improved medicines management
e Community Safety Matrix
* PLACE programme
e Audit prone restraint and benchmark nationally

Personalised:
* Implement Person Centredness Framework
* Implement restraint reduction strategy
e Patient control to access their own electronic patient record
e Mental Health Law
e Roll out therapeutic observation Quality Improvement project

Accessible:

* Improve access to services

e Reduce out of area placements and reduce delays in transfers of
care

e CAMHS digital exemplar

e Achieve 100% compliance with 3 hour assessment target for
service users entering the Place of Safety

e Use of video consultation

¢ \Wellbeing Academy

e Peer mentor, volunteers and employment opportunities for people
with lived experience

e Towards Outstanding service user environments

e Unannounced assurance visits to Community Teams

Further details are within Section 2.2
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1.7 Trust Statement

We are pleased to publish this quality account for the financial

year 2017/18 (1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018). It re-confirms our
commitment to continually drive improvements in services and to
remain transparent and accountable to the general public, patients,
commissioners, key stake holders and those that regulate our
services.

To ensure our quality account covers the priority areas important
to local people we have consulted with our key stakeholders in the
voluntary and statutory sectors, with local authorities and with our
staff. Their valuable comments have been listened to and, where
appropriate, have been incorporated into this document to help
strengthen involvement in our services going forwards.

In line with the recommendation of the Francis inquiry, this Quality
Account is signed by all trust board members to provide assurance
that this is a true and accurate account of the quality of services
provided by North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS trust.

We can confirm that we have seen the quality account, that we

are happy with the accuracy of the data reported, are aware of the
quality of the NHS services provided and understand where the trust
needs to improve the services it delivers.

Name and Position

David Rogers, Chair

Signature

21% June 2018

Tony Gadsby, Non-Executive

215 June 2018

Patrick Sullivan, Non-Executive

21t June 2018

Lorien Barber, Non-Executive

215 June 2018

Joan Walley, Non-Executive

215 June 2018

Gan Mahadea, Non-Executive

215 June 2018

Caroline Donovan, Chief
Executive

21t June 2018

Dr Buki Adeyemo, Executive
Medical Director

215 June 2018

Suzanne Robinson, Executive
Director of Finance, Performance
and Digital

215 June 2018

Maria Nelligan, Executive
Director of Nursing & Quality

21t June 2018

Alex Brett, Director of Workforce,
Organisational Development and
Communications

Jonathan O’Brien, Executive
Director of Operations

21t June 2018

21% June 2018

Andrew Hughes, Director of
Strategy and Development

21 June 2018

Keith Tattum, GP Associate

21% June 2018

Wendy Dutton, Chair of Service

User and Carer Council

21% June 2018
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Statement of director’s responsibilities in respect of the Quality
Account

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare a
Quality Account for each financial year. The department of health
has issued guidance on the form and content of the annual Quality
Account (which incorporates the legal requirements in the health act
2009 and the National Health Service (Quality Account) regulations
2010 (as amended by the National Health Service (Quality Account)
Amendment Regulations 2011).

In preparing the Quality Account, directors are required to take steps to
satisfying themselves that:
® The Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the Trust’s
performance over the period covered
® The performance information reported in the Quality Account is
reliable and accurate
e There are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting
of the measures of performance included in the Quality Account
and these controls are subject to review to confirm that they are
working effectively in practice
¢ The data underpinning the measures of performance reported in
the Quality Account is robust and reliable, conforms to specified
data quality standards and prescribed definitions and this subject to
appropriate scrutiny and review
e The Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with
Department of Health guidance
¢ The directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and
belief, they have complied with the above requirements in
preparing the Quality Account

David Rogers Caroline Donovan
Chair Chief Executive
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2.0 PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT
(LOOKING FORWARD) AND STATEMENTS
OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD

2.1 Plans for Improvement:

Engaging our partners and stakeholders

In any year, trusts have a number of competing priorities in terms

of improving service delivery, providing value for money and good
quality service provision. We are committed to working collaboratively
with a range of partners and as such have included partners in the
development and publication of this Quality Account.

Performance Quality Monitoring Framework.

This Quality Account is underpinned by a comprehensive performance
monitoring framework (PQMF), which monitors the quality of services
we provide. It also provides detailed information on other key
performance indicators concerned with access and outcomes.

Where performance or quality metrics are not on target, clinical
directorates provide rectification plans, including action planning,
for performance review by the trust executives. The PQMF enables

granular reporting of weekly and monthly dashboard reports to clinical
teams and trust committees, with an overview maintained by the Trust

Board.

Monthly clinical dashboards have been enhanced to provide better

visualisation of the most important performance measures and quality

indicators, thereby enabling trends to be more easily identified. Key
priorities are reviewed to ensure that the pressing indicators of quality
are in focus. The review of individual clinical teams’ compliance with

CQC and Mental Health Act standards continued during the year, with

results being used to drive improvements in the services provided to
patients.

The Trust uses local and national benchmarking information to add
intelligence and insight to our performance management processes.
Benchmarking enables the performance of the directorates to be
analysed and they are supported in identifying how improvement in
quality, productivity and efficiency can be achieved. Benchmarking
with others will also help to determine how the trust will become
outstanding in areas. The Trust remains a key member of the NHS
mental health benchmarking reference group.

The Trust’s quality committee continued to actively monitor the quality
of services. Robust assurance is provided to Trust Board, service users
and commissioners on performance measures.
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As previously described, in determining our priorities we have engaged
with our service users to ensure the priorities meet the needs of our
local population.

We are committed and ambitious in our endeavour to provide the
highest quality mental health services. Our board’s business is driven by
the quality plan as defined by our four on-going priorities, known as
SPAR:
e Our services will be consistently SAFE
e Our care will be PERSONALISED to the individual needs of our
service users
e Our processes and structures will guarantee ACCESS for service
users and their carers
e Our focus will be on the
health illnesses.

needs of those with mental

Progress to achieve these quality priorities will be monitored and
measured through individual area milestones, with regular reports to
the senior leadership team and quality committee on progress made,
risks identified and mitigation plans developed. Progress will also be
reported through the commissioner-led Clinical Quality Review group.

Safe:

¢ Develop and implement a Trustwide clinical pathway implemented
by a standard operating procedure that reflects the needs of service
users with Dual Diagnosis

e Collaborate with partners to reduce death by suicide within
the Trust as part of our Zero Suicide ambition and as part of a
countywide strategy

¢ Improve physical health by being a smoke-free Trust (year 2 of 2)

® Improve physical health monitoring for service users

e achievement of CQUIN schemes

e Transition pathway between services are strengthened

* Implement SPAR wards accreditation framework to enhance the
quality of care on in-patient wards

e Continue investment in environmental ligature improvements

e Continue to audit sepsis compliance against national standards

e Audit of falls to evidence reduction in avoidable falls following
quality improvement programme

® Increase compliance with IPC audits from 85% to 90%

* Implement a Flu vaccination campaign achieving a target of 75%

* Improve medicines management including achieving 100%
compliance with daily fridge temperature monitoring and correct
labelling of topical medications

* Implement a standardised approach to safety through the
Community Safety Matrix

e Maintain safer staffing in line with NQB and continue with review
of the 24/7 teams and introduce to community teams

e Continue to implement PLACE programme and develop a strategy
to be in the top performing quartile of trusts nationally

e Audit prone restraint and benchmark nationally

Personalised:

* Implement Person Centredness Framework co-produced with
service users, carers and staff

e Implement restraint reduction strategy through co-production and
embedding person centred care

e Use Service User feedback and FFT themes to influence Quality
Improvement agenda in collaboration with the Service User & Carer
Council (SUCCQ)

e Develop the protocol to give the patient control to access their own
electronic patient record (year 1 of 3)

e Ensure compliance with Mental Health Law for every patient

e Roll out the NHSI Therapeutic observation Quality Improvement
project across all acute wards
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Accessible:
® Improve access to services by continuously achieving
® 100% compliance for referral to assessment (1st contact) in 18
weeks in general and 4 weeks in CAMHS
® 92% compliance for referral to treatment (2nd contact) in 18
weeks
e Continue to work with health and social care commissioners to
ensure that every effort is made to ensure that service users are
treated in the most appropriate environment and reduce delays in
transfers of care
e Use technology to improve access to CAMHS services for young
people and be more responsive through the digital exemplar
* Achieve 100% compliance with 3 hour assessment target for
service users entering the Place of Safety
e \Work in collaboration with Primary Care and the University Hospital
of North Midlands (UHNM) to become more accessible to patients
through the use of video consultation

Recovery Focussed:
e Implement both a virtual and physical wellbeing academy to
complement traditional rehabilitation approaches by providing
people with education and learning experiences as a means of
supporting recovery
e Develop and implement a Trustwide strategy to embed peer
mentor, volunteers and employment opportunities for people with
lived experience (develop at least 10 peer mentors)
e |[dentify quality priorities for 2019/20 in partnership with the SUCC
who will conitnue to collaborate in improvement initiatives
e Develop and implement a Towards Outstanding service user
environments programme in collaboration with SUCC ,
* Implement unannounced assurance visits to Community Teams b‘_\
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2.3 Statement of assurance from the Board

This section is provided to offer assurance that the trust is performing
well as assessed internally via the trusts own processes; externally
(therefore providing independent assurance); through processes

to measure clinical outcomes; through audit and research and
development; and through participation in national projects and
initiatives.

The majority (82%) of clinical services provided by North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust in 2017/18 were commissioned by
the two local clinical commissioning groups- North Staffordshire CCG
(33%) and Stoke-On-Trent CCG (49%).

Quality was monitored by the NHS Staffordshire and Lancashire
commissioning support unit (CSU) on behalf of North Staffordshire and
Stoke-on-Trent CCGs.

There is a contract in place to ensure clarity regarding the services
commissioned for local people, the expectations of the service provider
and expectations for the quality of services.

The Trust signed the standard national two year contract covering
service delivery in 2017/18 and 2018/19 on 21st December 2016.
The contract is largely block in nature with the two local CCGs,
although the associate element of the contract is cost and volume
with thresholds. The contract contains specific targets on a range of
performance measures.

All elements of this contract are monitored through a CSU-led series of
monthly meetings, with relevant associated data sent to the CSU as the
co-ordinating body on a monthly basis.

Compliance with the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and the
essential standards of quality and safety:

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust has self- assessed
against the outcomes defined by the regulations and declared
compliance with all of the outcomes. The Trust registered with the Care
Quality Commission in 2010, without conditions to provide a range of
regulated activities.

Payment by Results:

The trust is not subject to the Payment by Results clinical coding audit
at any time during the reporting period by the Audit Commission.

Measuring clinical performance

Clinical audit, clinical excellence and research and development all
contribute to measuring effectiveness (including both clinical outcomes
and patient-reported outcomes) safety and patient experience through
quantitative information. This includes reporting data regarding the
impact of services on patients.

The clinical audit programme is developed to reflect the needs and the
national priorities. Further information is contained below.

National Projects and Initiatives

This section includes reference to the national projects and initiatives
that we are applying to improve the quality of our services.

Quality governance assurance framework

Our NHSI oversight segmentation is band 2; the highest segmentation
being band 1 which gives trusts maximum authority.
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Litigation cases for 2017/18

The numbers of cases against the Trust have remained static for non-
clinical claims received for 2017/18 with only two being registered for
employee liability. The expenditure on non-clinical claims has seen

a 52% reduction from the previous year. The Trust has been able

to successfully defend claims where we have been able to provide
evidence that policies and procedures have been followed. We
continue to work closely with NHS Resolution to use the intelligence
learnt from these cases thereby ensuring quality improvements.

National quality improvement projects (service accreditation
programmes): Managed by the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ centre of
quality improvement

The Trust has one ECT clinic which is accredited. Three wards (1,

2 and 3 at the Harplands hospital) for working age adults are also
accredited. Two rehabilitation units: (Florence House and Summers
View) are accredited. Our Memory Clinic services are accredited. Our
learning disability wards and older persons wards have commenced the
accreditation process this year.

Learning lessons

The Trust's Learning Lessons framework has continued to be extremely
well received by staff over the past year. Staff feedback from
participants in the monthly Learning Lessons session has continued

to be 100% positive with staff generating ideas for future sessions.
We have welcomed service users and partner agencies to speak at the
sessions which has given us opportunities to share learning across the
health and public sector economy.

Lessons Learnec

S
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2.4 Review of services

This section is provided to offer assurance that we have
included all of the services mandated for inclusion.

During the period from 1st April 2017 to the 31st of March 2018
North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS trust provided eight
NHS services. The trust has reviewed all the data available on the
quality of care in all of the NHS services provided by the trust.

The income generated by the NHS services reviewed in 2017/18
represents 100% of the total income generated from the provision
of the NHS services by North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare
NHS Trusts for 2017/18.

The Trust’s six main services, as referred to above are listed in the
introductory section of this Quality Account- see ‘services covered by

this Quality Account’.
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2.5 Participation in clinical audit

The national clinical audits and national confidential inquiries that the
trust participated in, and for which data collection was completed
A T TR TN AT T L T B SR G during 2017/18, are listed below alongside the number of cases
improve patient care and outcomes against specific criteria submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of

and the implementation of change. registered cases required by the terms of that audit or inquiry.
Where indicated, changes are implemented at an individual

team, or service level and further monitoring is used to

confirm improvement in healthcare delivery. As such, clinical itk % of cases m";"u‘l’:a‘;"f:ia
audit is an essential part of the quality assessment framework Bt submitted
and a key element of clinical governance.’ Early Intarvantion in-Paychasis 100% 100%
Learning Disabilities Mortality Review* 100% 100%
National Clinical Audit of Psychosis 100% of required 100% of required
sample sample
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide 100% 100%
_ . _ . and Homicide by People with Mental
During 2017/18, there were three national audits, two national lliness (NCISH)*
. . . . . . Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health
confidential inquiries and one national review programme related to topice:
NHS services the trust prowdes. = Prescribing valproate for bipolar disorder 100% 100%
(Topic 15b)

During that period the trust participated in all (100%) of these national
clinical audits and both the national confidential inquiries, as follows: . Us:: Zfedepzt;;ggg-eriﬁr;g :r],iwﬁons for 12% 100%!
® Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (POMH) — 100% refapes pipveniien (Tope d18)

° Early Intervention in Psychosis - 100% « Rapid tranqguilisation (Topic 16b) Datalcol::t:iigr:l 100%
. S : ) ongoing at Apr

e | earning Disabilities Mortality Review — 100% - - I 2018
* National Clinical Audit of Psychosis — 100% N kbt s ebon i A L L
e National Confidential Inquiry (NCI) into Suicide and Homicide by liiness (NCISH) i

People with Mental lliness (NCI/NC!SH) -100% . :::;ﬂ:,;;’:';:qﬂfwmﬂ:;':';::‘eﬂ:’g':gm b 100%
e Young People’s Mental Health (National Confidential Enquiry into and Death) :

Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) — 100% *This data s collected centrally on a roling basis.

'Please note that for POMH audits there is no minimum requirement of cases to be submitted. For Topic 17a an adequate
sample size was obtained without the need to submit 100% of cases relevant lo the sampie population, therefore the Trust still
met the 100% requirement for POMH.
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The reports of 2/2 national audits (as specified above) were reviewed
by the provider in 2017/18 and actions agreed for implementation
are detailed below. In one case the report is currently under review. In
one case the audit data is still being analysed by the Royal College of
Psychiatrists and the report will be reviewed by the provider on their
release.

[POMH 1g: Prescribing

= Clinicians working on Wards 1, 2 and 3 at Harpjands. Hospital will be
asked to investigate patients on the wards who are prescribed high
dose or combination antipsychotics to determine reasons for
prescription and feed back via the Trust Clinical Effectiveness Group.

Ongoing

e Positive findings will be shared with the Clinical Ongoing

Effectiveness Group and through Directorate meetings.
s The results of the audit will be presented at one of the Ongoing
Trust's educational sessions.

» |t was noted that due to ward round timings and weekends it may |
not be feasible for debrief to take place within 24 hours. To
review with the Medical Director to agree whether 72 hours is an
appropriate timeframe for debrief to take place.

* Resulis to be fed back to Ward Managers for cascade to staff, S

* Todiscuss the possibility of providing injectable drugs v
training as part of the in-depth physical health training
programme via the Physical Health meeting

= Pharmacists will continue to highlight at-risk patients via Ongoing

prescription charts and to support the use of the HDAT

monitoring form.

* To highlight areas where the HDAT monitoring form is not Ongoing
completed on a systematic basis via the Clinical Effectiveness

Group for further action.

= To present the results as part of one of the trust's educational v
sessions, including:
- The difference between maximum doses of IM and oral
haloperidal

- The importance of completing the HDAT monitoring tool

- That intramuscular haloperidol should not be used as part of
rapid tranquilisation in the absence of a recent ECG.

- Recording of physical observations and cases where patients
decline physical observations via the NEWS chart.

The results of POMH audits are disseminated to and action plans
agreed at the Trust’s Clinical Effectiveness Group.

All projects on the clinical audit programme were facilitated by the
Clinical Audit department. The programme is split into four priority
levels in line with national requirements/ standards, including National
Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidance, POMH and
standards produced by the Royal Colleges. The following chart reflects
the total number of projects identified for 2017/18 split by the four
priority areas:

Clinical Audit Projects 2017/18

1%

® External Mandatory
H internal Mandatory
Divisional Priority

N diniclian Interest

Of the 86 active projects undertaken by the Clinical Audit Department
during 2017/18, 44 (51%) were completed and all 44 reviewed by

the provider in the reporting period. All completed audits contained

a comprehensive action plan agreed by the Trust and all stages of the
audit cycle undergo a robust validation exercise to ensure the reliability
and quality of data reported. The graph below outlines project status
for the 146 projects registered on the clinical audit programme for
2017/18:

Mot Yet Design Data Analysis Report Completa OnHold  Withdrawn Transferred Deferredto
Started Collection 18/19
programme

Clinical Audit Programme 2017/18
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For all clinical audits on the formal programme of work, an action plan
to improve the quality of healthcare was developed in conjunction with
the project steering group. The process included reviewing the findings
and devising appropriate actions to reduce any shortfalls identified. The
action plans were agreed with the audit lead and then submitted to
the Clinical Effectiveness Group for ratification. Once this process was
complete, the reports were published and disseminated accordingly.
Individual action plans were then entered onto the action plan -
monitoring database and regular updates requested from the action
‘owners’ to ensure progress is being made.

Once actions have been implemented, a re-audit is undertaken to
determine if the actions made have resulted in improvements to the
quality of healthcare. Further information on completed clinical audits
and the clinical audit programme can be obtained from the Trust's
Clinical Audit Department.
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2.6 Participation in Research

During 2017/18 the Research and Development (R&D) team has
continued to contribute to NHS national research through the delivery
of high quality portfolio and commercial research.

During 2017/18 the Trust faced a significant challenge with regards to
recruitment to NIHR portfolio studies; our initial recruitment target was
revised in month 5 and increased by over 200%.

This challenge inspired staff to consider innovative ways to respond

to meet the target. An incentive for the highest number of referrals
received, weekly communications to wider staff about research
referrals. Our final recruitment figure of participants in research
approved by an ethics committee is 110 and is in excess of our original
target.

During the year we have developed and reviewed our research
recruitment strategies and agreed a work plan for 2018/19 which will
impact significantly upon our performance during 2018/19.

We recognise that for many individuals research offers an opportunity
to take a more active role in care and make an active contribution

to the development of new knowledge while at the same time
experiencing an enhanced quality of care. We firmly believe that
service user involvement is crucial to high quality research, not just at
the point of implementing a protocol but all through the study design
process.

During 2017/18 we have engaged directly with groups of service
users and carers both within the trust and the local community. We
have received positive feedback from service users regarding their
experiences of being involved in research and are committed to
increasing the opportunities that our service users and carers have for
helping to shape the future of research within the trust.

The development of our research profile continues to be a Trust
ambition we are demonstrating a clear commitment to our aspiration
to encourage, inspire and implement research and innovation at all
levels, our strategy for how this will be taken forward over the next five
years has been well received and approved at board level.

Research engagement

Research offers many opportunities for clinical staff in terms of
personal and professional development and the enhancement of skills
and knowledge which leads to a higher standard of care delivery,
enhanced job satisfaction and, ultimately, to improved outcomes for
our service users. Within the Trust we have sought to extend the level
of engagement across the organisation.

The research forum continues to take place on a bi-monthly basis, we
have had a range of presentations on a variety of different subjects and
have a number of regular attendees.

We continue to utilise various approaches to keep staff informed of
our research activities including regular updates via Newsround and

a physical presences at various trust events. We have agreed a re-
branding and are in the process of developing a variety of promotional
materials and reviewing both our intranet page and our external facing
internet page in line with the communications development across the
trust as a whole.

The R&D Steering group is the forum through which we progress our
strategy and business, chaired by the medical director we meet on a bi-
monthly basis with membership including directorate representatives,
our service user representative as well representation from the Clinical
Research Network West Midlands. We have reviewed the membership
of the R&D Steering group and have initiated work to look at the roles
and expectations of the directorate representatives.

s e‘;‘:t-g;t‘\m “"sa\\
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Student Research

During 2017/18, the R&D team continued to support staff at
Combined who were undertaking research as part of a higher
educational qualification e.g. professional doctorate, masters etc.
Twenty three students received support, with 13 completing the
research approvals process. Of the 23, twenty were undertaking
professional doctorates, and 3 were undertaking a masters
qualification.

See Table 1 below for a breakdown by directorate, and Table 2 for a
breakdown by participant type.

Table 1 — Student Research / Directorates
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Table 2 — Student Research / Participant Type
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The trend for support has doubled (from 13 to 23); this surge is
primarily to do with students who deferred, and the complete cohort
(professional doctorate in clinical psychology at Staffordshire and Keele
Universities) wishing to conduct their research at the Trust.

Delivery of Clinical Trials of Medicinal Products (CTIMPS)

Developing our capacity and capability to deliver CTIMP studies is an
important aspect of our research development. Frequently complex
and resource intensive they require sites to consistently deliver research
of the highest standards. CTIMPS provide opportunities for our staff
to be at the forefront of the development of new treatments and also
provide service users increased choice and opportunities that might
not otherwise be available to them. Many CTIMPs are commercially
sponsored trials through which the trust is not only able to recover the
costs of implementing the study but also generate additional income
which can be re-invested to develop our own research capacity and
capability. For 2017/18 the trust set a target to increase the income
generated through commercial research by 10%, we exceeded this
target achieving a total increase of 152%.

External Engagement

Our research endeavours should reflect the clinical landscape and,

just as the value of delivering clinical care in partnership across the
community is recognised as an essential requirement for service
development so too are our research partnerships. During 2017/18 we
worked to widen our engagement with our local community, other
NHS organisations, academic institutes, voluntary agencies, commercial
companies, local authorities and even schools. During 2017/18

we have sought to build upon these links into formal agreements
most notably establishing a memorandum of understanding with
Staffordshire University.
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Key achievements during 2017/18
BeAble App Developments

Moving forward in 2017/18, the Vascular Wellbeing Team and BitJam
Ltd began prototype development for the BeAble App, working with
the R&D team, clinicians and patients. The BeAble App prototype
development and evaluation continues to progress into 2018/19, with
the BeAble project team currently scoping out how to progress this to
the next stage.

Neurodegenerative Active Partnership (NOGAP) developments

The NOGAP team were successful in securing a further one year’s NIHR
CRN Strategic funding for 2017/18 for the Joint Dementia Research
Coordinator post, shared across both University Hospitals of North
Midlands and the Trust. During 2017/18 the NOGAP began to look as
to how the partnership can be extended into Primary Care and have
been working with Primary Care and the Clinical Research Network to
scope this further.

2.7 Goals agreed with Commissioners

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) Framework.

A proportion (2.5%) of the total potential income from CCGs in
2017/18 was conditional on achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals agreed with commissioners through the CQUIN
framework. As an incentive 1.5% of the trust’s total, potential income
from CCG’s for 2017/18 was linked to delivery of CQUIN targets and
the trust agreed five CQUIN indicators with commissioners. Further
details can be seen in section 3.

/ &

F o AR T

32 Towards Outstanding - Our quality journey continues - Quality Account 2017/18

\

\

}‘:\

e




2.8 Statement from the Care Quality Commission

Registration:

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust is required to
register with the Care Quality Commission (registration number
CRT1-1467551366). The trust is registered to carry out the following
regulated activities:

e Accommodation for persons who require nursing or personal care

* Treatment of disease, disorder or injury

® Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the

1983 Mental Health Act

At the following locations:

e Lawton House (Trust Headquarters)
¢ Harplands Hospital

e Darwin Centre

¢ Dragon Square Community Unit

e Summers View

* Florence House

Further information regarding the registration and compliance process
can be found in the papers to the Trust board and on the Care Quality
Commission’s (CQC) website at: www.cqc.org.uk

CQC inspection:
QC insp
. . . . Horth Staffordshine
Following the inspection in October and November 2017 ; Combined Healthcare

WS Tha

the CQC rated the Trust as ‘good’. There have been
no enforcement actions required by the Trust during
2017/18.

L All of our services have
CQC special reviews and investigations:
The CQC has not required the Trust to participate in any been ratEd as

special reviews or investigations during 2017/18.

“Good” or “Outstanding”

COC Inspection Report 2018
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2.9 Statement on Data Quality

NHS Number and General Medical Practice Code Validity

The Trust submitted records during 2017/18 to the Secondary Uses
Service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode Statistics, which are
included in the latest published data.

The percentage of records in the published data, which included the
patient’s valid NHS number, was:

® 99.7% for admitted patient care; and

* 100% for outpatient care.

N.B. The Trust does not provide accident and emergency care.

The percentage of records in the published data, which included the
patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code, was:

® 100% for admitted patient care; and

* 100% for outpatient care.

N.B. The Trust does not provide accident and emergency care.
Information Governance Toolkit attainment levels

The Trust's score for 2017/18 for Information Governance assessed
using the national NHS Information Governance Toolkit was 75%

(the same as 2016/17), and was graded green as all requirements
achieved a minimum score of Level 2 resulting in a ‘Satisfactory’ result
(the only results achievable are ‘Satisfactory” or ‘Not Satisfactory’).

External Clinical Coding Audit

The Trust was subject to the annual external clinical coding audit
during 2017/18 by NHS Digital approved auditors. The audit results
reported in the latest published audit for that period for diagnosis and
treatment coding (clinical coding) are:

® 100% Primary diagnosis correctly recorded (94% in 2016/17)

® 93% for Secondary diagnosis correctly recorded (93% in 2016/17)

® 100% primary procedures correctly coded (100% in 2016/17)

® 100% Secondary procedures correctly coded (100% in 2016/17)

The services reviewed in the sample were adult and older adult mental
health, child & adolescent mental health and substance misuse.

The audit was undertaken by D&A Clinical Coding Consultancy Ltd,
who are NHS Classifications Service approved auditors.The Trust was
commended for its excellent level of coding accuracy and commended
on the strong commitment to coding. It was further noted that there
is a strong clinical engagement across all specialties.

Relevance of data quality

The availability of complete, comprehensive, accurate and timely data
is an essential component in the provision of high quality mental health
services and risk management. It is also required to ensure compliance
with external regulatory requirements and with national and local
targets, standards and contractual requirements.

Good data quality is essential to ensuring that, at all times, reliable
information is available throughout the Trust to support clinical and/
or managerial decisions. Poor data quality can create clinical risk,
compromise effective decision making and impact on the Trust’s ability
to monitor standards of care and secure income for its services.

Safe and efficient patient care relies on high quality data. By taking
responsibility for their clinical data, clinicians can improve its quality
and help drive up standards of care.

Data Quality Metrics

To make the governance process manageable and monitoring
proportionate, appropriate key data quality metrics have been
developed and are kept under review to support the governance
arrangements. This is discharged through the review of business
processes; identification of critical data flows; analysing (potential
and actual) data quality issues; defining key data quality performance
measures; and agreeing tolerance thresholds (beyond which issue are
escalated).
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There is an imperative to create a culture and understanding in staff of
the value of capturing high quality data in real time to improve patient
care. All members of staff are required to continually record accurate
data to ensure high quality care to all patients and stakeholders.

Other actions include:

e On the job training and induction programmes to ensure that data
is entered correctly onto systems and system champions to support
clinicians

e Regular audits to check the quality of data items to ensure that
data is recorded accurately, completely and kept as up to-date as
possible.

Following a review of the “Model Hospital” dashboards, the Trust
identified that data quality could be improved in the accuracy

and reqgularity of patient demographics data, in particular their
accommodation and employment status. Updated guidance has been
issued to clinical staff and reports are reviewed each month to help
improve performance.

The Trust has a clear management structure that clarifies the
responsibilities and accountabilities in regard to those individuals who
enter in data. This ensures that there is accountability for low

levels of data quality and accuracy.

The Data Quality Forum comprises of representatives from
corporate services and clinical directorates (data champions who
take a leadership role in resolving data integrity issues). The
Forum is responsible for data issue management and the process
of reducing and removing the barriers that limit the effective use
of data within the Trust.

problems, tracking progress, and ultimately resolving the DQ
Issues.

The Forum also ensures a high standard of data quality within
the clinical systems across the Trust and changes that need to be
made to systems or processes to deliver improvements in data
quality.

—1
This includes identifying data quality issues, approving definitions, ‘
establishing quantification of issues, prioritizing data quality

The Data Quality Forum is concerned with policy development and
compliance at the right level of granularity to make a difference.

Reporting and monitoring are key components of data quality
management. The Forum also ensures that staff are aware of their
responsibilities surrounding excellent standards of data quality through
continuous communication and promotion.

The Forum is supported by performance management meetings
within each directorate that provide an opportunity to address data
governance and data quality from end to end.

Data Quality Maturity Index (DQMI)

The DQMI is a quarterly publication intended to raise the profile and
significance of data quality in the NHS by providing data submitters
with timely and transparent information about their data quality.
The Trust's DQMI was 97.4% in the latest published national data
(September 2017).

<<
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3.0 REVIEW OF QUALITY PERFORMANCE

FOR 2017/18 (LOOKING BACK) AND

STATEMENTS FROM PARTNERS

3.1 Performance against 2017/18 Key Priorities

This section is in three parts:

Section 3.1: reviews performance and progress against the key
priorities defined in the 2016/17 Quality Account.

Section 3.2: Adds to the information provided in section 3.1 and
provides a summary of our performance against a range or quality
indicators/metrics, which are of interest to people who use our services.
Each quality indicator/metric is linked to one or more of the following
three headings: patient safety, clinical effectiveness and patient
experience.

Section 3.3: includes reference to those involved in the development of
this account and statements from key partners.

3.1.1 Performance against 2017/18 key priorities

The CQUIN payment framework is a national framework for agreeing
local quality improvement schemes and makes a proportion of our total
potential income from CCG’s (2.5%) conditional on the achievement of
ambitious quality improvement goals and innovations agreed between
commissioner and provider with active clinical engagement. The
CQUIN framework is intended to reward genuine ambition and stretch
trusts, encouraging a culture of continuous quality improvement in all
providers.

CQUIN area

Staff Health and Well-being:
(Initiatives 1a, b & c)
Improvement of health and
wellbeing of NHS staff,
healthy food and drink for
NHS staff, visitors and
patients, and improving the
uptake of flu vaccinations for
frontline clinical staff.

The following table identifies the CQUIN areas as identified:

5
§
i
<E

100%

£181,021

Physical health 3a & b:
Cardiometabolic
assessment and
treatment for patients with
psychoses { Collaboration
with primary care
clinicians

95%

£181,021

Improving Services for
People who Present at
AG&E: Supporting people
with a mental health need
to reduce A&E attendances

100%

£181,021

Transitions from CYPMHS
to AMHS: Supporting young
service users as they move
from children's to adult
services, or back into
primary care

98.5%

£181,021

Preventing Il Health by
Risky behaviours:
(Initiatives 9a, 9b, 9¢, 9d and
9e)improving the
identification of inpatients
who smoke or who drink
above safe levels and
ensuring that they receive
appropriate interventions

87%

£181,021
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Staff Health and Wellbeing: Improvement of health and
wellbeing

SPAR priority
Safe

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal
We aimed to improve the staff culture of health and wellbeing across
the Trust, as demonstrated through the annual Staff Survey.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

An action plan was developed by the working group to monitor
progress in implementing initiatives across the Trust. Final compliance
with CQUIN requirements was determined through the annual Staff
Survey, which is coordinated, analysed and reported on nationally.

What did we achieve?

As a result of this CQUIN the Trust has consolidated and improved
its health and wellbeing offer to staff and the Working Group will
continue to take this work forward into 2018-19.

Staff Health and Wellbeing: Healthy food for NHS staff,
visitors and patients

SPAR priority
Safe

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal
The Trust was tasked with ensuring that where food and drink is sold
on Trust premises, healthy food options are available, that foods high

in fat, salt and sugar are not advertised or promoted on Trust premises

or offered for sale at checkouts, and that percentage targets are met

around the proportion of sugar sweetened beverages and food high in

fat sugar and salt offered for sale.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

An action plan was developed by the working group to monitor
progress in implementing initiatives across the Trust. Local
commissioners were provided with a quarterly report detailing
progress.

What did we achieve?

As a result of this CQUIN the Trust has ensured that healthy food and
drink options continue to be offered wherever sold on Trust premises,
including to staff working out of hours.

Staff Health and Wellbeing: Improving the uptake of flu
vaccinations by frontline clinical staff

SPAR priority
Safe

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal
We aimed to ensure that frontline clinical staff were encouraged and
supported to receive the flu vaccination.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

An improvement plan was developed by the working group to monitor
progress in implementing processes across the Trust. Once the flu
vaccination season was underway, regular updates were provided via
the Senior Leadership Team and reported nationally onto UNIFY.

What did we achieve?
In 2017-18, 72.1% of frontline clinical staff across the Trust were
vaccinated against flu, contributing to patient safety.
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Physical Health: Cardiometabolic assessment and treatment
for people with psychoses

SPAR priority
Safe

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal

The Trust was tasked with implementing appropriate processes for
assessing, documenting and acting on six cardiometabolic risk factors
in 90% of a sample of inpatients, 90% of Early Intervention Team
service users and 65% of a sample of community service users, who
fell into the following categories (based on ICD10 codes)
Schizophrenia

Schizoaffective disorder

Bipolar disorder

Drug induced psychosis

How did we monitor and report on progress?

An improvement plan was developed by the working group to monitor
progress by implementing clinical processes across the Trust. Data
relating to inpatients and community service users was submitted as
part of the National Clinical Audit of Psychosis for central analysis.
Data relating to El service users was submitted as part of the EIPN
Audit for central analysis.

What did we achieve?

As a result of this CQUIN , the Trust has continued to build on progress
made in previous years in assessing the physical health of service users
and ensuring that they are offered the right interventions.

Physical Health: Collaboration with Primary Care Clinicians

SPAR priorities
Safe, Personalised

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal

In accordance with the CQUIN, we aimed to ensure that key
information relating to service user’s mental and physical well-being
was communicated from the Trust to the service user’s GP in a timely
fashion. We also aimed to work with GP colleagues to reduce
discrepancies between their patient registers and those held by the
Trust, and to develop a protocol to outline physical health monitoring
responsibilities across primary health care and secondary mental health
services.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

An improvement plan was developed by the working group to monitor
progress. Quarterly reports detailing progress were shared with
Commissioners, which included the results of a casenote audit.

What did we achieve?

As a result of this CQUIN the Trust has strengthened links with CCG
and primary care colleagues and has begun the process of aligning
Trust and primary care databases. The Trust has worked with the
CCGs and primary care representatives to develop a clear protocol
outlining responsibilities for assessing and treating physical health in
mental health service users.
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Improving Services for People with Mental Health Needs who
Present to A&E

SPAR priorities
Accessible, Personalised

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal

We aimed to work with colleagues at the University Hospital of North
Staffordshire to reduce attendances at A&E by people identified as
frequently attending A&E who would benefit from mental health and
psychological interventions.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

A Working Group was set up which was attended by representatives
from the Trust, UHNM and other interested parties on a two-weekly
basis. Progress against the CQUIN requirements was monitored by this
group, which was also attended by the Commissioner Quality Lead for
this CQUIN.

What did we achieve?

Working together, the Trust and UHNM have been able to demonstrate
a reduction in avoidable attendances by 40%. This is an excellent
achievement and significantly exceeded the CQUIN requirement for a
20% reduction.

Transitions out of Children and Young People’s Mental
Health Services

SPAR priorities
Accessible, Personalised

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal

We aimed to improve the transition process for young people moving
out of our children’s services into adult services and to ensure that
young people who were discharged back to primary care at the age of
18 were adequately supported during the discharge process.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

An audit of casenotes was undertaken which reviewed all service users
who transitioned or were discharged at transition age between January
and March 2018. Surveys were produced to determine how prepared
service users felt at the point of discharge / transition and whether they
felt their goals had been achieved following transition.

What did we achieve?

As a result of this CQUIN the Trust has improved its processes in
relation to transitions from children’s services. This will mean that
service users are better supported when moving from children’s to
adult services, or when stepping down into primary care at transition
age.
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Preventing lll Health by Risky Behaviour: Alcohol and tobacco

SPAR priorities
Safe, Personalised

Why was this selected as a priority?
This was a national CQUIN priority as determined by NHS England.

Our goal

We aimed to ensure that people who access our services are asked
about their smoking status and alcohol intake and that where
necessary they are provided with relevant advice and interventions and
that this is recorded.

How did we monitor and report on progress?

A casenote audit was undertaken on a quarterly basis to determine
what proportion of inpatients had been assessed for smoking status
and alcohol intake, and of those who indicated that they smoked
or consumed alcohol to an unsafe level, how many had been given
appropriate interventions.

What did we achieve?

As a result of this CQUIN the Trust has rolled out training to nursing
staff so that they are aware of their responsibilities and have the skills
in relation to smoking cessation and alcohol interventions. Processes
have been streamlined to ensure that patients are offered the support
they need with smoking and alcohol consumption. This is supported
by the Trust's move towards Smoke Free environments, which was
launched on 3 April 2018.

The Trust uses local and national benchmarking information to add
intelligence and insight to our performance management processes.
Benchmarking enables the performance of the directorates to be
analysed and they are supported in identifying how improvement in
quality, productivity and efficiency can be achieved. Benchmarking with
others will also help to determine how the Trust will become
outstanding in all areas.

The Trust remains a key member of the NHS Mental Health
Benchmarking Reference Group.

The Trust’s Quality Committee continued to actively monitor the quality
of services. Robust assurance is provided to Trust Board, service users
and commissioners on performance measures.
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3.1.2 Key Quality Priorities Achievements 2017/18
Priority: Every CQC core service rating is ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’

Outcome: In the 2017 CQC inspection all core services were rated as
‘good’ or ‘outstanding’

Furthermore all ‘must do’ and ‘should do’ requirements from CQC
from 2016 have been addressed. Additionally all core services

have comprehensive improvement plans in place to address the

areas identified in the 2017 CQC inspection and to date significant
progress has been made with many of the ‘must do’ and ‘should do’
requirements being addressed and rated as complete. We will continue
this robust assurance process through our performance management
arrangements.

Priority: Improved physical health monitoring

Outcome: Clinical staff (63%) received physical health training
including recognition of the deteriorating patient in relation to the
onset of sepsis. The National Early Warning Scoring (NEWS) tool
was also implemented. Following these initiatives there has been a
reduction in avoidable transfers to the local acute hospital

Additionally we have achieved the following:

e Commenced our journey towards being a smoke free organisation
with in-patient areas going smoke-free from April 2018

e For the second year running the flu vaccination campaign achieved
the national target of at least 70% frontline staff receiving the
vaccination

e A rapid falls reduction programme was implemented and the policy,
practice and training were all reviewed and updated to minimise
avoidable falls. Avoidable falls have decreased as has harm from
avoidable and unavoidable falls.

® 100% compliance with physical health assessment

e Compliance with physical health monitoring and recording post
rapid tranquilisation is monitored through monthly review of
incidents and subsequent completion of physical health monitoring;
additionally the Inpatient Safety Matrix with 100% compliance
achieved in Q4.

Priority: Implement our Suicide Prevention Strategy

Outcome: The Trust Suicide Prevention Strategy was finalised and
implemented during 2017/18. As part of this strategy we have worked
in collaboration with Public Health with the aim of reducing suicides in
the local area.

Additionally we have:

e Continued to facilitate the ‘living well with risk group’ to embed
the strategy and ensure involvement of people with lived
experience.

e Developed a prototype for an app that promotes recovery from
depression, encourage hope and help seeking behaviour at the
point of personal crisis.

* Received patient stories of hope in different media formats to share
the recovery messages at both our Quality Committee and Board.

e Across Staffordshire we commenced the process to procure a single
integrated care record

* \Where appropriate we have involved family/carers to ensure
that their views are incorporated into risk management plans,
highlighting any protective factors that these relationships provide.

e \We have increased staff training in relation to suicide awareness
with 88% (target 85% of all staff completing level 1 training and
80 people completing level 2 training
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Priority: Increase service users’ carers and staff feedback to improve
service development.

Outcome: The Service User and Carer Council (SUCC) have engaged
with the development of the Person Centredness Framework and we
have representation from service user and carer’s across a range of trust
business and activity; including interviewing new recruits, co-facilitating
a wide range of events, attending various committees including People,
Culture and Development, Quality, Finance, Performance and Digital
and Business Development.

Additionally:

® The service user and carer strategy has been refreshed in
partnership with the SUCC.

¢ \We have ensured that there is a service user and carer
representative at the mental health sustainability and
transformation plans (STP) board.

e There is service user and carer representation on our trust
committees facilitated through the SUCC.

¢ \Work has commenced in developing a network of peer support
workers and peer support worker strategy is being developed.

e To support recovery we have progressed the development of a well-
being academy (recovery college) with plans in place for a virtual
and physical resource.

Priority: Review of models of care and care pathways.

Outcome: Following the work on productivity undertaken in 2016
Value-maker Workshops have been held with teams and opportunities
for improved efficiency and productivity have been identified.

Additionally:
¢ \We have introduced an acute care pathway on adult inpatient
wards
e A psychiatric intensive care unit (PICU) has been built and we are
currently recruiting the staff team.

Outcomes from additional objectives for 2017/18:

Under Safe we have:
® Embedded unannounced assurance visits to in-patient wards with
quarterly reporting to the Quality Committee and Trust Board.
e Agreed a plan for further investment in environmental ligature
improvements in accordance with 2017/18 plan.

Under Personalised we have:

e Agreed a contract for the extension of the FLO and autographed
innovation to develop a self-managed integrated care pathway for
dementia patients. This work is now being taken forward.

e Implemented the diversity and inclusion plan and Workforce Race
Equality Standard (WRES) awareness sessions have been delivered
with staff, Board and Leadership Academy involvement. This work
will continue during 2018/19.

e Worked with Helen Sanderson Associates, our service users,
carers and staff to develop a Person Centredness Framework; the
overarching principles have been agreed and the framework will be
implemented in 2018/19.
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Under Accessible we have:

e Achieved 92% compliance with national waiting times targets and
18 week waits for treatment for all services.

e \Worked in collaboration with primary care and the University
Hospital of North Midlands (UHNM) to become more accessible
to patients through the use of video consultation in the
Neuropsychiatry and Older Persons directorate. This will be carried
forward in 2018/19 with pilots in 2 further directorates.

e Progresses work through collaboration with the Service User and
Carer Council and R&l Steering Group with a view to re-launching
Dragons Den; this will be linked to the value-makers scheme. This
will be carried forward in 2018/19.

e Developed an allied health professional strategy which is
proceeding through internal governance processes prior to
implementation.

e \Worked with partners to develop an estates (building and land)
optimisation strategy for North Staffordshire.

e Ensured recovery principles underpin our strategic priorities,
policies, procedures, risk assessments and care plans (audited
monthly).

e Ensured care plans are completed with individuals which are
wellbeing and recovery focussed.

e Introduced and strengthened to develop evidence based
psychological interventions in our adult acute wards.
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3.2 Performance in 2017/18 as measured against a range of quality

iIndicators

This section of the Quality Account provides a summary of our
performance as measured against a range of quality indicators /
metrics, which are of interest to people who use our services; most
were selected for inclusion by key stakeholders.

The information is presented under the three main headings of:
e patient safety
e clinical effectiveness
e patient experience.

Each section describes the area being reviewed, the metric used to
measure performance and the overall Trust performance.

Patient safety
We are proud of our excellent cleanliness standards. Each PLACE

inspection team included 50% patient representation and there was an
independent validator on each assessment.

Environments and cleanliness - Patient Led Assessment Care Environment (PLACE)

Area of parformance Environments and cleanliness

Matric — method of calculating Trust Key Performance Indicator (KPI)—

parformance: The clesnliness of & environmenis a5 assessed oy the
FLACE team
Parformance Tne Trust'sovarallscore forcleaninesswas 99 .61 %,

Cleanliness as assessed by the PLACE team 2017/18

PLACE 2017 Cleanliness mn ﬁ&‘; :::E:;E Dementla
Harplands Hospital 90.52% a7 67% 96.30% 08.46% 093.63%
overall site score

Dragen Square 100% G6.55% 99.41%

ART and Talford Unit 9894 % 92 Ga% 100% 09 40%

Darwin Cantre 100% 96.06 % G3.T5% 100%

Florence House 100% 9486 % a7 22% 99.45%

Summers Wiew 100% 05.32% 96.30% 100%

Trust overall score 99.61% 9718 % 96.33% 86.78% 83.63%

Disability arrangements have been included as part of PLACE. As with
the Trust’s other PLACE scores, the Trust has scored exceptionally well
in this area, well above the national average.

20417 PLACE scores for Disabllity

*  Hamlands, Hospital * B5.44%
#  Dragon Sgquare » 100%
*  A&T and Tetford Unit s 100%
= Darwin Centre (under refurbishment} « 100%
« B8.30%
*  Florence Housa - 100%
= Summers View
Trust Cwerall Score w BT 24%
Wational Average Score « B2 60%

Incidents

Ulysses incident reporting system supports the Trust for Incident
reporting and management. The incidents are categorised in to clinical
and non-clinical, accidents and near misses. The system allows all Trust
staff to report incidents in a timely manner and provides the Trust with
the data for the monitoring of incident themes or trends.

The definitions of incidents used by the trust are listed below

Incident

An event or circumstance that could have resulted, or did result, in
unnecessary damage, loss or harm such as physical or mental injury to
a patient, staff, visitors or members of the public

Serious Incident
The Serious Incident (SI) framework (NHS England. 2015) definition for
reportable incidents is as follows:

“Acts or omissions in care that result in; unexpected or avoidable
death, unexpected or avoidable injury resulting in serious harm

- including those where the injury required treatment to prevent
death or serious harm, abuse, Never Events, incidents that prevent
(or threaten to prevent) an organisation’s ability to continue to
deliver an acceptable quality of healthcare services and incidents that
cause widespread public concern resulting in a loss of confidence in
healthcare services”.
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Patient Safety Incident

The National Reporting and Learning System'’s (NRLS) definition for
reportable incidents is as follows; “A Patient Safety Incident (PSI) is any
unintended or unexpected incident which could have or did lead to
harm for one or more patients receiving NHS care”.

Investigation
The act or process of investigating i.e. a detailed enquiry or systematic
examination.

Area of performance Incidents (elinlcal and non-clinizal)

Metric — method of calculating Trust Metric: O BS

performance:

Performanca: Plezss refar o the table below for parformance during
20me

201516 2016117 201718
No harm, low harm and near 4,037 4,553 4330
miss
Moderate 79 75 80
Major [ 3 9
Catastrophic 128 76 65
Total 4,250 4,750 4484
Moderate, major & 5.0% 3.2% 3.4%
catastrophic Incidents
as a % of total

Ulysses, the Trust electronic reporting system generates weekly and
monthly scheduled incident reports for directorates and individual
teams which allows them to explore and interrogate incidents in order
to further understand and improve patient and staff safety within each
area.

The table above illustrates a small decrease in the number of incidents
reported across the Trust for 2017/18. The rationale for this decrease
has been analysed and is in relation to a small number of people with
complex needs in 2016/17 therefore this decrease has not raised
concerns regarding the reporting culture. In the last 3 years there has
been increased staff understanding of the need for incidents to be
reported and an indication of a learning and improving culture. All
incidents are subject to weekly review and analysis, in order to ensure
that issues / trends are quickly identified and actions implemented
enabling improved delivery of care services.

Safety Improvement Initiatives

Throughout 2017/18, the Trust has continued to build on the work

commenced in 2016/17 to improve our safety culture. This year the

Trust has maintained our focus on improving the quality of the care

that the staff deliver and we have participated in a number of safety
Improvement initiatives.

Staff from across the Trust joined with the Advancing Quality Alliance
(AQUA) to complete a course in Patient Safety Leadership. This
programme, co-ordinated by the Director of Nursing and Quality,
provided staff with the ability to use Quality Improvement (Ql) tools

in order to lead and complete their own QI projects. In addition, two
senior nurses were supported to complete the Advanced Improvement
Practitioner Programme which provided them with increased QI
knowledge and skills, which will be used to support clinical teams in
learning quality improvement methodology and to take forward QI
projects.

The QI projects chosen included those with a patient safety focus: the

initiatives included a falls reduction project across the NOAP wards and
a restraint reduction project across ward 1, Assessment and Treatment
and the Darwin Centre.

The Trust continues to learn from its incidents, with staff reporting an
average of 80-100 incidents per week. The learning from incidents,
including Serious Incidents, is shared across the trust through our
Learning Lessons framework. There is a bi-monthly bulletin and a
monthly Learning Lessons workshop where staff listen to the learning
outcomes of investigations and share their stories. These events

are always well supported by staff and receive positive feedback,
demonstrating the staff commitment to ‘being open’ and a willingness
to learn in order to improve the safety of the care delivered to our
service users.
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Incidents reported to the National Reporting and Learning System
(NRLS)

The Trust is required to report patient safety incidents to the national
incident database known as the National Learning and Reporting
System (NRLS). This is the only data collection agency nationally and
the data submitted is analysed by subject experts to provide trusts with
six monthly organisational reports, based on data submission

Area of performance Incidents reported to the National Reporting and

Learning System (NRLS)
Metric — method of calculating KPI Number of incidents reported to the National Patient
performance: Safety Agency
Performance: There were 2,096 NRLS incidents reported during 2017/18

which is a slight reduction in the number of incidents
reported from the previous year. As previously stated this
was due to a small number of people with complex needs
being responsible for a large number of incidents in
2016/17. Of these, the number of incidents reported under
the categories severe harm or death (30) was 1.4% of the
total. 3

Our culture of incident reporting has been maintained during 2017/18
as demonstrated through benchmarked data from the NRLS. The

latest data illustrates our higher reporting rate per 1000 beds than

the national reporting median for mental health trusts. We have also
improved our report rating at the national level. Improved reporting of
incidents helps to better identify risks and provides better opportunities
to improve patient safety. 74% of all patient safety incidents reported
were no harm incidents; this reflects the national average of 73% and
is indicative of a positive reporting culture for reporting both harm and
no harm incidents.

Never events

Area of performance ‘Never events'

Metric — method of Trust Metric: QI PS 8 never evenis

calculating performance:
A nevereventis a serious, largely preventable,
patient safety incident that should not occur if
the available preventable measures have been
implemented. An example would be an inpatient
suicide using curiain or shower rails.

Performance: Mil = Mo_‘never events' in the Trust during 2017/18.

Serious incidents

In 2017/18 we have maintained a strong performance in respect of the
timely investigation and quality of completed investigations and the
approaches taken to learning from serious incident investigation.

We have maintained our performance of 100% of investigations
undertaken within the required timescales by staff trained in Root
Cause Analysis methodology. The Trust was subject to an audit by
RSM, the internal auditors in 2017/18. This audit aimed to assess the
Trust process in terms of the management of unexpected deaths. The
auditors were able to determine that the Board should take ‘substantial
assurance’ that the process was robust, thorough and met the key
standards in line with ‘National Guidance on Learning from Deaths’
published in March 2017.

Area of performance Serious incidents (Sls) (clinical and non-clinical)

Metric — method of Trust Metric: KPI 17.17 Investigating and reporting of
calculating performance: serious incidents

Performance: During 2017716 there have been 73 serious

incidents reported by the Trust.

During 2017/18 no investigation breached the 60 working
day deadline, as any extensions required were agreed
with commissioners.

The Patient and Organisational Safety Team work in partnership with
directorates to ensure that learning or trends arising from incidents
are discussed at directorate and team level meetings and reported

to the Trust’s Quality Committee and Trust Board oversight through
the Medical Director as Executive Director Lead for Serious Incidents
and Mortality Surveillance. Quarterly Serious Incidents reports help to
identify emerging themes and trends and where required thematic
reviews will be undertaken to facilitate learning and improvement.

We are committed to learning when things go wrong and taking
action to improve. Furthermore, we take responsibility to ensure that
we share learning in an open transparent and compassionate manner
with families and carers through our Being Open and Statutory Duty of
Candour Policy Framework.

In order to support the implementation of this policy, a series of
initiatives have been delivered to raise staff awareness and embed the
statutory requirements into practice. These initiatives form part of an
on-going programme of education for all employees and are facilitated
by the Patient and Organisational Safety Team.
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These include.
e Inclusion of Duty of Candour awareness within the Trust mandatory
training curriculum.
e A series of workshops, using the “Learning Lessons” forum to
discuss the duty and to set out responsibilities.
e Awareness sessions in individual clinical teams.
e Inclusion in the Trust Preceptorship programme.
e Inclusion in the Student Nurse learning programme.
e Training sessions facilitated for Governance Leads to support their
quality and safety role within clinical directorates.
[
The Trust's responsibility for ensuring compliance with this statutory
duty is monitored through a series of reporting mechanisms. In
addition to the weekly Incident Review Group minutes reflecting the
decision making for Duty of Candour threshold, additional assurance
is given to the Board by means of reporting to the Clinical Safety
Improvement Group, Quality Committee and Trust Board.

Reports are shared with the Clinical Quality Review Group. ¢
Infection Prevention and Control

There have been no MRSA blood stream infections and no Methicillin
Sensitive Staphylococcus Aureus (MSSA) blood stream infections
reported in 2017/18. MRSA screening compliance remains at 100%
for all those admissions who fulfil the criteria for screening. The Trust’s
target of zero avoidable HCAIs was therefore maintained.

Clinical effectiveness

Area of performance

Metric — methed of
calculating performance:

Mental health activity
Mental health activity

Performance: 280 assessments under Section 135 of the Mental

Health Act 1883 took place at Hamlands Hospital
Place of Safety. Of the 280 assessments
completed, 12 were under the age of 18 years. The
outcomes of all of the assessmenis are as follows:

+= 15% - Formal admission to hospital under the
Mental Health Act

= 13% - Informally admitted to hospital

= 45% - To be followed-up by mental health /
social care services

= 27% - Other / care of family / own GP

72% of those people assessed under Section 136
of the Mental Health Act were not admitted fo
hospital, with 45% being followed-up by secondary
mental health services.

Number of Place of Safety assessments carried out under Section 136
of the Mental Health Act 2017/18

2017-2018 Activity for Harplands Place of Safety
300 280
200 175
100 5 42 39 7
0 - b d B w00
Sectiom 136 Number Formal Informal  Mental Health Other
Assemments  Assesed Admission Admission Follow-up
Under aged 18

On occasions when the Harplands Place of Safety Suite is occupied,
the Trust will seek to support the police to locate a vacant alternative
health-based place of safety within Staffordshire to enable the
completion of the assessment. The Police and Crime Act 2017 came
into force on 11th December 2017 and where appropriate, Accident
and Emergency Departments can be used as a health-based Place of
Safety for completion of the assessment. No assessments have taken
place in police custody since December 2017

Place of Safety: assessments carried out under Section 136 of the
Mental Health Act 2013/14 - 2017/18
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Delayed Transfers of Care Physical Health

Area of performance  Delayed Transfers of Care Area of Performance Physical Health Check
Metric — method of Delayed Transfers of Care Metric — method of calculating Physical health chacks

lcalculating E:r‘l'urmanca:
performance: Ance: 100% of physical assesamants completed
Performance: Owerall, for 2017/18 the Trust's rate for delayed transfers of care is 9.6% included &ll of the components listed:

for the year, against a target of less than 7.5%.

= A baseline physical examination

= Abasslina lifesiyle assassment

= A baseline heematological screaning

= A history of past physical, psychotrapic
&nd non- prascribad medications

= Current use of physical, peychotropic and non-
prescribed medications

= MRSA scrasning

This reflects an increase from 5.76% reported for 2016/17 and is in line with
the national position where there is an increase in whole system delays
associated with high rates of bed occupancy and reduction in funding of
social care that are resulting in extra pressures on the health economy. The
Trust is in discussion with health and social care commissioners to ensure
that every effort is made to ensure that service users are located in the most

approprate environment.

The Trust has been an early adopter of the RED and GREEN approach in Waltlng Tlmes
mental Health. Developed by the Emergency Care Programme (ECIP), it
focuses on eliminating patient time wasted in the pathway (Red days) and

focussing on days which are of value to the patient (Green days. The Trust also Area of Performance Compliance 18 week waits

worked with the A&E Delivery Board and has received support from partner

agencies to improve processes, such as timely assessment and rapid approval Metric — method of calculating performance: | 16 wesk waiting time [Referral to TreatmentiTarget 92%
to funding and progression on the Choice Protocol. The Trust will continue to Parformance:

. . o Performance for 201 F/16 is 92.5% &t year
focus on this as a quality priority for 2017/18. end.

The Trust manitors the waiting time fram
referral for all service users who have been
waiting to ensura that treatment is received
within 18 weeks The metric reports an the wait
fram when the patient is referrad into the Trustto
e time they ara seen by a Trust member of
staff.

2017/18 Delayed Transfers of Care

16.0%
14.0%
Compliance 18 week waits
12.0% [Na data svailable from fApril to June 2017 due to the transition to Lorenza)
10.0%
98 0%
8.0% 95,0
605 94.0% %—;
92.0% =
4. 0% - — —
2.0% 0.0 _—
: LI E—
0.0% &6 0%
Apr May Jum Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb  Mar 24,08
B2.0%

I OLTSIR eeeeees 200617

Target Limear (201 7/18)

Jul Aug  Sept Ot MNow Dec lan Feb Mar

—1016/17 =——2017/18 =——Targat

We are unable to report our position in April to June 2017 due to the
transition to the Trust's new Electronic Patient Record, Lorenzo.
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Readmissions

Area of performance Patients re-admitted within 30 days of discharge

Metric — method of
calculating performance:

The rate of unplanned readmissions for patients
[adults and older adults) within 30 days is a key
performance indicator for the Trust. The target for
this metric is 7.5%

Performance: For 2017/18 there were a total of 1762
admissions, of which 418 were readmissions.
Patients re-admitted within 30 days of discharge

16.0%

14.0% \

12.0% .‘\

10.0% \
B.0% ‘\ A .A i
6.0%
d.0% Y
aml—" N N/
0.0% T T T T T T T T T T T |

Apr May Jun Jul  Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec lan Feb Mar
—201617 =—3017/1F —Target

Seven-day follow-up

Area of performance

Metric - method of
calculating performance:

T day follow up of Care Programme Approach

(CPA) patients

Follow up of CPA patients within seven
days of discharge

Target 95%

Performance:

There is strong national evidence that the
period following discharge has shown to be a
high risk perod for service users at risk of
suicide and self-harm. To mitigate these risks
and provide appropriate support o service
users, the Trust aims to ensure that every adult
is followed up within 7 days of discharge. Our
average level of performance for the year was
84 6%

This are is a key focus for the trust and a new standard
operaling procedure has been put in place ensure that
the standard is consistently achieved in 2018/189.
Reports are provided for every patient who was not
followed up within 7 days to provide assurance that
there were no clinical issues ansing from the delays.

Apr May Jun Jul

Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

2016M

G7.5% (96.8%|96.9%| 87 .8%|95.2% 87 .8%| 100%(52.3%, 97 5% 95.8%|92.5%491.0%

201?!14 100.0%{96.9%|54.1%| 53.1%|85. 724 87 .4%(92. 894597 4% 90 8% 95.7%|93.8%9956. 1%

Most recent published Q4 Q4 Q4 Q3
benchmarking data: 2014115 2015186 201617 201718
(%) (%) (%) %)
Trust 100 ar.5 93.1 939
National average ar.2 ar.2 95 4 8589
Highest 100 100 986 083
Lowest 93.1 80 950 955
Gatekeeping

Area of performance

Metric = method of
calculating performance:

Crisis resolution gate kept admissions — acute

Acute admissions gate kept by Crisis Resolution teams
Mational target: 95%

Performance: 100% of patients admitted to acute inpatient wards
were gate kept by the CRHTs at the end of 2017/18.
Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct HNov Dec Jan Feb Mar
201617 [ 100% | 100% | 96.6%( 100% [100% | 98.9% | 92.3% 97 7% [ 100% [100% 100% | 100%
201718 | 100% | 98.5% [ 95.9%( 97.2%| 97.8% | 98.6% [ 97.5%  100% [ 100% (100% 100% | 100%
Crisis resolution gatekept admission-acute
102.0%
100.0%
0% %;
96.0% 1 7
04.0% \Vf
92.0%
90.0%
858.0% T T T T T T T T T T T |
Apr May Jun Jul  Aug Sept Ot Nov Dec Jan Feb Ma
—201617  — 201718 Target
Mo=st recent published Q4 Q4 Q4 Q3
benchmarking data: 2014/15 201516 201617 201718
(%) %] (%] %)
Trust 99.0 98.5 100.0 100
National average 99.1 aa.2 988 885
Highest 100 100 100 100
Lowest 58.5 B4.3 0.0 90.0

Eource: NHS England
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CPA Review Settled Accommodation and Employment

The core aim of the employment and settled accommodation outcome
measure is to increase the proportion of the most socially excluded

A f perfo Service users on Care Programme Approach . . . .
e (CPA) care review  —© i adults in settled accommodation and employment. This underpins
a long-term vision of ensuring that vulnerable adults have the
Metric — methed of calculating Number of patients on CPA who have received a review H P
neriommante: of care in the pest 12 moniia foundations they need to get their lives back on track.

Maficnal farget: 95% . o )
The reporting of the measure has changed in line with the

Performance: This Is a national indicator to menitor compliance with CPA) - raquirements of the Single Oversight Framework to require an annual
The Trust continues to ensure service users receive timelky : : :
reviews of care to ensure that their care and supporineeds|  '€VieW Of the accommodation and employment status for all service
are met. More focussed monitoring and a review of users. The trust is working with clinicians to ensure compliance with

business processes has resulied in significant
improvement in year and the frust has exceeded the target
each month from December 2017.

the new standard.

2016MT7 92 1%492.4% [92.1% [F2.0% |91.8% [21.4% [81.2% |89 4% 98.3% 95.83495.5% 96.2% Metric — method of calculating Percentage of patients who are in settled accommodation
performance:

201?!1494.3%93.9% 191.5% (B1.8% |84, 5% [52.2% [90.3% [S4.1% 95.99 97 5% 88.0%85.3%
Performance: The Trust has maintained the percentage of patients in settled

accommodation, with over 16.6% for 2017/18.

Service Users on Care Programme Approach
(CPA) Care Review

100.0% Area of performance Patients in employment
a5, 0% |—— -p-%_ - i
Metric = method of calculating Percentage of patients who are in employment
008 performance:
b e

Performance: The Trust continues to provide vocational support to our
service users to increase the proportion of the most
socially excluded adults in employment.

B5.0%

B0.0%

Apr May Jun Jul  Aug Sept Oct Mov Dec Jan  Feb Mar

—201Ef17 ——2017/18

Target
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Staff Satisfaction

Towards Outstanding Engagement

The Trust introduced ‘Go Engage’ in April 2017, branded as our
‘Towards Outstanding Engagement’ programme. Our first cohort
successfully supported 16 teams through an intensive 6 month
programme.

A diagnostic is used to assess 9 enablers, 3 feelings and 4 behaviours
crucial to engagement. Three staff from each team are trained and
supported to interpret their teams report and select what tools,
techniques and approach they feel will have most impact on improving
engagement.

Our first cohort has been a success and we are already yielding positive
results;

e 12 of the 16 teams in this cohort initially scored below our Trust’s
average engagement score, which shows they were ideal teams for
the programme

e Out of these 12 teams, 9 improved their engagement scores, with
6 improving to above the Trust average

Staff Survey Results

Our 2017 staff survey results show an improvement in our staff
engagement from 3.73 to 3.76, sitting just below the national
average on 3.79. Whilst there has been little significant variation in
our scores compared to 2016, when we compare our scores to the
national mental health average, we see a comparative improvement.

Staff Engagement score comparison

{the mgher the score the beller) Scale summary score

Trust score 2017 3.78
Trust score 2016 3.73

National 2017 average for mental health ] | 379
1 2 3 4 ]
Poarly engaged Highly engaged
staff staff

The below table show the number of average and above average
scores in 2017 vs 2016:

Benchmarked data

2017 (32 key findings) 2016 (27 key findings)

Above 10 % Above ] 3%
average average

Average 15 47% Average 10 44%,
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Patient Experience

In 2017/18 we have seen the embedding of our Service User and Carer
Experience and Engagement Group to oversee the implementation of
the Service User and Carer Strategy and work plan.

Additionally the campaign to improve the response rate to the Family
and Friends Test (FFT) continues to be successful with NSCHT having
the 5th highest rate of returns nationally in Nov 2017 at 21.6%.

Friends and Family Test (FFT)

The Friends and Family Test (FFT) is an important feedback tool that
supports the fundamental principle that people who use NHS services
should have the opportunity to provide feedback on their experience.
We are pleased to report a significant increase in FFT returns across
the Trust following the campaign. In 2015 we were averaging 50
FFT returns per month. Our latest return, in March 2018 rate, was
436 returns. This is a result of the positive impact of the campaign
and importantly, a sense check of the service user experiences of our
services. The Q4 FFT report reflects that 91% of people using our
services would recommend us as a place to receive care.

Service User and Carer Council

The Council continues to meet on a monthly basis, with an active and
forward looking agenda. These meetings alternate between business
meeting and an educational workshop. The educational workshops
are new with the aim of increasing representation from other service
users, carers and volunteers. These have been positively received with
the Council identifying the educational topics, therefore meeting the
development needs of the members.

We have and will continue to seek wider involvement to support
the Council, on increasing service user and carer involvement across
a range of trust business and activities. Most recently we have
developed a BAME strategy to increase inclusivity and representation
across diverse communities.

We are pleased to have received many expressions of interest and
willingness to be a part of the engagement agenda of the trust.
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The Annual Mental Health Community Survey 2017

The 2017 survey of people who use community mental health services
involved 56 providers of NHS mental health services in England. We
welcome the feedback from this Survey as it provides an additional
feedback opportunity on service user experience and perceptions of
our service.

While aspects of people’s experiences have remained relatively stable,
there is more work to do as part of our journey of improvement. Our
response rate of 31% was above the national average of 26% and

is comparable with our response rate for 2016 of 33%. However,
we would like to improve this position. As a result, an action plan

has been drawn up by our Adult and NOAP Community Directorates
to address this and also respond to the points raised and further
improve those areas. This will be monitored closely by the Service User
and Carer Experience and Involvement Group and the Trust's Quality
Committee. It will be reviewed and discussed by our Service User and
Carer Council on an annual basis.

Area of performance Patient experience

Metric - method of Pafient experience as measured by the annual naticnal patient
calculating performance: survey in relafion to community based care - the most recent
survey results were published in November 2017.

Performance: We are pleased with our most recent survey results.
Health and social care workers 76 Worse About the same Better

“My care is very good. | feel | can putf my trust in my nurse and she understands me fully.
She gives me all the support | need.”

Organising care B.S About the same

Planning care LA About the same

Reviewing care 7.5 About the same

Organising care 8.5 About the same

Planning care LA About the same

Reviewing care 7.5 About the same

“Care co-ordinator was excellent very fiendly, there when needed, understanding.
TherapistPsychoiogy werae phenomenal.”

Changes in who you see

5.8

Treatments

7.6

Support and Wellbeing

4.7

Crisis care

6.4

"Whilst in a crisis the care | received was outstanding.”

Overall views of care and services

7.4 Worse About the sama

Overall experience

7.1 Worse About the same

I was locked after very well and | received all the treatment and care that | needed.™

Towards Outstanding - Our quality journey continues - Quality Account 2017/18 53



Complaints Received

Area of performance Complaints

Metric = method of calculating Complaint acknowledgments, response and
performance: trends
Performance: Detail below

Number of complaints 43 KK]

Mumiper acknowledgead within three
working days

100% 100%

The Trust is committed to providing service users, families or members
of the public with the opportunity to make a compliment, seek

advice, raise concerns or make a complaint about any of the services

it provides. We view all feedback, as valuable information about

how trust services and facilities are received and perceived. We will
continue to develop a culture that sees feedback and the learning from
complaints as opportunities to improve and develop services.

Overall, the Trust receives a very low number of complaints when
compared to NHS benchmarking data. This is because the Trust
focuses on attempting to resolve concerns at a local informal level

to enable prompt resolution. We have continued to implement a
number of initiatives to encourage and strengthen feedback. We

have refreshed our Listening Responding and Complaints materials,
maintained attendance at Service User and Carer Forums and provided
bespoke training on the importance of feedback to ensure continuous
improvement within our clinical teams.

We will continue to signpost individuals to the Parliamentary Health
Services Ombudsman (PHSO) when all attempts at local resolution have
been exhausted. During 2017/18, two complaints were referred to the
PHSO who are undertaking their careful review and consideration of
the evidence before informing the Trust of their recommendations.

Themes, Trends and Learning

Looking back in 2017/18, complaints received generally fell within

the categories of care planning, attitude of staff and communication
issues. In response, we have undertaken a programme of customer
care training with our clinical teams utilising service user and carer
feedback as a means to provide a reflective learning environment in
which to develop understanding of the service user perspective of our
own behaviours. We emphasise the importance of local resolution and
timely signposting where local resolution has been unsuccessful.

Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) contacts

Area of performance Patient Advice and Liaison Sarvice (PALS) &

compliments

Mumbers and types of contacts via PALS
and compliments

344 PALS contacts and 2.063 compliments
received during 201718,

Metric = method of
calculating performance:

Performance:

We recognise the importance of our PALS service in being a key
source of information and feedback for the Trust and an early warning
system for emerging issues and concerns. We are pleased to report the
further strengthening of our approach to patient experience with the
appointment of a whole time PALS officer.

During 2017/18 there have been 344 contacts compared with the
previous year, when a total of 400 contacts were received. Themes
identified on analysis relate to access and waiting times, concerns
about customer care and signposting to other services. To ensure
that concerns raised are addressed and actioned by the right person
in a timely way, the Head of Directorate and Team Manager initially
respond to outline the action taken and to the satisfaction of the
individual concerned.

Compliments

Each year our staff receive compliments, thank you's and much praise
from people they have cared for. Many patients want to write to
thank staff personally or to praise the service that they have received.
It gives staff a great boost when people take the trouble to pass on
their positive feedback  We are pleased to report that compliments
received directly by the PALS service and via FFT have increased from
244 in 2016/17 to 2,063 in 2017/18.
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3.3 Engagement and statement from key partners

Engaging our partners and stakeholders

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust remains
committed to working collaboratively with a range of partners and as
such has engaged partners in the development and publication of this
Quality Account.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone
who has worked with us and provided assurance that your

views and comments have helped to shape this Quality
Account.

Development Stage

We have sought the views of key partners, service user representative
groups, local authorities and staff about what they liked and disliked
about our previous Quality Account and what should be changed.

All feedback received was responded to and reviewed as part of the
engagement and design process for this Quality Account.

Agreeing priorities

We asked our service user and carer council what priorities they would
like to see reported in this quality account. In addition we have held

a number of engagement meetings including dedicated ‘drop in’
sessions, attended events and communications from our partners to
agree our key quality priorities

Sharing the draft Quality Account

In line with a Department of Health Guidance, we also produced a
draft Quality Account and shared this with key partners as follows:

Local commissioners, Local Health watch organisations, Local Authority

Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

We invite each partner to provide a statement for inclusion in the
Trusts Quality Account. These statements are shown in the section
below.

Comments from key partners

North Staffordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and
Stoke-on-Trent CCG.

North Staffordshire CCG and Stoke-on-Trent CCG are making
this joint statement as the nominated commissioners for North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust.

The contract and service specifications with the Trust detail the level
and standards of care expected and how these will be measured,
monitored, reviewed and performance managed. As part of the
contract monitoring process, North Staffordshire CCG and Stoke-on-
Trent CCG meet with the Trust on a bimonthly basis to monitor and
seek assurance on the quality of services provided. In addition the
CCGs work closely with the Trust and undertake continuous dialogue
as issues arise to seek assurance, obtained through quality visits and
attendance at Trust internal meetings.

The Quality Account covers many of the areas that are discussed at
these meetings, which seek to ensure that patients receive safe, high
quality care.

Review of 2017/18

e |t is pleasing to note the Trust’s commitment to improving quality
as demonstrated by the following achievements:

e The CCGs recognise the considerable amount of work undertaken
by NSCHT staff to achieve a “Good"” or “Outstanding” rating in
every Service and a ‘Good’ rating following the CQC inspection
during October and November 2017 and acknowledge the
significant achievement of been chosen as a mental health
exemplar by CQC.

e |t is pleasing to note during 2017/18, the Trust strengthened
its approach to quality by participating in the Advancing
Quality Alliance programme (AQuA) and linking this through
their leadership development and the innovative approach to
developing their falls reduction programme.

e Throughout 2017/18 the CCGs in partnership with the Trust's
Governance Team, Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Healthwatchs’
have undertaken 14 announced quality visits which have provided
‘real time’ assurance on the quality of services provided by the
Trust to the local community. The CCG would like to thank staff
for their continued support and open approach to these visits. The
2018/19 quality visits programme has been agreed with the Trust.
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e \We are pleased to see the Trust’s continued focus on Service User
and Carer Experience and Engagement and notable improvements
to the Family and Friends Test (FFT) response with NSCHT achieving
the 5th highest rate of returns nationally in November 2017.

* The Trust has continued to participate in the delivery of the five
national CQUIN schemes throughout the year and have provided
reports detailing the successes and the substantial improvements
made for service users as a result of these schemes.

® During 2017-18 the Trust attended the CCG’s Joint Quality
Committee in common and presented the improvements made to
the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services [CAMHS]. The
CCG are pleased to see significant improvements in waiting times
to access Services

e |t is pleasing to note that the Trust is the best performing trust in
England for IAPT recovery rates.

However, 2017/18 has not been without its challenges and these will
remain key areas of focus in 2018/19:

e Although improvements have been made to the Trust workforce, in
light of the current national shortage of registered nurses and the
increasing dependency and acuity of service users the challenge for
the Trust will be to maintain safe staffing levels.

e The CCG actively support the collaboration between the Trust and
other stakeholders to reduce death by suicide as part of the Zero
Suicide ambition and as part of the Suicide Awareness Strategy for
Pan Staffordshire.

Priorities for 2018/19

The Commissioners have worked closely with the Trust to agree

quality improvements and priorities for 2018/19 which will drive real
improvements in quality and safety as the Trust continue to implement
their quality strategy to deliver Safe, Personalised, Accessible and
Recovery focused services based on integrated locality working across
North Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent. We look forward to continuing
to work with the Trust as part of Together We're Better Sustainability
and Transformation Partnership

To the best of the commissioner’s knowledge, the information
contained within this report is accurate.

qjﬂhe \

Heather Johnstone
Director of Nursing & Quality

Health Watch Staffordshire

Healthwatch Staffordshire was pleased to have been invited to
comment on the Quality Accounts of the Trust.

It is reassuring to review an account of such an improved Trust and we
recognise the commitment of the Trust and its staff in achieving the
outcomes from the latest CQC inspection.

We are pleased to see that the Trust is taking steps to engage with
service users and their local community including schools, members
of the LGBT community and BAME communities. However, we would
note that the detailed engagement has been located in Stoke-on-
Trent and would welcome this being extended to the rest of North
Staffordshire, particularly the more rural areas in the Staffordshire
Moorlands.

We would comment that some of the presentation of performance
in charts and diagrams are not always clear to the lay reader of the
account. Likewise, it where the results of the Annual Mental Health
Community Survey were discussed it may be helpful to understand
the scores of the Trust against the national average rather than being
described as being ‘about the same’ as other Trusts. This enables the
reader to make their own judgement of where the Trust is in relation
to the national picture.

We recognise the low number of complaints received by the Trust
and applaud the approach of encouraging early resolution to prevent
escalation of complaints. However, it would be helpful to understand
how early intervention can provide lessons learned as well as formal
complaints and how they are recorded and learning embedded. It
would also be helpful to have information on how long it takes the
Trust to respond to complaints with a full response as opposed to the
time taken to simply acknowledge a complaint.

On the evidence presented in the account and stated priorities for the
next 12 months we believe that the Trust shows a commitment to
continuous improvement and look forward to being asked to review
the Quality Account in 2018/19.
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Health Watch Stoke-On-Trent

We would like to congratulate the Trust in achieving good and
outstanding for your services during your recent CQC inspection.

We want to say that we have enjoyed working with the Trust over
the last 12 months in particular with our ‘While We Were Waiting’
project around CAMHS services and Access to services. We agree with
the Trust’s priorities for the coming 12 months. We understand that
transition between services is within those priorities but ask that this
is made clearer within these priorities as we feel that this area does
need improving. We are also pleased that improving community
services is one of the priorities and we look forward to working with
you over the coming 12 months in this work and on your journey
towards outstanding in all services through our Mental Health Group
at Healthwatch Stoke- on Trent.

Stoke-on-Trent City Council Adults and Neighbourhoods
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

The committee welcomed the opportunity to comment on the North
Staffordshire Combined Healthcare Trust's draft Quality Account
2017/18 and would like to thank Laurie Wrench and Dr Buki Adeyemo
for their attendance at the committee meeting on 11 May 2018,
where they gave a detailed presentation and answered committee
members’ questions.

General Comments

The Quality Account is a very well presented, comprehensive
document. It contains all the required elements and explains clearly
how the Trust has performed against the 2017/18 priorities and the
priorities for 2018/19.

Statement on Quality

The committee were pleased to note the Trust’s improved rating
following the recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspections
during October 2017; especially within the CAMHS team, with every
domain now rated as ‘good’. The committee congratulated the Trust
on its achievements and the Trust’s employees for their hard work and
commitment to improving the quality of the Trust's services.

Priorities for improvement 2018/19

The priorities for 2018/19 are supported by the committee and
clearly demonstrate the Trust’s continued commitment to quality
improvement. The committee acknowledges the consultation
undertaken by the Trust with key stakeholders to develop these
priorities.

The committee felt that the ‘Zero Suicide’ ambition was admirable
and the proposed work with partners to achieve this was welcomed.
However, committee members questioned how such an ambitious
objective would be achieved.

The committee were pleased to note the Trust's continued focus

on waiting times for both referral to assessment and referral to
treatment times for adult mental health services and CAMHS.
However, they had previously been made aware of the concerns held
by some partners about the quality of some assessments and also
about the process for transition from children and young people’s
services to adult services, and sought assurances in this respect.

The committee were interested in the proposals for a ‘Wellbeing
Academy’ and the work being undertaken with partners in this area
and stated that this might be something that the committee might
want it explore further at the appropriate time.

This section of the report contains a thorough account of the Trust’s
participation in the national and local clinical audit programme and of
the research projects undertaken by the Trust.

Review of Priorities 2017/18

The committee were pleased to note the 100% achievement of four
of five CQUIN schemes for 2017/18 and were made aware that the
partially achieved scheme is to be queried. The committee noted
that the headings for the table were on a different page than the
table and requested that this be amended to make the table easier to
understand for the reader.

The committee noted a discrepancy in the Delayed Transfers of
Care (DToC) figures reported for 2016/17 and were advised that
these would be checked prior to the publication of the final Quality
Account.
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3.4 Statement of changes

The statements above include a small number of additional suggestions
for changes to the format / content of the Quality Account. The section
below describes whether the suggestions have been responded to in
the final draft:
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3.5 Auditor Statement of Assurance

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT TO THE DIRECTORS OF NORTH
STAFFORDSHIRE COMBINED HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST ON THE ANNUAL QUALITY
ACCOUNT

\We are required to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust's Quality Account for the year ended 31 March 2018 (“the Quality
Account”) and certain performance indicators contained therein as part of our work. NHS trusts are
required by section 8 of the Health Act 2009 to publish a quality account which must include
prescribed information set out in The National Health Service (Quality Account) Regulations 2010, the
National Health Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulations 2011 and the National Health
Service (Quality Account) Amendment Regulations 2012 (“the Regulations”).

Scope and subject matter
The indicators for the year ended 31 March 2018 subject to limited assurance consist of the following
indicators:

o Crisis resolution gate kept admissions

e Patient safety incidents resulting in severe hamm or death

We refer to these two indicators collectively as “the indicators”.

Respeciive responsibilities of Directors and auditors

The Directors are required under the Health Act 2009 to prepare a Quality Account for each financial
year. The Department of Health has issued guidance on the form and content of annual Quality
Accounts (which incorporates the legal requirements in the Health Act 2009 and the Regulations).

In preparing the Quality Account, the Directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves that:

= the Quality Account presents a balanced picture of the trust’s performance over the period
covered;
the performance information reported in the Quality Account is reliable and accurate;
there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Account, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;

= the data underpinning the measures of performance reported in the Quality Account is robust
and reliable, conforms to specified data quality standards and prescribed definitions, and is
subject to appropriate scrutiny and review; and

e the Quality Account has been prepared in accordance with Department of Health guidance.

The Directors are required to confirm compliance with these requirements in a statement of directors’
responsibilities within the Quality Account.

Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether
anything has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:

= the Quality Account is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in
the Regulations;

» the Quality Account is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the
NHS Quality Accounts Auditor Guidance 2014-15 published on the NHS Choices website in
March 2015 ("the Guidance”); and

= the indicators in the Quality Account identified as having been the subject of limited
assurance in the Quality Account are not reasonably stated in all material respects in
accordance with the Regulations and the six dimensions of data quality set out in the
Guidance.

We read the Quality Account and conclude whether it is consistent with the requirements of the
Regulations and to consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any material
amissions.
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We read the other information contained in the Quality Account and consider whether it is materially
inconsistent with:

Board minutes for the period April 2017 to May 2018;

papers relating to quality reported to the Board over the period April 2017 to May 2018;
feedback from North Staffordshire and Stoke on Trent CCG dated June 2018;

feedback from Healthwatch Staffordshire dated June 2018;

feedback from Healthwatch Stoke on Trent dated June 2018;

the Trust's complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority, Social
Services and NHS Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 dated April 2018;

feedback from the Stoke Adults and Neighbourhoods Overview and Scrutiny Committee
dated May 2018;

the latest Care Quality Commission inspection report dated February 2018;

the 2017 National Staff Survey;

the 2016 Survey of people who use community mental health services

The Head of Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion over the trust's control environment, dated April
2018

« The Annual Governance Statement for the year ended 31 March 2018

+ North Staffs Voice for Mental Health comments, June 2018

a & & 85 & &

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with these documents (collectively the "documents”). Our responsibilities do
not extend to any other information.

This report, including the conclusion, is made solely to the Board of Directors of North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust.

We permit the disclosure of this report to enable the Board of Directors to demonstrate that they have
discharged their governance responsibilities by commissioning an independent assurance report in
connection with the indicatars. To the fullest extent permissible by law, we do not aceept or assume
responsibility fo anyone other than the Board of Directors as a body and North Staffordshire
Combined Healthcare NHS Trust for our work or this report save where terms are expressly agreed
and with our prior consent in writing.

Assurance work performed

We conducted this limited assurance engagement under the terms of the Guidance. Our limited
assurance procedures included:

« evaluating the design and implementation of the key processes and controls for managing
and reporting the indicators;
making enquiries of management,
limited testing, on a selective basis, of the data used to calculate the indicator back to
supporting documentation; .
comparing the content of the Quality Account to the requirements of the Regulations; and
reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is narrower in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement, The
nature, timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately
limited relative o a reasonable assurance engagement.

Limitations

Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such
information.
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The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of
different but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different
measurements and can impact comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may
also vary. Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the
meastrement criteria and the precision thereof, may change over time. It is important to read the
Quality Account in the context of the criteria set out in the Regulations.

The nature, form and content required of Quality Accounts are determined by the Department of
Health. This may resuilt in the omission of information relevant io other users, for example for the
purpose of comparing the results of different NHS organisations.

in addition, the scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-
mandated indicators which have been determined locally by North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare
NHS Trust.

Conclusion
Based on the results of our procedures, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe
that, for the year ended 31 March 2018:

= the Quality Account is not prepared in all material respects in line with the criteria set out in
the Regulations;

e the Quality Account is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified in the
Guidance; and

« the indicators in the Quality Account subject to limited assurance have not been reasonably
stated in all material respects in accordance with the Regulations and the six dimensions of
data quality set out in the Guidance.

Ay

Ernst & Young
2 St Peter's Square, Manchester
27 June 2018

The maintenance and integrity of the North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust web site is
the responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration
of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may
have occurred to the Quality Accounts since they were initially presented on the web site.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the Quality
Accounts may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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3.6 Glossary

AAIMS- Accreditation for inpatient rehabilitation units.

ASD- Autistic spectrum disorder

ADHD- Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

ASIST- Advocacy services in Staffordshire

CAMHS- Child & Adolescent mental health services

CCG- Clinical commissioning group (made up of local GPs, these
groups replaced primary care trusts (PCTs) as commissioners of NHS
services from 2013/14)

CLRN- Comprehensive local research network

CPA- Care programme approach

CPD- Continuing professional development

CPN- Community Psychiatric nurse

CQC- Care quality commission

DOH- Department of health

ECT- Electroconvulsive therapy

EngAGE- Stoke-on-Trent forum for people over 50 to give their views
Health watch- Local independent consumer champions, represents the
views of the public.

HRG4- Health resource group (standard groupings of clinically similar
treatments)

IAPT- Improving access to psychological therapies team

IM&T- information management and technology

IT- information technology

KPI- key performance indicator

Metric- method of calculating performance

Mind- Mental health charity network

MRSA- Methicillin-resistant staphylococcus Aureus

NDTI- National Development team for inclusion

NHSLA- NHS Litigation Authority

NICE- National Institute for health and clinical excellence
NIHR-National institute for health research

NPSA- National patient safety agency

NSCHT- North Staffordshire Combined Health Care NHS Trust
PALS- Patient advice and liaison service

PBR- Payments by results

PIP- Productivity improvement pathway programme.

POMH- Prescribing Observatory for mental health

QIPPP- Quality, innovation, productivity, partnership and prevention.
RAID- Rapid assessment interface and discharge

R&D- Research and development

REACH- Local advocacy project supporting people with learning
disabilities

RETHINK- Mental health membership charity

SPA- Single point of access ( to mental health services)
SUS-Secondary user’s service

TDA- Trust development Authority

UHNM- University Hospital of North Midlands NHS Trust
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The Trust is committed to providing communication and foreign
language support for service users and carers who may need it
for any reason. This Annual Report and Accounts can be made
available in different languages and formats, including Easy
Read. If you would like to receive this document in a different
format, please contact the Communications Team on 0300

123 1535 ext 2676 (Freephone 0800 0328 728) or write to the
FREEPOST address below:-

Freepost RTCT-YEHA-UTUU

Communications and Membership Team

North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust
Lawton House

Bellringer Road

Stoke-on-Trent

ST4 8HH
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